

NNT/NL:0000AIXM0000/000ED000

THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

Soutenue à Aix-Marseille Université le 30 juin 2022 par

Cheick Oumar Guindo

Sources et dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme

Discipline

Biologie-Santé

Spécialité

Microbiologie

École doctorale ED 62- Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé

- Laboratoire/Partenaires de recherche
- Institut Hospitalo-Universitaire (IHU) Méditerranée Infection
- Unité de Recherche Microbes, Evolution,
- Phylogénie et Infection (MEPHI)
- Institut de Recherche pour le
- Développement (IRD)
- Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Marseille (AP-HM)

- Composition du jury
- Leila KESKES
- Université de Sfax, Tunisie
- Laurence ZITVOGEL
- Sorbonne Université
- Jean-Christophe LAGIER
- Aix-Marseille-Université
- Michel DRANCOURT
- Aix-Marseille-Université

- Rapporteuse
- Rapporteuse
- Président du jury
- Directeur de Thèse

Affidavit

Je soussigné, Cheick Oumar GUINDO, déclare par la présente que le travail présenté dans ce manuscrit est mon propre travail, réalisé sous la direction scientifique du Professeur Michel DRANCOURT, dans le respect des principes d'honnêteté, d'intégrité et de responsabilité inhérents à la mission de recherche. Les travaux de recherche et la rédaction de ce manuscrit ont été réalisés dans le respect à la fois de la charte nationale de déontologie des métiers de la recherche et de la charte d'Aix-Marseille Université relative à la lutte contre le plagiat.

Ce travail n'a pas été précédemment soumis en France ou à l'étranger dans une version identique ou similaire à un organisme examinateur.

Fait à Marseille, le 26 avril 2022.

Affidavit

I, undersigned, Cheick Oumar GUINDO, hereby declare that the work presented in this manuscript is my own work, carried out under the scientific direction of Professor Michel DRANCOURT, in accordance with the principles of honesty, integrity and responsibility inherent to the research mission. The research work and the writing of this manuscript have been carried out in compliance with both the French national charter for Research Integrity and the Aix-Marseille University charter on the fight against plagiarism. This work has not been submitted previously either in this country or in another country in the same or in a similar version to any other examination body. Place Marseille, April 26, 2022.

Liste de publications et participation aux conférences

- 1) Liste des publications réalisées dans le cadre du projet de Thèse :
 - C.O. Guindo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles of human microbiota-associated methanogens. Microbial Pathogenesis. 2020;8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104425</u>.
 - C.O. Guindo, E. Terrer, E. Chabrière, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen. Anaerobe. 2020;6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102128</u>.
 - Y. Sereme*, C.O. Guindo*, A. Filleron, P. Corbeau, T.A. Tran, M. Drancourt, J. Vitte, G. Grine. Meconial *Methanobrevibacter smithii* suggests intrauterine methanogen colonization in preterm neonates. Current Research in Microbial Sciences. 2021;100034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100034</u>.
 - C.O. Guindo, B. Davoust, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut. Microorganisms. 2021;10. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010013.
 - 5. **C.O. Guindo**, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Dairy products as sources of methanogens for humans, Microbiology, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.16.468822</u>.
 - C.O. Guindo, M. Morsli, S. Bellali, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. A *Tetragenococcus halophilus* human gut isolate. Current Research in Microbial Sciences. 2022; 100112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2022.100112</u>.
 - Y. Sereme, M. Michel, S. Mezouar, C.O. Guindo, L. Kaba, G. Grine, T. Mura, J.-L. Mège, T.A. Tran, P. Corbeau, A. Filleron, J. Vitte. A Non-Invasive Neonatal Signature Predicts Later Development of Atopic Diseases. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2022;2749. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11102749</u>.
 - 8. **C.O. Guindo**, L. Amir, C. Couderc, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Rapid identification of clinically interesting methanogens using an improved MALDI-TOF-MS assay. (In press, Access Microbiology).
 - C.O. Guindo, M. Morsli, S. Bellali, V. Pilliol, S. Belkacemi, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. Symbiotic Microbial Motility: the case for *Methanomassiliia massiliensis* gen. nov. sp. nov., and *Massiliisphaerochaeta oralis* gen. nov. sp. nov. (En préparation).
- 2) Participation aux conférences et écoles d'été au cours de la période de Thèse :
 - 1. Tous les vendredis, depuis septembre 2019 : Participation aux séminaires IHU Méditerranée Infection à Marseille.
 - 2. Tous les derniers mardis du mois, depuis octobre 2020 : Participation aux séances de WIP (Work In Progress) thématique IHU Méditerranée Infection à Marseille.

- 3. 24 février 2022 : Présentation de mes travaux de recherche au séminaire virtuel de MICAFRICA, Projet Européen associant quatre établissements de recherche en Tunisie, en Italie et en France, coordonné par la Professeure Leila KESKES, Université de Sfax, Tunisie.
- 4. 18-19 octobre 2021 : Participation en ligne (présentation du poster) au colloque du GDR Archaea.
- 5. 1^{er} juillet 2021 : Participation à la journée Infectiopôle IHU Méditerranée Infection à Marseille.
- 6. Tous les derniers mardis du mois, de septembre 2019 septembre 2020 : Participation aux séances de Bibliographie IHU Méditerranée Infection à Marseille.
- 7. 1^{er} juillet 2020 : Participation à la journée Infectiopôle IHU Méditerranée Infection à Marseille.

Prix et distinctions

- 1. Février 2022 : Prix de la meilleure recherche « meilleur article publié » décerné par le comité scientifique lors des prix internationaux de recherche sur les nouvelles inventions scientifiques.
- 2. Juillet 2021 : Médaille de bronze pour mes travaux de recherche lors de la Journée Scientifique Infectiopôle Sud 2021.
- 3. Janvier 2021 : Médaille de reconnaissance pour ma participation aux efforts de lutte contre la Covid -19.

Vie associative

- 1. Juin 2022 : Observateur du jury 2 (Microbiologie Génomique) du concours de l'Ecole Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie et de la Sante ED62.
- 2. Février 2021 Juin 2022 : Secrétaire général de l'association DynAMU RÉSEAU DOCTORAL D'AIX-MARSEILLE UNIVERSITÉ.
- 3. Décembre 2019 Juin 2022 : Représentant des doctorants au conseil de l'Ecole Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie et de la Sante ED62.
- Septembre 2019 Juin 2022 : Représentant des étudiants/ doctorants au Conseil de laboratoire de l'UMR MEPHI au sein de l'IHU Méditerranée Infection (Institut Hospitalo-Universitaire) / AP-HM (Assistance des Hôpitaux Publics de Marseille).
- Septembre 2019 Juin 2022 : Responsable des étudiants/ doctorants de l'IHU Méditerranée Infection (Institut Hospitalo-Universitaire) / AP-HM (Assistance des Hôpitaux Publics de Marseille).

Avant-propos

Le format de présentation de cette Thèse correspond à une recommandation de la spécialité Maladies Infectieuses et Microbiologie, à l'intérieur du Master des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé, qui dépend de l'Ecole Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie de Marseille. Le candidat est amené à respecter des règles qui lui sont imposées et qui comportent un format de Thèse utilisé dans le Nord de l'Europe et qui permet un meilleur rangement que les Thèses traditionnelles. Par ailleurs, la partie introduction et bibliographie est remplacée par une revue envoyée dans un journal afin de permettre une évaluation extérieure de la qualité de la revue et de permettre à l'étudiant de commencer le plus tôt possible une bibliographie exhaustive sur le domaine de cette Thèse.

En outre, la Thèse est présentée sur article publié, accepté ou soumis associé d'un bref commentaire donnant le sens général du travail. Cette forme de présentation a paru plus en adéquation avec les exigences de la compétition internationale et permet de se concentrer sur des travaux qui bénéficieront d'une diffusion internationale **Professeur Didier BAOULT**.

Résumé

Les archaea méthanogènes (appelées méthanogènes dans ce document) sont les plus prévalentes parmi les archaea des microbiotes oral et digestif humains. Dans le microbiote digestif humain, les archaea méthanogènes ressortissent des genres *Methanobrevibacter* et *Methanomassiliicoccus*. Ces microorganismes consomment l'hydrogène issu des fermentations bactériennes anaérobies pour la production du méthane comme produit métabolique, d'où leur nom.

Les archaea méthanogènes sont présentes dans le microbiote humain dès la naissance avec une diversification au fil des années. Cependant, le répertoire complet, les sources et les dynamiques des méthanogènes restent méconnus chez l'Homme. Dans le cadre de cette Thèse, nous nous sommes intéressés à l'étude des sources et de la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme. Dans une première partie, nous avons revu la littérature décrivant l'ensemble des rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain. Notre revue a mis en évidence l'énorme déficit de connaissances et des informations partiellement contradictoires concernant les méthanogènes humains, ainsi que la nécessité d'étudier la dynamique des populations de méthanogènes et leur rôle exact au sein du microbiote humain. Dans la seconde partie de nos travaux de Thèse, nous avons optimisé et développé de nouveaux protocoles pour l'identification et la culture en routine des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique dans le laboratoire de microbiologie clinique. Nos travaux expérimentaux ont eu pour résultat de réduire le temps d'isolement par culture et de sous-culture de *Methanobrevibacter smithii* et de *Methanobrevibacter oralis*, d'isoler par culture une nouvelle espèce de méthanogène que nous avons nommée Methanomassiliia massiliensis à partir du fluide buccal et enfin, d'identifier les méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique par spectrométrie de masse MALDI-TOF-MS. Concernant la dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme, nous avons montré par une approche polyphasique incluant la PCR-séquencage et les microscopies, que la période intra-utérine constitue le premier moment d'acquisition de Methanobrevibacter smithii avec la détection sans précédent de ce méthanogène dans le méconium de nouveau-nés prématurés. Également, nous avons ouvert la possibilité de transmission zoonotique des méthanogènes en montrant que les contacts étroits avec des animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait et des produits laitiers de certains animaux sont associés à la diversification des méthanogènes chez l'Homme.

Les résultats de notre Thèse constituent des avancées majeures dans la compréhension des sources et de la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes du microbiote humain et invitent à développer un milieu biphasique standard pour l'isolement et la culture rapide des méthanogènes directement à partir des échantillons cliniques, permettant de poursuivre des investigations pour isoler par culture les méthanogènes détectés dans le méconium et dans les produits laitiers.

Mots-clés : Archaea, méthanogènes, Sources des méthanogènes, dynamique des méthanogènes, *Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanomassiliia massiliensis,* microbiote humain, liquide buccal, méconium, produits laitiers, animaux domestiques, *Tetragenococcus halophilus.*

Abstract

Methanogenic archaea (referred to as methanogens in this document) are the most prevalent archaea in human oral and digestive microbiota. In the human digestive microbiota, the methanogenic archaea belong to the genera Methanobrevibacter and Methanomassiliicoccus. These microorganisms consume hydrogen from anaerobic bacterial fermentations to produce methane as a metabolic product, hence their name. Methanogenic archaea are present in the human microbiota from birth with diversification over the years. However, the complete repertoire, sources and dynamics of methanogens remain unknown in humans. In the framework of this thesis, we are interested in the study of the sources and the dynamics of methanogen acquisition in humans. In the first part, we reviewed the literature describing the physiological roles of methanogens associated with the human microbiota. Our review highlighted the huge knowledge gap and partially conflicting information regarding human methanogens, as well as the need to study the population dynamics of methanogens and their exact role within the human microbiota. In the second part of our thesis work, we optimized and developed new protocols for the routine identification and culture of methanogens of clinical interest in the clinical microbiology laboratory. Our experimental work resulted in reducing the time of isolation by culture and subculture of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* and Methanobrevibacter oralis, isolation by culture a new species of methanogen that we have named Methanomassilia massiliensis from oral fluid and finally, to identify methanogens of clinical interest by MALDI-TOF-MS mass spectrometry. Concerning the dynamics of methanogens in humans, we have shown by a polyphasic approach including PCR-sequencing and microscopies, that the intrauterine period constitutes the first moment of acquisition of Methanobrevibacter smithii with the unprecedented detection of this methanogen in the meconium of preterm newborns. Also, we opened the possibility of zoonotic transmission of methanogens by showing that close contact with domestic animals as well as the consumption of milk and dairy products from certain animals are associated with the diversification of methanogens in humans.

The results of our thesis constitute major advances in the understanding of the sources and the dynamics of methanogen acquisition in the human microbiota and invite the development of a standard biphasic medium for the isolation and rapid culture of methanogens directly from clinical samples, allowing further investigations to isolate by culture the methanogens detected in meconium and in dairy products.

Keywords: Archaea, methanogens, methanogen sources, methanogen dynamics, *Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanomassiliia massiliensis,* human microbiota, oral fluid, meconium, dairy products, domestic animals, *Tetragenococcus halophilus*.

Remerciements

Ce travail est le fruit d'une continuité de persévérance mais surtout de la volonté durant ces trois années. Je souhaite ici rendre hommage et exprimer ma reconnaissance à tous ceux qui, de près ou de loin, ont contribué à la réalisation et à l'aboutissement de ce travail de thèse.

Mes sincères remerciements

Au Professeur feu Ogobara K DOUMBO, d'avoir cru en moi, de m'avoir enseigné et encadré ma thèse d'exercice de Médecine. C'est avec lui que tout à commencer car c'est lui qui m'a inculqué à la recherche. Merci infiniment de m'avoir offert l'opportunité de venir poursuivre mes études en France.

Au Professeur Didier RAOULT, pour m'avoir accueilli au sein de son laboratoire de recherche, d'avoir accepté de financer mes travaux de Thèse via la fondation Méditerranée Infection, ainsi que pour ses remarques lors des WIP (Work In Progress) qui ont fortement contribuer à l'avancement de mes travaux de thèse.

Au Professeur Michel DRANCOURT, pour m'avoir accepté au sein son équipe, pour sa disponibilité, pour sa rigueur scientifique, ainsi que la qualité de son encadrement sans faille tout au long de cette Thèse.

Au Dr Gérard ABOUDHARAM, pour ses conseils et remarques qui m'ont été un apport pour la réalisation de ce travail

A mon mentor Ghiles GRINE, PhD, pour son amabilité, ses conseils, ses encouragements, son soutien et son sens du travail bien fait qui m'ont été indispensables pour la réalisation de ce travail.

Aux Docteurs Bernard DAVOUST et Joana VITTE pour leur collaboration et leur soutien précieux.

Aux Professeurs Jean-Christophe LAGIER, Leila KESKES et Laurence ZITVOGEL, merci d'avoir accepté de participer à ce jury de Thèse.

A la DRANCOURT Team, en particulier Madjid MORSLI, Abdou PADANE, Yasmine HASSANI, Oscar BI GORE, Mahmoud BOUALAM, LALAOUI Rym, Rémi BARBIERI, Hamadou OUMAROU HAMA, Wafaa ACHACHE, Mohamed Lamine KEITA, Virginie PILLIOL et Ihab MALLAT pour leur amitié et leur esprit d'équipe.

A toutes les personnes que j'ai eu le plaisir de rencontrer durant ces quelques années, particulièrement Fatima MEKHALIF, Lanceï KABA, Sara BELLALI, Souad BELKACEMI, Camille VALLES, Maryam TIDJANI ALOU et Abdourahamane YACOUBA pour leurs qualités humaines.

A tout le personnel de l'IHU, en particulier Carine COUDERC, Amael FADLANE, Saber KHELAIFIA, Nicholas ARMSTRONG et Hervé BOGREAU pour leur convivialité et leurs conseils.

A tous mes collègues maliens de Marseille : Ami DIAKITE, Aminata CAMARA, Salimata KONATE, Adama Zan DIARRA, Sory Ibrahima TRAORE, Issa DIARRA, Youssouf SEREME,

Sibiri SISSOKO, Abdoulaye KATILE et Pascal DEMBELE pour leur bonne humeur et les bons moments passés ensemble.

A toute ma famille, pour leur bénédiction, leur encouragement et leur confiance.

A ma chère épouse Oumou DIARRA, pour son encouragement et son soutien indéfectible.

Table des matières

Affidavit	3
Liste de publications et participation aux conférences	7
Prix et distinctions	9
Vie associative	10
Avant-propos	11
Résumé	12
Abstract	13
Remerciements	15
Table des matières	19
Introduction	21
Chapitre I : Revue : Méthanodrome du tube digestif : Rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain	23
ARTICLE 1	25
REVIEW: DIGESTIVE TRACT METHANODROME: PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF HUMAN MICROBIOTA-ASSOCIAT METHANOGENS	ED 27
Chapitre II : Optimisation des méthodes d'identification et de culture des méthanogène	es 35
ARTICLE 2	37
CULTURE OF SALIVARY METHANOGENS ASSISTED BY CHEMICALLY PRODUCED HYDROGEN	39
ARTICLE 3	45
ASSAY	47
Chapitre III : Sources et la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme	75
ARTICLE 4	77
MECONIAL METHANOBREVIBACTER SMITHII SUGGESTS INTRAUTERINE METHANOGEN COLONIZATION IN PRETERM NEONATES	
ARTICLE 5	85
DIVERSITY OF METHANOGENS IN ANIMALS' GUT	87
ARTICLE 0 DAIRY PRODUCTS AS SOURCES OF METHANOGENS FOR HUMANS	97 99
Conclusions et perspectives	113
ANNEXES	115
Annexe 1 : Un isolat intestinal humain de Tetragenococcus halophilus	117

Bibliographie	151
A NON-INVASIVE NEONATAL SIGNATURE PREDICTS LATER DEVELOPMENT OF ATOPIC DISEASES	133
ARTICLE 8	131
ulterieur des maladies atopiques	129
Annexe 2 : Une signature néonatale non invasive permet de prédire le développement	:
A TETRAGENOCOCCUS HALOPHILUS HUMAN GUT ISOLATE	119
ARTICLE 7	119

Introduction

Les Archaea (nom féminin) sont des êtres vivants au même titre que les bactéries, les eucaryotes, et les virus [1]. Elles ont été datées d'environ trois milliards d'années dans les environnements extrêmes et ont été isolées pour la première fois chez l'Homme il y a plus de cinq décennies, comme constituants du microbiote digestif humain [2]. Les archaea présentes dans le microbiote humain sont divisées en trois phylum Euryarchaeota, Crenarchaeota et Traumarchaeota, les archaea du phylum Euryarchaeota sont les plus fréquemment isolées par culture ou par d'autres approches expérimentales, chez l'Homme [1,2] et comportent des archaea méthanogènes (qui seront simplement appelées méthanogènes dans ce mémoire de Thèse, et que nous qualifierons dans notre mémoire de Thèse comme nom masculin) et des archaea halophiles [1]. Les méthanogènes diffèrent des autres groupes d'Archaea par leur incapacité à assimiler l'oxygène qui est toxique pour eux et par la présence obligatoire d'hydrogène pour leur croissance [3,4]. Ils font partie du microbiote humain notamment du microbiote intestinal où ils représentent 10% des microorganismes anaérobies, du microbiote stomacal et du microbiote oral [1,2]. Ils ont aussi été retrouvés dans le sang [5], dans le colostrum et le lait maternel [6], dans le vagin en cas de vaginose [7] ainsi que dans les voies urinaires en cas d'infection urinaire [8]. Dans le microbiote intestinal, les méthanogènes contribuent à la production du méthane comme sous-produit métabolique, d'où leur nom [1,9–11]. Ils sont divisés en trois groupes en fonction des substrats utilisés pour la production du méthane: les hydrogénotrophes utilisent le CO₂ ou le formate (Methanobacteriales, Methanococcales, Methanocellales); les méthylotrophes utilisent les composés méthylés (Methanomassiliicoccales); et les acétotrophes utilisent l'acétate (Methanosarcinales) [1,2]. Les méthanogènes sont des archaea d'intérêt clinique. Ils ont été associés à trois types de pathologies humaines: les abcès tels que abcès cérébral, abcès musculaire, sinusite réfractaire, gingivite, parodontite et péri implantite, phlegmon amygdalien, abcès péri-appendiculaires et infection de prothèse orthopédique; les dysbioses dont la vaginose et l'infection urinaire au cours desquelles les méthanogènes sont détectés ; et les malnutritions aiguës sévères de l'enfant au cours desquelles les méthanogènes ne sont pas détectés; et leur présence dans le sang appelée Archaeamie éventuellement associée à l'endocardite infectieuse [8,12-24].

Depuis la première description de l'isolement par culture d'un méthanogène chez l'Homme, huit espèces seulement ont été isolées par culture chez l'Homme (*Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanosphaera stadtmanae, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis, Methanobrevibacter arboriphilus, Methanobrevibacter millerae, Candidatus* Methanomethylophilus alvus, *Candidatus* Methanomassiliicoccus intestinalis) [21,25–28]. *M. smithii* est détecté chez l'Homme dès les premiers instants de la vie et ensuite on observe une diversification des espèces de méthanogènes au fil des années. Cependant, il n'y a peu de connaissances sur les sources et la dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme d'où notre travail de Thèse qui porte sur l'étude des sources et la dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme plus précisément sur la compréhension des modes d'acquisition des méthanogènes depuis le début de la vie jusqu'à l'âge adulte. Pour mieux aborder cette Thèse, dès l'entame de nos travaux, nous avons fait une revue bibliographique sur les rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain. Dans cette revue, nous avons fait le point sur l'ensemble des connaissances actuelles sur les méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain en abordant notamment les différentes méthodes d'étude des méthanogènes en microbiologie clinique, leur implication dans le métabolisme symbiotique avec d'autres microorganismes, leur incapacité de dégrader les hydrates de carbone, dans la libération de méthane et consommation de H_2 , ainsi que dans la transformation des métaux lourds. Cette revue a aussi fait le point des connaissances sur l'utilisation éventuelle des méthanogènes comme probiotiques ainsi que leur rôle probable en pathologie humaine.

Dans un second temps, nous avons travaillé sur l'optimisation des méthodes d'identification et de culture des méthanogènes, avec pour but de mettre en place des méthodes beaucoup plus performantes pour l'identification et la culture rapide de ces microorganismes d'intérêt clinique, et ensuite d'isoler de nouvelles espèces de méthanogènes chez l'Homme. Nous avons donc mis en place une méthode chimique de production d'hydrogène permettant l'isolement et la culture rapides sur milieu solide de *M. smithii* et de *M. oralis* et, en parallèle nous avons optimisé le milieu SAB standard de culture des méthanogènes en ajoutant du rumen filtré ainsi que du méthanol pour isoler des méthanogènes méthylotrophes. Nous avons par la suite mis en place un protocole MALDI-TOF-MS permettant l'identification rapide des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique.

Dans la dernière partie de notre Thèse, nous nous sommes intéressés sur les différents modes d'acquisition ainsi que la dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme en explorant notamment le premier moment de leur acquisition chez le nouveau-né au cours de la période intra-utérine ainsi que les sources de leur diversification au cours de la croissance de l'enfant, en particulier la consommation des produits laitiers ainsi que la promiscuité avec les animaux domestiques. Nous avons démontré pour la toute première fois la présence de *M. smithii* dans le méconium collecté à partir de nouveau-nés prématurés et nous avons démontré au cours de ce travail, la transmission materno-fœtale durant la période intra-utérine. Nous avons par la suite démontré la part de la consommation des produits laitiers ainsi que le contact étroit avec les animaux domestiques dans la colonisation du tube digestif humain par des méthanogènes.

Chapitre I : Revue : Méthanodrome du tube digestif : Rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain

Préambule

Dans cette première partie de notre Thèse, nous nous sommes intéressés à l'ensemble des rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain. Nous avons notamment abordé les raisons pour lesquelles les méthanogènes restent toujours difficiles à étudier, notamment un examen microscopique qui n'est pas spécifique ; une culture nécessitant une atmosphère inhabituelle en microbiologie clinique, composée d'hydrogène et de dioxyde de carbone ainsi que des conditions anaérobies strictes ; une détection moléculaire nécessitant des amorces et des sondes spécifiques [29]. Nous avons démontré les relations syntrophiques entre les méthanogènes et certaines bactéries du microbiote digestif notamment via le transfert d'H₂ entre les genres Christensenella (bactérie) et Methanobrevibacter [30] ainsi que l'incapacité des méthanogènes à recycler les structures glucidiques qu'ils assemblent [31]. Cette revue a permis de démontrer qu'à travers leur production de méthane, les méthanogènes ont un impact positif sur le transit intestinal humain [32]. Nous avons aussi abordé le rôle possible des méthanogènes dans les maladies inflammatoires du tube digestif ainsi que dans certains abcès chez l'Homme [21-23,33-52], mais aussi la possibilité d'utiliser les Methanomassiliicoccales comme probiotiques pour prévenir les maladies cardiovasculaires liées à l'accumulation de triméthylamines dans le corps [53].

La rédaction de cette mini-revue nous a permis de comprendre les trous de connaissance relatifs aux rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain. Il est donc nécessaire de développer de nouvelles méthodes pour l'identification et la culture des méthanogènes à partir d'échantillons cliniques afin d'isoler de nouvelles espèces et d'étudier la dynamique des populations de méthanogènes en précisant leur rôle exact au sein de la flore complexe associée au microbiote humain.

Article 1

Review: Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles of

human microbiota-associated methanogens.

C.O. Guindo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Publié dans Microbial Pathogenesis.

Microbial Pathogenesis 149 (2020) 104425

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Microbial Pathogenesis

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/micpath

Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles of human microbiota-associated methanogens





C.O. Guindo^{a,b}, M. Drancourt^a, G. Grine^{b,c,*}

^a IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^b Aix-Marseille Univ., IRD, MEPHI, IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^c Aix-Marseille Université, UFR Odontologie, Marseille, France

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Keywords: Methanogens are the archaea most commonly found in humans, in particular in the digestive tract and are an Digestive tract integral part of the digestive microbiota. They are present in humans from the earliest moments of life and Human microbiota represent the only known source of methane production to date. They are notably detected in humans by mi-Methanogens croscopy, fluorescent in situ hybridization, molecular biology including PCR-sequencing, metagenomics, matrixassisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry and culture. Methanogens present in the human digestive tract play major roles, in particular the use of hydrogen from the fermentation products of bacteria, thus promoting digestion. They are also involved in the transformation of heavy metals and in the use of trimethylamine produced by intestinal bacteria, thus preventing major health problems, in particular cardiovascular diseases. Several pieces of evidence suggest their close physical contacts with bacteria support symbiotic metabolism. Their imbalance during dysbiosis is associated with many pathologies in humans, particularly digestive tract diseases such as Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, diverticulosis, inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, colonic polyposis, and colorectal cancer. There is a huge deficit of knowledge and partially contradictory information concerning human methanogens, so much remains to be done to fully understand their physiological role in humans. It is necessary to develop new methods for the identification and

culture of methanogens from clinical samples. This will permit to isolate new methanogens species as well as their phenotypic characterization, to explore their genome by sequencing and to study the population dynamics of methanogens by specifying in particular their exact role within the complex flora associated with the mucous microbiota of human.

1. Introduction

Methanogenic archaea (referred to herein as methanogens) and halophilic archaea are the two sole groups of archaea that have been isolated and cultured from the human digestive tract whereas several other groups comprising of *Crenarchaeota* and *Traumarchaeota* have been sequence-detected, leaving unknown about their viability and the potential roles they may have in the physiology of the gut [1–3]. Methanogens are part of the human microbiota but are more prevalent in the digestive tract (Fig. 1). In a recent study, methanogens have been also found in colostrum and breast milk, notably *Methanobrevibacter smithii* and *Methanobrevibacter* oralis [4]. These two methanogens were found in colostrum and milk of healthy lactating mothers by culture, quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) and amplicon sequencing for the first time ever in our laboratory [4].

The important findings have been published shaked our picture of the ecology and importance of the archaea including the discovery of Thaumarchaeal ammonia oxidation, anaerobic methane oxidation [5–7], the discovery of methanogens seventh order [1,8–11] and the discovery of the methanogenic properties in *Bathyarchaeota*, a noneuryarchaeal lineage [12].

In nature, most microorganisms grow in mixed consortia. The first evidence of this consortia is methanogens which actively interact with other microorganisms was obtained from defined pure cultures, where syntrophy, mostly based on hydrogen transfer, which is the driving factor for potential benefit for both partners [5,6,13]. This syntrophy is found in biofilm, consortium or stable microbial-microbial [5].

Archaea are now recognized as members of human microbiota [1,6].

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104425

Received 20 May 2020; Received in revised form 21 July 2020; Accepted 27 July 2020 Available online 31 July 2020

0882-4010/© 2020 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

^{*} Corresponding author. IHU Méditerranée Infection, 19-21 Boulevard Jean Moulin, 13005, Marseille, France. E-mail address: grineghiles@gmail.com (G. Grine).

C.O. Guindo et al.

However, the archaea stay as forgotten players in the human microbiota for three main reasons: microscopic examination is non-specific; the culturing of some archaea requires an unusual atmosphere consisting of hydrogen and carbon dioxide; and PCR-based detection requires specific primers and probes [7]. Though, several clinical microbiology teams have detected archaea including methanogens and halophilic archaea within the oral and gut microbiota with potential roles in some diseases [6,13].

In this review, we will discuss physiological roles of human microbiota-associated methanogens.

2. Methods

2.1. .1Research strategy and article selection

A bibliographical search was carried out on the "Google", "Google Scholar", "PubMed" and "Web of Science" databases, using the key words: "human microbiota", "methanogenic archaea" (Fig. 2). These key words were used *in solo* and joint searches, in order to carry out a more exhaustive search as possible. We did not use a time limit in our article search, but patents and citations were excluded in our research. After reading the titles and summaries, we kept only the articles related to our subject. Then we eliminated all the duplicates.

2.2. .2Setting

Bibliographic searches identified 301.846 articles on Google, Google Scholar, PubMed and Web of Science. The first selection allowed us to exclude 301.295 articles after searching titles and abstracts. Then we eliminated 458 duplicates. So, 92 articles were selected to write this review.

3. Methods for studying human archaea in clinical microbiology

3.1. Direct microscopic examination and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH)

Direct microscopic examination of methanogens is based on autofluorescence. Methanogens carry factor 420, causing blue–green autofluorescence when they are exposed to UV light at a wavelength of 420 nm [14,15]. So, methanogens cells or colonies can be quickly identified by epifluorescence microscopy [15]. This auto-fluorescence is an interesting feature used in methanogens growth monitoring.

Methanogens can be observed microscopically using fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH) incorporating an oligonucleotide probe targeting the archaea 16 S rRNA gene or a specific methanogens probe targeting the methyl coenzyme-M reductase gene (mcrA) [16,17]. FISH is a reliable method for the visualization of methanogens in the oral mucosa [18] and the gastric mucosa [19] (Fig. 3).

3.2. Molecular approach

There are many routinely used PCR-based detection systems for archaea, one is targeting the archaeal 16 S rRNA gene (forward primer: 5'- TCCAGGCCTACGGG-3'; reverse primer: 5'- YCCGGCGTTGAMTC-CAATT-3'; probe: FAM 5'-CCGTCAGAATCGTTCCAGTCAG-3') [16], another one is targeting the *mcr*A gene encoding a methyl-coenzyme-M reductase subunit (an enzyme involved in methanogenesis) (forward primer: 5'- GCTCTAGACACCAGATMTGGCTTGG-3'; reverse primer: 5'- GCTCTAGACACCAGATMTGGCTTGG-3'; reverse primer: 5'- GCTCTAGACACCAGATMTGGCTTGG-3'; reverse primer: 5'- GCTCTACGACCAGATMTGGCTTGG-3'; reverse primer: 5'- M 5'-ARGCACCK-AACAMCAT GGACACVGT -3') [17] and haloarchaea-specific primers Halo 1F and Halo 1R [20]. Also, a real-time PCR protocol targeting the *rpoB* gene encoding for the beta subunit of the RNA polymerase, could be



Fig. 1. Repertoire of methanogens in human digestive microbiota.

C.O. Guindo et al.

Microbial Pathogenesis 149 (2020) 104425



Fig. 2. Flow chart of selection of included articles in the review. Each box indicates the number of selected articles.



Fig. 3. Methods for studying human archaea in clinical microbiology.

used for the detection of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* (forward primer: Ms_rpoBF, 5'-AAGGGATTTGCACCCAACAC-3'reverse primer: Ms_rpoBR, 5'-GACCACAGTTAGGACCCTCTGG-3'; probe: Ms_rpoBVIC, 5'-ATTTGGTAAGATTTGTCCGAATG-3') and *Methanosphaera stadmanae* forward primer: Stadt_16SF, 5'-AGGAGCGACAGCAGAATGAT-3' Reverse primer: Stadt_16SR, 5'-CAGGACGCTTCACAGTACGA-3'; probe: Stadt_16SFAM, 5'-TGAGAGGAGGTGCATGGCCG-3' [21].

3.3. Culture approach

There is different culture approach for archaea isolation from human clinical sample. For methanogens culture we use a technique which is consisting of the use of two compartments for the aerobic culture of methanogens in the presence of Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron (B. thetaiotaomicron) producing hydrogen, the aerobic culture of methanogens being made possible by using antioxidants. In brief, the sample is seeded in the Hungate tube containing SAB broth supplemented with ascorbic acid, uric acid and glutathione as anti-oxydants and inoculated with B. thetaiotaomicron to produce hydrogen. Subculture seeded on a Petri dish containing SAB medium supplemented with agar and deposited in the upper compartment and the lower compartment contains a culture of B. thetaiotaomicron [22]. Recently, we developed a new technique for methanogens isolation in clinical microbiology. This new technique uses a chemical method form hydrogen production that allow a constant hydrogen production and increase a number of methanogens colonies compared to biological method [23]. In addition, we used new culture conditions to culture halophilic archaea. The culture enrichment and isolation procedures for the culture of halophilic prokaryotes were performed in a Columbia broth medium (Sigma-Aldrich), modified by adding (per Litre): MgCl₂·6H₂O, 5 g; MgSO₄·7H₂O, 5 g; KCl, 2 g; CaCl₂·2H₂O, 1 g; NaBr, 0.5 g; NaHCO₃, 0.5 g and 2 g of glucose. The pH was adjusted to 7.5 with 10 M NaOH before autoclaving. All additives were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Four concentrations of NaCl were used (150 g L-1, 200 g L-1 and 250 g L-1) [24].

3.4. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS)

MALDI-TOF MS has recently emerged as a rapid and cost-effective technique for the identification of bacteria, eukaryotes, and giant viruses [25–33]. To date there is only one study on the identification of archaea by MALDI TOF MS [34]. The protocol consists in mechanically lysing a suspension of methanogens colonies with glass beads in an Eppendorf tube, the supernatant obtained after the mechanical lysis being re-suspended two times in water after two centrifugations. The MALDI-TOF MS-based clustering of these archaeal organisms was consistent with their 16 S rDNA sequence-based phylogeny. The obtained data proved that MALDI-TOF MS profiling could be used as a first-line technique for the identification of human archaea including halophilic and methanogens [34].

3.5. In vitro susceptibility testing

Most antibiotics used to fight bacteria are *in vitro* inactive against methanogens [35]. Indeed, intestinal Methanobrevibacter smithii (M. smithii) isolates are highly resistant to beta-lactams, aminoglycosides, glycopeptides, lincosamides and fluoroquinolones and susceptible to metronidazole, fusidic acid, rifampicin, bacitracine and squalamine [35–38]. Lovastatine is a pro-drug, which needs to be metabolized by anaerobes before being active against M. smithii [39]. The *in vitro* susceptibility of methanogens to chloramphenicol is variable: M. smithii, Methanobrevibacter oralis(M. oralis) and Methanomasillicoccus luminyensis (M. luminyensis) encodes a chloramphenicol O-acetyltransferase and exhibit minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) up to 25 mg/L, in contrast to Methanospharea stadamanae (M. stadamanae) which exhibits MIC of 4 mg/L [36].

4. Role of human-associated methanogens

4.1. Direct physical contact might support symbiotic metabolism

Methanogens in different human microbiota are in close contact with bacteria. This association between methanogens and bacteria has been used to develop a method of cultivating methanogens in co-culture with *B. thetaiotamicron* which produces hydrogen and therefore allows the production of methane by methanogens by consuming hydrogen [22].

Methanobrevibacter massilensis was co-cultivated for the first time in the oral cavity with the bacterium *Pyramidobacter piscolens* [40] and a recent article has shown Syntrophy via Interspecies H₂ Transfer between *Christensenella* and *Methanobrevibacter* genus [41].

4.2. Methanogens and carbohydrates degradation

The human diet contains numerous oligosaccharides and polysaccharides (complex carbohydrates) correlates with the evidence that the digestive microbiota contains microbial species diversity that have evolved in a very large number and variety of enzymes to assimilate (break down) these molecules to simple sugars [42-46]. In this sugar environment, methanogens stand out by their almost complete lack of enzymes for carbohydrate assimilation. Thus, the genomes of M. smithii, M. oralis, M. stadmanaea, Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus (M. arboriphilus) and Methanobrevibacter millerae (M. millerae) do not encode enzyme for the breakdown of glycosidic bonds, while M. luminyensis only encodes two enzymes involved in its own intracellular trehalose cycle. Although these methanogens have little capacity to breakdown external glycans to monosaccharides, their genomes do contain the enzymes that can link monosaccharides to a variety of acceptors to build glycoconjugates. It has been reported that the methanogens are unable to recycle the carbohydrate structures that they assemble [47].

4.3. Methane release and H₂ consumption

Methanogens such as *M. smithi* and *M. stadtmanae* have able to remove hydrogen excess from the gut in the case hydrogen accumulation in human gut reduces the energy and the efficiency of microbial processes [48]. The gut methanogens metabolize the hydrogen generated during the fermentation of carbohydrates into methane and promotes more ATP synthesis in anaerobic bacteria in the gut microbiota and subsequently promotes resident bacterial population growth including opportunistic pathogens. This evidence suggests that methanogens, through their methane production, can have a directly positive impact in human intestinal transit [48].

In an anaerobic respiration, methanogens oxidize carbon such as CO_2 as a terminal electron acceptor. Thus, methanogens are common in habitats that are poor in other electron acceptors, $(O_2, NO3, Fe^{3+}$ and SO_4^{-}). Methanogens as strict anaerobes have long been classified to be limited to anoxic habitats. However, recent studies have shown that some methanogens are able to produce methane in oxygenated soils [49] and even in human microbiota [18]. Methanogens were classified into three biochemical groups based on the substrates using for hydrogen production: hydrogenotrophic, aceticlastic and methylotrophic [6,41,49] (Fig. 4). The most group described in human microbiota is hydrogenotrophic methanogens who oxidize H₂, formate or a few simple alcohols and reduce CO_2 to CH₄ [1,6,41].

4.4. Heavy metal transformation

Heavy metals or metalloids are transformed into methylated derivatives, which are more toxic compounds [50]. *M. smithii* and *M. stadimanae* were shown to be able to produce more trimethyl-bismuth by bismuth reduction produced in human feces [50, 51]. This volatile bismuth is produced in human feces and has toxic effects not only on human cells but also on bacteria such as *B. thetaiotaomicron* [50,51].

4.5. Methanogens as probiotics

The possible use of methanogens as probiotics has received



Fig. 4. Metabolisms supporting archaeal methanogenesis in aerobic (gray background) and anaerobic (yellow background): Bacterial enzymatic pathways in red characters and methanogens enzymatic pathways in blue characters.REVISED MANUSCRIPT. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

particular attention since the recent discovery that some methanogens can use trimethylamine as a substrate for methanogenesis [52]. This trimethylamine is produced by intestinal bacteria from food ingredients and an abnormal level of trimethylamine in the blood correlates with a very high risk of cardiovascular disease [53,54]. In a recent study, Brugère et al. demonstrated that M. luminyensis is able to use hydrogen to reduce trimethylamine to methane during its growth [52]. According to the same authors, Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus and Candidatus Methanomassiliicoccus intestinalis are also able to use hydrogen to reduce trimethylamine to methane during their growth [52]. The level of trimethylamine in the human body is therefore modulated by the composition of the intestinal microbiota and in particular by the quantity of these methanogen species [52]. On this basis they were able to demonstrate that the use of these different species of methanogens as a probiotic in individuals with a hereditary defect in flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 would be an alternative to the treatment of metabolic disorders linked to a high level of trimethylamine [52].

The share of methanogens, in particular M. smithii has also been demonstrated in severe acute malnutrition [55]. In this recent study, Million et al. showed the complete absence of M. smithii in children suffering from severe acute malnutrition compared to healthy children [55]. Considering the fact that methanogens represent 10% of anaerobic microorganisms in the gut and that the species M. smithii is the most represented with a prevalence of up to 97.5% [21,56,57]; considering their essential role in the digestion of food by using the hydrogen produced by the fermented products of the bacteria thus facilitating the absorption of food; considering the fact that malnutrition could be the consequence of a food malabsorption syndrome and the total depletion of M. smithii observed only in severe acute malnourished in the study carried out by Million et al., an exogenous intake of this strain in children suffering from severe acute malnutrition would be an alternative to be taken into consideration in view of the predominant role played by this species in food digestion.

5. Human associated methanogens and human diseases

5.1. Methanogens associated with dysbiosis

Methanogens are the only archaea groups involved in the dysbiosis of the human microbiota, especially the intestinal, oral, sinus, vaginal and urinary microbiota. The methanogens involved in dysbiosis of the intestinal microbiota are mainly *M. smithii* (most involved), *M. stadtmanae* and *M. luminyensis* [58]. There is a decrease in methanogens during Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, malnutrition [55,59, 60] and an increase during diverticulosis, inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, constipation, obesity, colorectal cancer and colonic polyposis [61–76].

There are three methanogens involved in dysbiosis of the oral microbiota, namely *M. oralis* (most involved), *Methanobrevibacter massiliense* (*M. massiliens*) and *M. smithi* [77]. They have been found in periodontal dysbiosis such as periodontitis, peri-implantitis and gingivitis [77–83]. In a recent study conducted in our laboratory, Sogodogo et al. found *M. oralis, M. smithii* and *M. massiliense* in sinus abscesses, more precisely in refractory maxillary sinusitis [84].

M. smithii is so far the only archaea implicated in vaginal dysbiosis including vaginosis [85,86]. The role of archaea in dysbiosis of the urinary microbiota was studied in a recent study by Grine *et al* [85]. In this study, the authors used a polyphasic approach (PCR-sequencing and culture) to highlight *M. smithii* as the only archaea involved in urinary tract infection [85].

5.2. Methanogens associated with abscesses

There are only three studies carried out on the role of archaea in human abscesses and all these studies were done in our laboratory [87–89]. In a study conducted by Drancourt et al., *M. ordii* was isolated and cultured from a brain abscess [87]. In this study, the authors carried out a polyphasic approach (PCR-sequencing, metagenomics and culture) on brain abscess samples. They were able to detect 8/18 positive samples by qPCR, 28/32 positive samples by metagenomics and succeeded in isolating by culture the *M. oralis* in a brain abscess sample taken from a 51-year-old woman with a history of dental avulsion of one month [87]. *M. smithii* was detected by PCR specific for 16 S RNA and *mcrA* genes in a paravertebral muscle abscess in a 41-year-old man suffering from lumbar swelling with night sweats and chronic fever [88]. In a study by Nkamga et al., *M. oralis* was detected by PCR-specific sequencing of the 16 S RNA and *mcrA* genes in a brain abscess sample from a 30-year-old woman suffering from persistent headaches for four days and a left temporal abscess [89].

6. Conclusions and perspectives

Archaea are an integral part of the human microbiota and are found in humans from the first day of birth [1,19]. There are three phyla found in humans including *Euryarchaeota* (the most important), *Crenarchaeota* and *Thaumarchaeota* [1] and methanogens are the most common archaea found in humans [1,15]. Since their first isolation in humans more than five decades ago, only ten species of archaea have been cultured in humans and all these species belong to the phylum *Euryarchaeota* (eight methanogens and two halophilic archaea) [1–3,6,23, 90]. This fact is linked to their fastidious culture which requires anaerobiosis control and the supply of hydrogen [23, 91, 92]. There is therefore a need to optimize current methods of isolating and culturing archaea in order to be able to isolate new species. It would also be very useful to conduct studies to better understand their role in human pathologies as well as their possible use as probiotics [52].

There is a real enormous deficit of knowledge and partially contradictory information concerning human methanogens, it is helpful to develop a methodology and standard operating procedures allowing detection, quantification and characterization of methanogens in clinical samples.

The development of new methods of identification and culture of these particular microorganisms from clinical samples is therefore necessary. This will allow to isolate new species and characterize them phenotypically, to explore their genome by sequencing and study population dynamics in particular specify their exact role within the complex flora associated with the mucous microbiota of human.

Declaration of competing interest

Guindo, C·O, Drancourt, M and Grine G declare that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- V.D. Nkamga, B. Henrissat, M. Drancourt, Archaea: essential inhabitants of the human digestive microbiota, Human Microbiome Journal 3 (2017) 1–8, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.humic.2016.11.005.
- [2] S. Khelaffa, A. Caputo, F. Djossou, D. Raoult, Draft genome sequence of a humanassociated isolate of *Haloferax alexandrinus* strain Arc-hr, an extremely halophilic archaea, New Microbes and New Infections 15 (2017) 44–45, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mmi.2016.11.012.
- [3] S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, Haloferax massiliensis sp. nov., the first human-associated halophilic archaea, New Microbes and New Infections 12 (2016) 96–98, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nmni.2016.05.007.
- [4] A.H. Togo, G. Grine, S. Khelaifia, C. des Robert, V. Brevaut, A. Caputo, E. Baptiste, M. Bonnet, A. Levasseur, M. Drancourt, M. Million, D. Raoult, Culture of methanogenic archaea from human colostrum and milk, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 18653, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54759-x.
- [5] C. Moissl-Eichinger, A.J. Probst, G. Birarda, A. Auerbach, K. Koskinen, P. Wolf, H.-Y.N. Holman, Human age and skin physiology shape diversity and abundance of Archaea on skin, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 4039, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04197-4.
- [6] E. Sogodogo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic abscesses, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 38 (2019) 811–818, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03510-5.
- [7] C. Bang, R.A. Schmitz, Archaea: forgotten players in the microbiome, Emerging Topics in Life Sciences 2 (2018) 459–468, https://doi.org/10.1042/ ETLS20180035.
- [8] B. Dridi, M. Henry, H. Richet, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Age-related prevalence of Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis in the human gut microbiome, APMIS 120 (2012) 773–777, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2012.02899.x.

- [9] G. Borrel, H.M.B. Harris, W. Tottey, A. Mihajlovski, N. Parisot, E. Peyretaillade, P. Peyret, S. Gribaldo, P.W. O'Toole, J.-F. Brugere, Genome sequence of "Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus" Mx1201, a methanogenic archaeon from the human gut belonging to a seventh order of methanogens, J. Bacteriol. 194 (2012) 6944-6945, https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01867-12.
- [10] G. Borrel, H.M.B. Harris, N. Parisot, N. Gaci, W. Tottey, A. Mihajlovski, J. Deane, S. Gribaldo, O. Bardot, E. Peyretaillade, P. Peyret, P.W. O'Toole, J.-F. Brugere, Genome sequence of "Candidatus Methanomassilitococus intestinalis" issoire-Mx1, a third thermoplasmatales-related methanogenic archaeon from human feces, 13, Genome Announc. 1 (2013) e00453, https://doi.org/10.1128/genomeA.00453-13, 1/4/e00453-13.
- [11] B. Dridi, M.-L. Fardeau, B. Ollivier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from human faeces, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 62 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1099/ ijs.0033712-0, 1902–1907.
- [12] I. Vanwonterghem, P.N. Evans, D.H. Parks, P.D. Jensen, B.J. Woodcroft, P. Hugenholtz, G.W. Tyson, Methylotrophic methanogenesis discovered in the archaeal phylum Verstraetearchaeota, Nat Microbiol 1 (2016) 16170, https://doi. org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.170.
- [13] N. Gaci, G. Borrel, W. Tottey, P.W. O'Toole, J.-F. Brugère, Archaea and the human gut: new beginning of an old story, WJG 20 (2014) 16062, https://doi.org/ 10.3748/wjg.v201431.6062.
- [14] P. Cheeseman, A. Toms-Wood, R.S. Wolfe, Isolation and properties of a fluorescent compound, Factor420, from *Methanobacterium* strain M.o.H, J. Bacteriol. 112 (1972) 527–531.
- [15] B. Dridi, Laboratory tools for detection of archaea in humans, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18 (2012) 825–833, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03952.x.
- [16] L. Raskin, J.M. Stromley, B.E. Rittmann, D.A. Stahl, Group-specific 16S rRNA hybridization probes to describe natural communities of methanogens, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60 (1994) 1232–1240.
- [17] P.E. Luton, J.M. Wayne, R.J. Sharp, P.W. Riley, The mcrA Gene as an Alternative to 16S rRNA in the Phylogenetic Analysis of Methanogen Populations in Landfill, (n. d.) 10.
- [18] G. Grine, E. Terrer, M.A. Boualam, G. Aboudharam, H. Chaudet, R. Ruimy, M. Drancourt, Tobacco-smoking-related prevalence of methanogens in the oral fluid microbiota, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 9197, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27372-7.
- [19] G. Grine, M.A. Boualam, M. Drancourt, Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 36 (2017) 2449–2455, https://doi.org/10.1007/s1096-017-3084-7.
- [20] A.P.A. Oxley, M.P. Lanfranconi, D. Würdemann, S. Ott, S. Schreiber, T.J. McGenity, K.N. Timmis, B. Nogales, Halophilic archaea in the human intestinal mucosa: haloarchaea in the intestinal mucosa, Environ. Microbiol. 12 (2010) 2398–2410, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02212.x.
- [21] B. Dridi, M. Henry, A. El Khéchine, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, High prevalence of Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanosphaera stadmanae detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol, PloS One 4 (2009), e7063, https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007063.
 [22] S. Khelaifan, J.-C. Lagier, V.D. Nkamga, E. Guilhot, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult,
- [22] S. Khelaifia, J.-C. Lagier, V.D. Nkanga, E. Guilhot, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult, Aerobic culture of methanogenic archaea without an external source of hydrogen, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 35 (2016) 985-991, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10096-016-2627-7.
- [23] C.O. Guindo, E. Terrer, E. Chabrière, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen, Anaerobe 61 (2020) 102128, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nanerobe.2019.102128.
- [24] J.-C. Lagier, S. Khelaifia, M.T. Alou, S. Ndongo, N. Dione, P. Hugon, A. Caputo, F. Cadoret, S.I. Traore, E.H. Seck, G. Dubourg, G. Durand, G. Mourembou, E. Guilhot, A. Togo, S. Bellail, D. Bachar, N. Cassir, F. Bittar, J. Delerce, M. Mailhe, D. Ricaboni, M. Bilen, N.P.M. Dangui Nieko, N.M. Dia Badiane, C. Valles, D. Mouelhi, K. Diog, M. Million, D. Musso, J. Abrahō, E. L. Azhar, F. Bibli, M. Yasir, A. Diallo, C. Sokhna, F. Djossou, V. Vitton, C. Robert, J.M. Rolain, B. La Scola, P.-E. Fournier, A. Levasseur, D. Raouli, Culture of previously uncultured members of the human gut microbiola by culturomics, Nature Microbiology 1 (2016) 1–8, https://doi.org/10.1038/mmicrobiol.2016.203.
- [25] P. Seng, M. Drancourt, F. Gouriet, B. La Scola, P. Fournier, J.M. Rolain, D. Raoult, Ongoing revolution in bacteriology: routine identification of bacteria by matrixassisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Clin. Infect. Dis. 49 (2009) 543–551, https://doi.org/10.1086/600885.
- [26] R. Dieckmann, R. Helmuth, M. Erhard, B. Malorny, Rapid classification and identification of salmonellae at the species and subspecies levels by whole-cell matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 7767–7778, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01402-08.
- [27] M. Pignone, K.M. Greth, J. Cooper, D. Emerson, J. Tang, Identification of Mycobacteria by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry, J. Clin. Microbiol. 44 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01959-05, 1963–1970.
- [28] P.-E. Fournier, C. Couderc, S. Buffet, C. Flaudrops, D. Raoult, Rapid and costeffective identification of *Bartonella* species using mass spectrometry, J. Med. Microbiol. 58 (2009) 1154–1159, https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0009647-0.
- [29] E. Nagy, T. Maier, E. Urban, G. Terhes, M. Kostrzewa, Species identification of clinical isolates of *Bacteroides* by matrix-assisted laser-desorption/ionization timeof-flight mass spectrometry, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 15 (2009) 796–802, https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02788.x.
- [30] C. Cayrou, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry for the identification of environmental organisms:

C.O. Guindo et al.

the Planctomycetes paradigm: planctomycetes MALDI-TOF identification, Environmental Microbiology Reports 2 (2010) 752–760, https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1758-2229.2010.00176.x.

- [31] G. Marklein, M. Josten, U. Klanke, E. Muller, R. Horre, T. Maier, T. Wenzel, M. Kostrzewa, G. Bierbaum, A. Hoerauf, H.-G. Sahl, Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for fast and reliable identification of clinical yeast isolates, J. Clin. Microbiol. 47 (2009) 2912–2917, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00389-09.
- [32] C.S. Stîngu, A.C. Rodloff, H. Jentsch, R. Schaumann, K. Eschrich, Rapid identification of oral anaerobic bacteria cultivated from subgingival biofilm by MALDI-TOF-MS, Oral Microbiol. Immunol. 23 (2008) 372–376, https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1399-302X.2008.00438.x.
- [33] A.M. Haag, S.N. Taylor, K.H. Johnston, R.B. Cole, Rapid identification and speciation of *Haemophilus* bacteria by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry, J. Mass Spectrom. 33 (1998) 750–756, https:// doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9888, 199808)33:8<7575: AID-JMS680-3.0.C0;2-1.</p>
- [34] B. Dridi, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization timeof-flight mass spectrometry identification of Archaea: towards the universal identification of living organisms: IDENTIFYING Archaea BY MASS SPECTROMETRY, APMIS 120 (2012) 85–91, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2011.02833.x.
- [35] S. Khelaifia, M. Drancourt, Susceptibility of archaea to antimicrobial agents: applications to clinical microbiology, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18 (2012) 841–848, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0631.2012.03913.x.
- [36] B. Dridi, M.-L. Fardeau, B. Ollivier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, The antimicrobial resistance pattern of cultured human methanogens reflects the unique phylogenetic position of archaea, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 66 (2011) 2038–2044, https://doi. org/10.1093/jac/dkr251.
- [37] S. Khelaifia, J.M. Brunel, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Hydrophobicity of imidazole derivatives correlates with improved activity against human methanogenic archaea, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 41 (2013) 544–547, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2013.02.013.
- [38] H.L. Dermoumi, R.A.M. Ansorg, Isolation and antimicrobial susceptibility testing of fecal strains of the archaeon Methanobrevblacter smithil, Chemotherapy 47 (2001) 177–183, https://doi.org/10.1159/000063219.
- [39] V. Demonfort Nkamga, N. Armstrong, M. Drancourt, In vitro susceptibility of cultured human methanogens to lovastatin, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 49 (2017) 176–182, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjantimicag.2016.09.026.
- [40] H.T.T. Huynh, M. Pignoly, M. Drancourt, G. Aboudharam, A new methanogen "Methanobrevibacter massillense" isolated in a case of severe periodontitis, BMC Res. Notes 10 (2017) 657, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-017-2980-3.
- [41] A. Ruand, S. Esquivel-Elizondo, J. de la Cuesta-Zuluaga, J.L. Waters, L.T. Angenent, N.D. Youngblut, R.E. Ley, Syntrophy via Interspecies H 2 transfer between *Christensenella* and methanobrevibacter underlies their global cooccurrence in the human gut, 19, mBio 11 (2020) e03235, https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.03235-19, /mbio/11/1/mBio.03235-19.4 com.
- [42] F.A. Duca, T.K.T. Lam, Gut microbiota, nutrient sensing and energy balance, Diabetes Obes. Metabol. 16 (2014) 68–76, https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12340. [43] F. Fava, R. Gitau, B.A. Griffin, G.R. Gibson, K.M. Tuohy, J.A. Lovegrove, The type
- [43] F. Fava, R. Gitau, B.A. Griffin, G.R. Gibson, K.M. Tuohy, J.A. Lovegrove, The type and quantity of dietary fat and carbohydrate alter faecal microbiome and shortchain fatty acid excretion in a metabolic syndrome 'at-risk' population, Int. J. Obes. 37 (2013) 216–223, https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2012.33.
- [44] S. Donati Zeppa, D. Agostini, M. Gervasi, G. Annibalini, S. Amatori, F. Ferrini, D. Sisti, G. Piccoli, E. Barbieri, P. Sestili, V. Stocchi, Mutual interactions among exercise, sport supplements and microbiota, Nutrients 12 (2019) 17, https://doi. org/10.3390/nul/2010017.
- [45] Y. Yamaguchi, K. Adachi, T. Sugiyama, A. Shimozato, M. Ebi, N. Ogasawara, Y. Funaki, C. Goto, M. Sasaki, K. Kasugai, Association of intestinal microbiota with metabolic markers and dietary habits in patients with type 2 diabetes, Digestion 94 (2016) 66–72, https://doi.org/10.1159/000447690.
 [46] M. Conlon, A. Bird, The impact of diet and lifestyle on gut microbiota and human
- [46] M. Conion, A. Bird, The impact of diet and lifestyle on gut microbiota and numar health, Nutrients 7 (2014) 17–44, https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7010017.
- [47] M. Coutinho, H.C. Gerstein, Y. Wang, S. Yusuf, The relationship between glucose and incident cardiovascular events. A metaregression analysis of published data from 20 studies of 95,783 individuals followed for 12.4 years, Diabetes Care 22 (1999) 233–240, https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.22.2.233.
- [48] Z. Lyu, N. Shao, T. Akinyemi, W.B. Whitman, Methanogenesis, Curr. Biol. 28 (2018) R727–R732, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.021.
- [49] Z. Lyu, Y. Lu, Metabolic shift at the class level sheds light on adaptation of methanogens to oxidative environments, ISME J. 12 (2018) 411–423, https://doi. org/10.1038/ismej.2017.173.
- [50] J. Meyer, K. Michalke, T. Kouril, R. Hensel, Volatilisation of metals and metalloids: an inherent feature of methanoarchaea? Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 31 (2008) 81–87, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2008.02.001.
- [51] V.J. Harwood, C. Staley, B.D. Badgley, K. Borges, A. Korajkic, Microbial source tracking markers for detection of fecal contamination in environmental waters: relationships between pathogens and human health outcomes, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 38 (2014) 1–40, https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12031.
- [52] J.-F. Brugère, G. Borrel, N. Gaci, W. Tottey, P.W. O'Toole, C. Malpuech-Brugère, Archaebiotics: proposed therapeutic use of archaea to prevent trimethylaminuria and cardiovascular disease, Gut Microb. 5 (2014) 5–10, https://doi.org/10.4161/ gmic.26749.
- [53] D.M. Juneau, Frepc D. de la prévention, I.de.C.de M.P. titulaire de clinique, F. de médecine de l'Université de M./Cardiologist, D. of Prevention, M.H.I.C. Professor, F. of Medicine, U. of Montreal, Athérosclérose: le rôle du microbiome intestinal, Observatoire de la prévention (2016) accessed, https://observatoireprevention.or

Microbial Pathogenesis 149 (2020) 104425

g/2016/11/15/atherosclerose-le-role-du-microbiome-intestinal/. (Accessed 7 January 2020).

- [54] E. Randrianarisoa, A. Lehn-Stefan, X. Wang, M. Hoene, A. Peter, S.S. Heinzmann, X. Zhao, I. Königsrainer, A. Königsrainer, B. Balletshofer, J. Machann, F. Schick, A. Fritsche, H.-U. Häring, G. Xu, R. Lehnmann, N. Stefan, Relationship of serum trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) levels with early atherosclerosis in humans, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26745.
- [55] M. Million, M. Tidjani Alou, S. Khelafia, D. Bachar, J.-C. Lagier, N. Dione, S. Brah, P. Hugon, V. Lombard, F. Armougom, J. Fromonot, C. Robert, C. Michelle, A. Diallo, A. Fabre, R. Guieu, C. Sokhan, B. Henrissat, P. Parola, D. Raoult, Increased gut redox and depletion of anaerobic and methanogenic prokaryotes in severe acute malnutrition, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 26051, https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep26051.
- [56] T.L. Miller, M.J. Wolin, Enumeration of Methanobrevibacter smithii in human feces, Arch. Microbiol. 131 (1982) 14–18, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00451492.
- [57] J.A. Stewart, V.S. Chadwick, A. Murray, Carriage, quantification, and predominance of methanogens and sulfate-reducing bacteria in faecal samples, Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 43 (2006) 58–63, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X:2006.01906.x.
- [58] Y. Sereme, S. Mezouar, G. Grine, J.L. Mege, M. Drancourt, P. Corbeau, J. Vitte, Methanogenic archaea: emerging partners in the field of allergic diseases, Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol. 57 (2019) 456–466, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-019-08766-5.
- [59] P.D. Scanlan, F. Shanahan, J.R. Marchesi, Human methanogen diversity and incidence in healthy and diseased colonic groups using mcrA gene analysis, BMC Microbiol. 8 (2008) 79, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-79.
- [60] L.F. McKay, M.A. Eastwood, W.G. Brydon, Methane excretion in man-a study of breath, flatus, and faeces, Gut 26 (1985) 69–74, https://doi.org/10.1136/ gut.26.1.69.
- [61] A. Attaluri, M. Jackson, J. Valestin, S.S. Rao, Methanogenic flora is associated with altered colonic transit but not stool characteristics in constipation without IBS: Am. J. Gastroenterol. 105 (2010) 1407–1411, https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2009.655.
- [62] G.A. Weaver, J.A. Krause, T.L. Miller, M.J. Wolin, Incidence of methanogenic bacteria in a sigmoidoscopy oppulation: an association of methanogenic bacteria and diverticulosis, Gut 27 (1986) 698–704, https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.27.6.698
- [63] F. Sc, P. Cli, OS, Breath methane production in children with constipation and encopresis, J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 10 (1990) 473–477, https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00005176-199005000-00010.
- [64] K. Triantafyllou, C. Chang, M. Pimentel, Methanogens, methane and gastrointestinal Motility, J Neurogastroenterol Motil 20 (2014) 31–40, https://doi. org/10.5056/jmn.2014.20.1.31.
- [65] S. Chatterjee, S. Park, K. Low, Y. Kong, M. Pimentel, The degree of breath methane production in IBS correlates with the severity of constitution, Am. J. Gastroenterol. 102 (2007) 837–841, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01072.x.
- [66] H. Zhang, J.K. DiBaise, A. Zuccolo, D. Kudrna, M. Braidotti, Y. Yu, P. Parameswaran, M.D. Crowell, R. Wing, B.E. Ritmann, R. Krajmalnik-Brown, Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. Unit. States Am. 106 (2009) 2365–2370, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0812600106.
- [67] M. Pimentel, Normalization of lactulose breath testing correlates with symptom improvement in irritable bowel syndrome a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study, Am. J. Gastroenterol. 98 (2003) 412–419, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0002-9270(2)05902-6.
- [68] C. Yazici, D.C. Arslan, R. Abraham, K. Cushing, A. Keshavarzian, E.A. Mutlu, Breath methane levels are increased among patients with diverticulosis, Dig. Dis. Sci. 61 (2016) 2648–2654, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-016-4174-6.
- [69] J.M. Piqué, M. Pallarés, E. Cusó, J. Vilar-Bonet, M.A. Gassull, Methane production and colon cancer, Gastroenterology 87 (1984) 601–605, https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0016-5085(84)90522-8.
- [70] K.-M. Lee, C.-N. Paik, W.C. Chung, J.-M. Yang, M.-G. Choi, Breath methane positivity is more common and higher in patients with objectively proven delayed transit constipation: Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 25 (2013) 726–732, https:// doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0b013e32835e916.
- [71] P. Blais Lecours, D. Marsolais, Y. Cormier, M. Berberi, C. Haché, R. Bourdages, C. Duchaine, Increased prevalence of *Methanosphaera stadimanae* in inflammatory bowel diseases, PloS One 9 (2014), e87734, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0087734.
- [72] C.A. Mbakwa, J. Penders, P.H. Savelkoul, C. Thijs, P.C. Dagnelie, M. Mommers, I.C. W. Arts, Gut colonization with methanobrevibacter smithii is associated with childhood weight development: gut Archaea and Weight Development in Children, Obesity 23 (2015) 2508–2516, https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21266.
- [73] G. Kim, F. Deepinder, W. Morales, L. Hwang, S. Weitsman, C. Chang, R. Gunsalus, M. Pimentel, Methanobrevibacter smithit is the predominant methanogen in patients with constipation-predominant IBS and methane on breath, Dig. Dis. Sci. 57 (2012) 3213–3218, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-012-2197-1.
- [74] D. Vandeputte, G. Falony, S. Vieira-Silva, R.Y. Tito, M. Joossens, J. Raes, Stool consistency is strongly associated with gut microbiota richness and composition, enterotypes and bacterial growth rates, Gut 65 (2016) 57-62, https://doi.org/ 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309618.
- [75] U.C. Ghoshal, D. Srivastava, A. Verma, A. Misra, Slow transit constipation associated with excess methane production and its improvement following rifaximin therapy: a case report, J Neurogastroenterol Motil 17 (2011) 185-188, https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm.2011.17.2.185.
- [76] M. Pimentel, A.G. Mayer, S. Park, E.J. Chow, A. Hasan, Y. Kong, Methane production during lactulose breath test is associated with gastrointestinal disease

C.O. Guindo et al.

presentation, Dig. Dis. Sci. 48 (2003) 86–92, https://doi.org/10.1023/a: 1021738515885.

- [77] E. Sogodogo, O. Doumbo, G. Aboudharam, B. Kouriba, O. Diawara, H. Koita, S. Togora, M. Drancourt, First characterization of methanogens in oral cavity in Malian patients with oral cavity pathologies, BMC Oral Health 19 (2019) 232, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-019-0929-8.
- [78] T. Nguyen-Hieu, S. Khelaifia, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, Methanogenic archaea in subgingival sites: a review, APMIS 121 (2013) 467–477, https://doi. org/10.1111/apm.12015.
- [79] M. Faveri, LF.H. Gonçalves, M. Feres, L.C. Figueiredo, L.A. Gouveia, J.A. Shibli, M. P.A. Mayer, Prevalence and microbiological diversity of Archaea in peri-implantiis subjects by 165 ribosomal RNA clonal analysis: archaea in peri-implantiis subjects, J. Periodontal. Res. 46 (2011) 338–344, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0765.2011.01347.x.
- [80] S. Belkacemi, A. Mazel, D. Tardivo, P. Tavitian, G. Stephan, G. Bianca, E. Terrer, M. Drancourt, G. Aboudharam, Peri-implantitis-associated methanogens: a preliminary report, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 9447, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27862-8.
- [81] P.W. Lepp, M.M. Brinig, C.C. Ouverney, K. Palm, G.C. Armitage, D.A. Relman, Methanogenic Archaea and human periodontal disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. Unit. States Am. 101 (2004) 6176–6181, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnma.0308766101.
- [82] M.E. Vianna, G. Conrads, B.P.F.A. Gomes, H.P. Horz, Identification and quantification of archaea involved in primary endodontic infections, J. Clin. Microbiol. 44 (2006) 1274–1282, https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.44.4.1274-1282.2006.
- [83] E.M. Kulik, H. Sandmeier, K. Hinni, J. Meyer, Identification of archaeal rDNA from subgingival dental plaque by PCR amplification and sequence analysis, FEMS (Fed. Eur. Microbiol. Soc.) Microbiol. Lett. 196 (2001) 129–133, https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2001.tb10553.x.

- [84] E. Sogodogo, M. Fellag, A. Loukil, V.D. Nkamga, J. Michel, P. Dessi, P.-E. Fournier, M. Drancourt, Nine cases of methanogenic archaea in refractory sinusitis, an emerging clinical entity, Front. Public Health. 7 (2019) 38, https://doi.org/ 10.3389/foubh.2019.00038.
- [85] G. Grine, R. Lotte, D. Chirio, A. Chevalier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Coculture of Methanobrevibacter smithli with enterobacteria during urinary infection, EBioMedicine 43 (2019) 333–337, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.04.037.
- [86] N. Belay, E. Wol (2015) 300-507, https://doi.org/10.1017/jci.doi/a11.0010/ Belay, E. Mukhoghay, E. Conway de Macario, R. Galask, L. Daniels, Methanogenic bacteria in human vaginal samples, J. Clin. Microbiol. 28 (1990) 1666-1668.
- [87] M. Drancourt, V.D. Nkamga, N.A. Lakhe, J.-M. Régis, H. Dufour, P.-E. Fournier, Y. Bechah, W. Michael Scheld, D. Raoult, Evidence of archaeal methanogens in brain abscess, Clin. Infect. Dis. 65 (2017) 1–5, https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ cit/286.
- [88] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, P.-M. Roger, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Methanobrevibacter smithii and Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron cultivated from a chronic paravertebral muscle abscess, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 22 (2016) 1008–1009, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cmi.2016.09.007.
- [89] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, D. Chirio, M. Lonjon, P.-M. Roger, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Methanobrevibacter oralis detected along with Aggregatibacter actionopycetemconitans in a series of community-acquired brain abscesses, Clin.
- Microbiol. Infect. 24 (2018) 207–208, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2017.08.021.
 [90] P.M. Nottingham, R.E. Hungate, Isolation of methanogenic bacteria from feces of man. J. Bacteriol. 96 (1968) 2178–2179.
- [91] J.-L. Garcia, B.K.C. Patel, B. Ollivier, Taxonomic, phylogenetic, and ecological diversity of methanogenic archaea, Anaerobe 6 (2000) 205–226, https://doi.org/ 10.1006/anae.2000.0345.
- [92] A. Ferrari, T. Brusa, A. Rutili, E. Canzi, B. Biavati, Isolation and characterization of Methanobrevibacter oralis sp. nov, Curr. Microbiol. 29 (1994) 7–12, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01570184.

Chapitre II : Optimisation des méthodes d'identification et de culture des méthanogènes

Préambule

Les méthanogènes sont désormais reconnus comme des membres du microbiote humain, dont ils restent cependant des acteurs négligés [1,27]. En raison de la difficulté de leur mise en évidence, ils ne sont pas recherchés dans le diagnostic de routine malgré les données cumulatives indiquant leur rôle dans différentes pathologies. En particulier, il s'agit de microorganismes de culture fastidieuse dont l'isolement par culture dépend du contrôle de l'anaérobiose et de l'approvisionnement en H₂ [54,55]. Afin de faciliter l'isolement et la culture des méthanogènes, nous avons travaillé à optimiser et à mettre en place de nouveaux protocoles pour l'identification et la culture en routine des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique dans le laboratoire de microbiologie clinique.

Nous avons développé une méthode alternative de production d'hydrogène utilisant de la limaille de fer et de l'acide acétique dans le but de cultiver les méthanogènes plus efficacement et plus rapidement. De façon intéressante, cette idée est venue de discussions avec le Prof. Eric CHABRIERE qui, dans l'Unité de recherche MEPHI dans laquelle nous avons réalisé nos travaux de Thèse, apporte une valence de biochimie et biophysique. Nous avons montré une apparition rapide des colonies de *M. smithii* et de *M. oralis* en utilisant cette méthode comparée à la méthode de référence utilisant *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* comme producteur d'hydrogène biotique [55,56]. Il s'agissait donc dans ce travail, de remplacer la production d'hydrogène biotique par une production chimique, éventuellement plus facile à maîtriser et à standardiser. Compte tenu de la simplicité, de la rapidité et de l'efficacité de cette méthode chimique de production d'hydrogène, son utilisation pourrait faciliter l'isolement et la culture de routine des méthanogènes dans les laboratoires de microbiologie.

Les méthanogènes méthylotrophes ont un intérêt très important sur la santé humaine étant donné leur capacité à utiliser la triméthylamine produite par les bactéries du microbiote intestinal et peuvent donc être proposés comme outils thérapeutiques pour prévenir la triméthylaminurie et les maladies cardiovasculaires [53]. Cependant, seulement trois espèces ont été isolées par culture dans le microbiote digestif humain. Nous avons donc mis au point un milieu de culture spécifique qui a permis l'isolement et la culture d'un nouveau genre de *Methanomassiliicoccales* à partir du fluide buccal humain. Cette étude a donc permis d'enrichir le répertoire des méthanogènes colonisant la cavité buccale avec l'isolement et la culture sans précédent de *Methanomassiliia massiliensis* à partir du fluide buccal humain.

Ensuite, nous avons travaillé à routiniser l'identification des méthanogènes ainsi plus facilement cultivés, par le développement de leur identification par spectrométrie de masse. Nous avons donc développé un nouvel outil de diagnostic fiable, rapide et reproductible des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique par spectrométrie de masse MALDI-TOF-MS. Nous avons créé une base de données comprenant 34 spectres de référence dérivés de 16 souches de référence de méthanogènes représentatives de huit espèces afin d'identifier des isolats cliniques de *M. smithii* et de *M. oralis* avec des scores > 2. Nous avons démontré que le MALDI-TOF-MS peut différencier certains génotypes de *M. smithii*. Ces résultats indiquent que la spectrométrie de masse MALDI-TOF-MS est une méthode de première ligne pour identifier les méthanogènes isolés au laboratoire.
Article 2

Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced

hydrogen.

C.O. Guindo, E. Terrer, E. Chabrière, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Publié dans Anaerobe.

Anaerobe 61 (2020) 102128

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Anaerobe

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/anaerobe

Clinical microbiology

Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen

Cheick O. Guindo ^{a, b}, Elodie Terrer ^{b, c}, Eric Chabrière ^b, Gérard Aboudharam ^{b, c}, Michel Drancourt ^{b, *}, Ghiles Grine ^{a, b, c}

^a IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^b Aix-Marseille Univ, IRD, MEPHI, IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^c Aix-Marseille-Univ, Faculty of Odontology, Marseille, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 August 2019 Received in revised form 15 November 2019 Accepted 16 November 2019 Available online 20 November 2019

Handling Editor: Professor Boyanova Lyudmila

Keywords: Methanogens Culture Hydrogen

ABSTRACT

Methanogen cultures require hydrogen produced by fermentative bacteria such as Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron (biological method). We developed an alternative method for hydrogen production using iron filings and acetic acid with the aim of cultivating methanogens more efficiently and more quickly (chemical method). We developed this new method with a reference strain of Methanobrevibacter oralis, compared the method to the biological reference method with a reference strain of Methanobrevibacter smithii and finally applied the method to 50 saliva samples. Methanogen colonies counted using Image] software were identified using epifluorescence optical microscopy, real-time PCR and PCR sequencing. For cultures containing pure strains of M. oralis and M. smithii, colonies appeared three days postinoculation with the chemical method versus nine days with the biological method. The average number of M. smithii colonies was significantly higher with the chemical method than with the biological method. There was no difference in the delay of observation of the first colonies in the saliva samples between the two methods. However, the average number of colonies was significantly higher with the biological method than with the chemical method at six days and nine days postinoculation (Student's test, p = 0.005 and p = 0.04, respectively). The chemical method made it possible to isolate four strains of M. oralis and three strains of M. smithii from the 50 saliva samples. Establishing the chemical method will ease the routine isolation and culture of methanogens.

© 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

1. Introduction

Methanogenic archaea (referred to herein as methanogens) are acknowledged members of the digestive tract microbiota, and they have been detected by PCR-based methods and cultured from the oral cavity and the stools of apparently healthy individuals [1]. More particularly, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanobrevibacter massiliense have been isolated from the oral cavity, whereas M. smithii, Methanosphaera stadtmanae, Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis, Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus, M. oralis, Ca. Methanomethylophilus alvus and Ca. Methanomassiliicoccus intestinalis have been isolated from stools [1]. Accordingly, we previously showed that virtually all apparently

E-mail address: michel.drancourt@univ-amu.fr (M. Drancourt).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102128 1075-9964/© 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd. healthy individuals would carry methanogens in the digestive tract microbiota [2] This observation indeed corroborated the pivotal role of methanogens, which detoxify hydrogen produced by bacterial fermentations into methane [3,4].

Moreover, methanogens are increasingly implicated in diseases; their presence or absence is associated with dysbioses such as those observed in the gut microbiota in cases of chronic constipation [5], obesity [6] and colonic diseases including ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease and colorectal cancer [7–9], in the vaginal microbiota in cases of vaginosis [10,11]. In addition, the presence of methanogens is associated with anaerobic pus abscesses such as brain abscesses [12,13] and muscular abscesses [14].

As is usual in clinical microbiology, isolation and culture of methanogens is the gold standard to assess the detection of living methanogens in microbiota and in pathological clinical specimens collected by puncture or biopsy [1]. The routine application of methanogen culturing is hampered by the fact that methanogens







^{*} Corresponding author. IHU Méditerranée Infection, UMR MEPHI, 19-21, Bd Jean Moulin, 13005, Marseille, France.

are strictly aero-intolerant microbes and require hydrogen for culturing [15,16]. To facilitate the isolation and culture of methanogens from a routine perspective, we previously designed a new process in which methanogens are cultivated in the presence of hydrogen-producing *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* [17,18].

Here, we tested the conditions to replace the biological production of hydrogen with the chemical production of hydrogen and applied it to isolate methanogens from saliva as a proof-of-concept.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Chemical production of hydrogen

The immediate chemical production of hydrogen resulting from the oxidation of iron by a weak acid has long been known [19]. We used acetic acid in our experiment because of its ability to oxidize iron, resulting in sufficient production of hydrogen [20]. We used two solutions for our experiments, namely, SAB culture broth [21] and distilled water (Fresenius, Bad Homburg voor Hoehe, Germany) with pH values of 7.3 and 7, respectively. We used 5 mL of each solution in our experiments. The experiments were performed in 10 Hungate tubes (Dominique Dutscher, Brumath, France) for each solution. Iron filings (Amazon, Clichy, France) were used at increasing quantities: 0.5 g for tube n°1, 1 g for tube n°2, and a 0.25 g increase from tube n°3 to tube n°10. The amount of acetic acid (VWR International, Pennsylvania, USA) used was 100 µL for tube n°1 to tube n°7 and 50 µL for tube n°8 to tube n°10. We first placed the iron filings in the tubes, followed by the solution (SAB broth or water) and then the acetic acid. We used three negative control Hungate tubes, one tube with iron filings in SAB culture medium, another tube with iron filings in distilled water and finally a third tube containing iron filings alone. Gas chromatography was then performed using a Clarus 580 FID chromatograph (PerkinElmer, Villebon-sur-Yvette, France) to measure hydrogen production in the different tubes, and the pH was monitored (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France).

2.2. Culture of methanogen strains using the chemical method for hydrogen production

M. oralis CSUR P9633, a human saliva isolate [22], was used for the development of the chemical method. We used the minidouble-chamber flask technique, which was derived from the previously described technique [21]. SAB agar plates (5-cm plates, Fisher Scientific) inoculated with 200 µL of a M. oralis suspension at 10⁷ colony-forming units (CFUs) were placed in the upper compartment of a mini-double-chamber flask, which was sealed with parafilm to ensure an anaerobic atmosphere. We then placed 1 g of iron flings and 100 µL of acetic acid in 10 mL of distilled water in the lower compartment of the mini-double-chamber flask in a microbiological safety station. We used an SAB agar plate inoculated with 200 µL of sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Fisher Scientific) as a negative control. We then incubated the plates at 37 °C for nine days with visual inspection on day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation.

Then, the growth of *M. smithii* CSUR P9632, a human stool isolate, using the chemical method was compared with that using the reference biological method using a double-chamber system as previously described for the aerobic culture of methanogens [17]. For the chemical method, we put 1.5 g of iron filings and 150 µL of acetic acid in 200 mL of distilled water in the lower compartment instead of *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*, which was used in the biological method. SAB agar plates inoculated with 200 µL of a *M. smithii* suspension at 10⁶ CFU or 200 µL of PBS for the negative controls were placed in the upper compartment.

The pH of the SAB agar plates was measured at day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation using pH indicator strips (Macherey-Nagel SARL, Hordt, France). We placed the pH indicator strip directly on the SAB agar plate for 2 min. We then took the value corresponding to the color obtained on the strip from the values indicated by the supplier. The pH and redox potential of the broth in the lower chamber were measured at day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation using the Accumet[™] AE150 apparatus (Fisher Scientific). The probe was rinsed thoroughly with distilled water and then immersed in the lower chamber until the device displayed the value on the reading screen. The rinsing step was performed after each use to avoid any error in reading the device. We used the pH and redox potential of distilled water alone and the SAB culture broth alone as controls. We also measured the redox potential of the upper compartment. For the two methods, we used one double-chamber system, in which we placed one Petri plate with 10 mL of distilled water and one Petri plate with 10 mL of the SAB culture broth. These double-chamber systems were then incubated at 37 °C, and the redox potential was measured in each of the Petri dishes at day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation. The effectiveness of the two methods for the growth of methanogens was compared by observing the appearance of the first colonies as well as the average number of colonies at day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation. Colonies were confirmed by autofluorescence optical microscopy as follows. Briefly, the colony deposited on a microscopy slide was observed at 63× using an epifluorescence microscope (Leica DMI 3000, Wetzlar, Germany) and at 100× magnification using another epifluorescence microscope (Leica DMI 6000), Colonies were enumerated at day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation by focusing the image of the entire 5-cm plate on a black background using a portable camera without flash (Lenovo L38011, Beijing, China). Numbered images were analyzed and counted using ImageJ version 8 (https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/download.html) (Wayne Rasband, Java, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, USA) as follows: each image was imported into ImageJ software and analyzed in a first step using the blue, diamidino phenylindole filter to normalized the image. In a second step, the normalized image was analyzed using the green fluorescein isothiocyanate filter and saved in the Joint Photographic Experts Group format. We standardized the images using the elliptical selection tabulation of the software. We then proceeded to manually count the enlarged colonies using the magnifying glass and the multipoint tabulation of the software.

2.3. Comparison of the two methods on saliva samples

The study was previously approved by the Ethics Committee of the IHU Méditerranée infection under n°2016–011. After having informed and collected the consent of the participants, we collected saliva samples from 50 people, including 25 tobacco smokers (15 men, 10 women, median age of 30) and 25 nonsmokers (12 men, 13 women, median age of 28). The collection and processing of samples were performed as previously described [22]. We used SAB agar plates inoculated with 200 µL of PBS as negative controls and then proceeded in the same manner as described above for the *M. smithii* strain.

2.4. Molecular analysis

PCR was performed to confirm the identity of the colonies. Colonies were suspended in 200 µL of ultrapure water (Fisher Scientific), and a sonication step was performed for 30 min. DNA was then extracted with the EZ1 Advanced XL Extraction Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) using 200 µL as the sample volume and 200 µL as the elution volume. Gene amplification and PCR sequencing were performed as previously described [22–24]. Real-time PCR analyses were performed as previously described [25].

3. Results and discussion

We report on the use of chemically produced hydrogen for the isolation and culture of methanogens as an alternative to the currently used biological method [17]. The method we report is based on the production of hydrogen resulting from the chemical reaction between iron filings and a weak acid such as acetic acid. All reported results were validated by negative controls that remained negative, and the colonies were identified by autofluorescence and PCR-based analyses.

We first determined an optimal balance between the concentration of iron filings and acetic acid to maintain the production of hydrogen over several days at a relative concentration compatible with the isolation and culture of methanogens. These preliminary experiments enabled the development of a safe and controlled production of hydrogen that was shown to be efficient in the culture of *M. oralis* and *M. smithii* reference strains.

In the first step, we measured the average redox potential and pH values of the various media investigated here. The pH and redox potential of the controls consisting of distilled water and SAB broth culture medium were 7 and +81.3 mV and 7.3 and -11.9 mV, respectively. After incubation at 37 °C for 3, 6 and 9 days, these values were 6.98, 6.92 and 6.87 units and +64.6 mV, +67.3 mV and +79.9 mV for distilled water; and 6.83, 6.78 and 6.27 units and +11.1 mV, +12.9 mV and +14.8 mV for the SAB broth culture medium, respectively (Table 1). These results agree with previous observations that most types of water, including tap water and bottled water, are oxidizing agents, and the value of their redox potential is positive, $\geq 20 \text{ mV}$ [26]. The addition of antioxidants in the SAB medium makes this culture medium reductive. Then, the pH and redox potential of distilled water enriched with iron filings and acetic acid (chemical method) were measured at 5.23, 5.16 and 5.08 units and +109.77 mV, +108.6 mV and +112.7 mV, respectively (Table 2). These values were 5.8, 5.25, and 5.24 units and +113.8 mV, +113.8 mV and +114.5 mV at day 3, day 6 and day 9 for the SAB culture medium incubated with B. thetaiotaomicron, respectively (Table 2). These data indicated that the cultivation of B. thetaiotaomicron in the SAB medium releases fermenting compounds such as CO2, hydrogen and acetate, which could oxidize the SAB medium [26]. Then, we measured these values in the Petri dishes placed in the upper compartment of the double-chamber system, which hosted the methanogen culture (Fig. 1). The redox potential values were -28.1 mV, -81.2 mV and -108.9 mV at day 3, day 6 and day 9 for distilled water, respectively, and +13.5 mV, -116.5 mV and -77.5 mV at day 3, day 6 and day 9 for the SAB culture broth in the chemical method, respectively. For biological method, the redox potential the values were -4.5 mV, -66 mV and -91.6 mV at day 3, day 6 and day 9 for distilled water, respectively, and +19.1 mV, -7.1 mV

Table 2

pH and redox potential of the lower compartment.

Methods	Redox pot	ential (mV)	pH			
	D3	D6	D9	D3	D6	D9
Chemical method Biological method	+109.77 +113.8	$^{+108.6}_{+113.8}$	$^{+112.7}_{+114.5}$	5.23 5.8	5.16 5.25	5.08 5.24

mV = millivolts; D: day.

and –34.9 mV at day 3, day 6 and day 9 for the SAB culture broth in the biological method, respectively (Table 1). These data indicated that the hydrogen, being a reducer released into the bottom compartment, reaches the upper compartment and reduces the SAB medium or the water placed in the Petri dishes in the upper compartment [27].

In a second step, by culturing the reference methanogen strains in the presence of the negative and positive controls, we obtained hydrogen production in all tubes and observed a correlation in the hydrogen production, the amount of iron filings used and the acid acetic concentration. The hydrogen production using the chemical method was maintained until day 5, and the average pH values of the mixture were 4.09 ± 0.15 and 4.35 ± 0.23 in the SAB culture broth and distilled water, respectively. *M. oralis* colonies that were confirmed by PCR sequencing were visible on day 3 postinoculation using the chemical method (Supplementary Fig. 1). The negative control consisting of PBS inoculation instead of *M. oralis* remained negative.

To compare the chemical method with the biological method, M. smithii was inoculated in SAB agar plates using both methods. Using the chemical method, inoculation of SAB agar plates with M. smithii yielded colonies as early as day 3 postinoculation, whereas they appeared on day 9 using the biological method (Supplementary Fig. 1, Supplementary Fig. 2). All negative controls remained negative. The colonies were confirmed using PCR sequencing and real-time PCR. The average number of colonies of M. smithii was significantly higher with the chemical method than with the biological method, regardless of the day of follow-up (Student's test, p < 0.0001, p < 0.001 and p = 0.0001 for day 3, day 6 and day 9 postinoculation, respectively) (Table 3). Moreover, cultures of these two strains were obtained in three days using the chemical method rather than in nine days using the biological method [17]. In addition, the chemical method was easier to set up than the biological method because it incorporated distilled water instead of SAB culture broth, in contrast to the biological method in which only SAB culture broth can be used. Additionally, the biological method requires maintaining a B. thetaiotaomicron culture in the exponential growth phase to release efficient hydrogen production, which is not the case for the chemical method.

Finally, we compared the ability of the chemical method and the biological method to isolate methanogens from 50 saliva samples collected from 50 individuals after 9 days of incubation. The number of positive samples was 6/50 (12%) at day 3 post

Та	bl	e	1

Controls of pH and redox potential.

Redox potential of the bottom compartment									
Controls		Redox potential (mV)				pH			
	D0	D3	D6	D9	D0	D3	D6	D9	
Distilled water	+81.3	+64.6	+67.3	+79.9	7	6.98	6.92	6.87	
SAB medium	-8.7	+11.1	+12.9	+14.8	7.3	6.83	6.78	6.27	
Redox potential of the upper compartment									
Distilled water		-28.1	-81.2	-108.9		-4.5	-66	-91.6	
SAB medium		+13.5	-116.5	-77.5		+19.1	-7.1	-34.9	

mV = millivolts; D: day.

C.O. Guindo et al. / Anaerobe 61 (2020) 102128



Fig. 1. Aerobic culture of methanogens in a double-chamber system on agar plates using either a microbiological method for hydrogen production (red arrow) or a chemical method for hydrogen production investigated here (blue arrow). (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

Table 3

4

Comparison of the two methods according to the average of the colonies counted by Ima	ageJ.
---	-------

Methods	Chemical method		Biological method			P-value			
	D3	D6	D9	D3	D6	D9	D3	D6	D9
<i>M. smithii</i> Saliva samples Negative controls	377 ± 72 190 ± 90 0	659 ± 168 509 ± 133 0	1116 ± 193 700 ± 232 0	0 305 ± 139 0	0 722 ± 96 0	436 ± 74 936 ± 136 0	<0.0001 0.09 NA	<0.001 0.005 NA	0.0001 0.04 NA

NA: Not adapted; D: Day.

inoculation using both methods, and one additional saliva sample was positive at day 6, so that a total of 7/50 (14%) were positive using both methods. No additional sample was positive at day 9 postinoculation, regardless of the culture method. In these 7 culture-positive saliva samples, the average number of colonies at day 6 and day 9 postinoculation was significantly higher using the biological method than using the chemical method (Student's test, p = 0.005 and p = 0.04, respectively), whereas there was no significant difference in the average number of colonies on day 3 (Student's test, p = 0.09) (Table 1). Cultures from 6/25 (24%) of the samples from tobacco smokers yielded colonies as early as day 3 in both methods versus 1/25 (4%) of the samples from nonsmokers at day 6 in both methods. Colonies yielded autofluorescence in both methods (Fig. 2 and Fig. 3), whereas no colony or autofluorescence was observed in the negative controls. PCR sequencing and realtime PCR identified three M. oralis-positive and three M. smithiipositive samples in the tobacco smoker samples and one M. oralispositive sample in one nonsmoker sample (Supplementary Fig. 2). Applying the chemical method for the isolation of M. oralis from saliva samples vielded significantly more colonies more rapidly than the biological method used in parallel. We hypothesized that the chemical method allowed the kinetics of hydrogen production to be mastered in such a way to optimize the atmosphere in the double-chamber system used in our experiments. These results show that the chemical method is more effective than the biological method for the rapid culture of methanogens. Accordingly, the

M. oralis and M. smithii is in agreement with a previously published report [22]. Interestingly, we confirmed that methanogens are more prevalent in the saliva from tobacco smokers than in the saliva collected from nonsmokers. These results are consistent with those found previously [22], in which there was also a predominance of M. oralis over M. smithii in saliva samples. These observations also confirm that M. oralis is the most prevalent methanogen in the oral cavity. We measured the redox potential in the culture using the chemical method to monitor whether this chemical reaction led to anaerobiosis. Our results indicate that this chemical reaction is reducing and confirm that acetic acid is an efficient oxidizer of iron filings [20]. The pH of the agar plates remained neutral throughout the inoculation period both in the chemical method and the biological method; this observation suggests that the acidity produced in the lower compartment of the double-chamber device in the chemical method does not reach the upper compartment. The present study highlighted some advantages of the

observation that almost a quarter of the saliva samples contained

The present study highlighted some advantages of the chemical method over the biological method. The chemical method is simple to set up, the hydrogen production is controlled so that the first colonies appear quickly due to the immediate hydrogen production, and this chemical method can be performed with both distilled water and SAB culture broth. Given the simplicity, speed and efficiency of this chemical method of hydrogen production, it could replace the biological method

C.O. Guindo et al. / Anaerobe 61 (2020) 102128

Fig. 2. (A) Fluorescence emitted by M. smithii by applying the blue filter set. (B) Fluorescence emitted by M. smithii by applying the green filter set. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)



Fig. 3. (A) Fluorescence emitted by *M. oralis* by applying the blue filter set. (B) Fluorescence emitted by *M. oralis* by applying the green filter set. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

incorporating *B. thetaiotaomicron* in the isolation and culture of methanogens. Using the chemical method will improve the routine isolation and culture of methanogens in microbiology laboratories to ease and speed the isolation and culture of these opportunistic pathogens [1] and rarely encountered *Methanomassiliicoccales*, of medical interest as potential archaeobiotics [28–30].

Α

Acknowledgements

COG and GG benefit from Ph.D. grants from the Fondation Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France. This work was supported by the French Government under the «Investissements d'avenir» (Investments for the Future) program managed by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR, fr: National Agency for Research), (reference: Méditerranée Infection 10-IAHU-03). This work was supported by Région Sud (Provence Alpes Côte d'Azur) and European funding FEDER PRIMMI.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102128.

References

- E. Sogodogo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic abscesses, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 2 (2019) 19–25.
- [2] B. Dridi, M. Henry, A. El Khéchine, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, High prevalence of Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanosphaera stadtmanae detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol, PLoS One 4 (2009), e7063.
- [3] U. Deppenmeier, T. Lienard, G. Gottschalk, Novel reactions involved in energy conservation by methanogenic archaea, FEBS Lett. 457 (1999) 291–297.
- [4] U. Depenmeire, Redox-driven proton transform in methanogenic Archaea, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 59 (2002) 1513–1533.
- [5] S. Chatterjee, S. Park, K. Low, Y. Kong, M. Pimentel, The Degree of breath methane production in IBS correlates with the severity of constipation, Am. J. Gastroenterol. 102 (4) (2007) 837–841.
- [6] H. Zhang, J.K. DiBaise, A. Zuccolo, D. Kudrna, M. Braidotti, Y. Yu, et al., Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106 (2009) 2365–2370.
- [7] J.M. Piqué, M. Pallarés, E. Cusó, J. Vilar-Bonet, M.A. Gassull, Methane production and colon cancer, Gastroenterology 87 (1984) 601–605.
- [8] R. Holma, R. Korpela, U. Sairanen, M. Blom, M. Rautio, T. Poussa, et al., Colonic methane production modifies gastrointestinal toxicity associated with adjuvant 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy for colorectal cancer, J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 47 (1) (2013) 45–51.
- [9] S.B. Ghavami, E. Rostami, A.A. Sephay, S. Shahrokh, H. Balaii, H.A. Aghdaei, et al., Alterations of the human gut *Methanobevibacter smithil* as a biomarker for inflammatory bowel diseases, *Microb. Pathog.* 117 (2018) 285–289.
- [10] N. Belay, B. Mukhopadhyay, E. Conway de Macario, R. Galask, L. Daniels,

В

C.O. Guindo et al. / Anaerobe 61 (2020) 102128

Methanogenic bacteria in human vaginal samples, J. Clin. Microbiol. 28 (1990) 1666–1668.

conditions, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 42 (2) (2017) 795-806.

- [21] S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, A versatile medium for cultivating methanogenic archaea, PLoS One 8 (2013), e61563.
- [11] G. Grine, H. Drouet, F. Fenollar, F. Bretelle, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Detection of Methanobrevibacter smithii in vaginal samples collected from women diagnosed with bacterial vaginosis, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 21 (2019) 34–36.
- [12] M. Drancourt, V.D. Nkamga, N.A. Lakhe, J.M. Régis, H. Dufour, P.E. Fournier, et al., Evidence of Archaeal methanogens in brain abscess, Clin. Infect. Dis. 65 (2017) 1–5.
- [13] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, D. Chirio, M. Lonjon, P.M. Roger, M. Drancourt, et al., Methanobrevibacter oralis detected along with Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans in a series of community-acquired brain abscesses, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 24 (2018) 207–208.
- [14] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, P.M. Roger, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Methanobrevibacter smithii and Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron cultivated from a chronic paravertebral muscle abscess, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 22 (2016) 1008–1009.
- [15] J.L. Garcia, B.K. Patel, B. Ollivier, Taxonomic, phylogenetic, and ecological diversity of methanogenic Archaea, Anaerobe 6 (2000) 205–226.
- [16] A. Ferrari, T. Brusa, A. Rutili, E. Canzi, B. Biavati, Isolation and characterization of Methanobrevibacter oralis sp. nov. Curr. Microbiol. 29 (1994) 7–12.
- [17] S. Khelaifia, J.C. Lagier, V.D. Nkamga, E. Guilhot, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult, Aerobic culture of methanogenic archaea without an external source of hydrogen, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 35 (2016) 985–991.
- S.İ. Traore, S. Khelaifia, N. Armstrong, J.C. Lagier, D. Raoult, Isolation and culture of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* by co-culture with hydrogen-producing bacteria on agar plates, Clin, Microbiol. Infect. 12 (2019) 45–47.
 A. Boddien, B. Loges, F. Gärtner, C. Torborg, K. Fumino, H. Junge, et al., Iron-
- [19] A. Boddien, B. Loges, F. Gärtner, C. Torborg, K. Fumino, H. Junge, et al., Ironcatalyzed hydrogen production from formic acid, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 8924–8934.
- [20] C. Crouzet, F. Brunet, N. Recham, N. Findling, M. Lanson, F. Guyot, et al., Hydrogen production by hydrothermal oxidation of FeO under acidic

- [22] G. Grine, E. Terrer, M.A. Boualam, G. Aboudharam, H. Chaudet, R. Ruimy, et al., Tobacco-smoking-related prevalence of methanogens in the oral fluid microbiota, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 23–26.
 [23] G. Grine, M.A. Boualam, M. Drancourt, Methanobrevibacter smithii, a metha-
- [23] G. Grine, M.A. BOUdiam, M. Drancourt, *Wethanobreviolacter smithl*, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 36 (2017) 2449–2455.
- [24] V.D. Nkamga, H.T.T. Huynh, G. Aboudharam, R. Ruimy, M. Drancourt, Diversity of human-associated Methanobrevibacter smithii solates revealed by multispacer sequence typing, Curr. Microbiol. 70 (2015) 810–815.
- [25] A. Bringuier, S. Khelaifia, H. Richet, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, Real-time PCR quantification of Methanobrevibacter oralis in periodontitis, J. Clin. Microbiol. 51 (2013) 993–994.
- [26] S. Adamberg, K. Tomson, H. Vija, M. Puurand, N. Kabanova, T. Visnapuu, et al., Degradation of fructans and production of propionic acid by *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* are enhanced by the shortage of amino acids, Front. Nut. 1 (2014) 54-60.
- [27] R.K. Thauer, A.K. Kaster, H. Seedorf, W. Buckel, R. Hedderich, Methanogenic archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 6 (2008) 579–591.
- [28] B. Dridi, M.L. Fardeau, B. Ollivier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeou isolated from human faeces, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 62 (2012) 1902–1907.
- [29] A. Gorlas, C. Robert, G. Gimenez, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult, Complete genome sequence of Methanomassilicoccus luminyensis, the largest genome of a human-associated Archaea species, J. Bacteriol. 194 (2012) 4745.
- [30] J.F. Brugère, G. Borrel, N. Gaci, W. Tottey, P.W. O'Toole, C. Malpuech-Brugère, Archaebiotics: proposed therapeutic use of archaea to prevent trimethylaminuria and cardiovascular disease, Gut Microb, 5 (2014) 5–10.

Article 3

Rapid identification of clinically interesting methanogens using an

improved MALDI-TOF-MS assay.

C.O. Guindo, L. Amir, C. Couderc, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Accepté dans Access Microbiology.

Access Microbiology

Rapid identification of clinically interesting methanogens using an improved MALDI-TOF-MS assay. --Manuscript Draft--

Manua and A Manua and	
Manuschpt Number:	AUMI-D-21-00225K1
Full Title:	Rapid identification of clinically interesting methanogens using an improved MALDI- TOF-MS assay.
Article Type:	Research Article
Keywords:	Methanogens, culture, identification, multispacer sequence typing, MALDI-TOF-MS, clinical microbiology
Order of Authors:	Cheick Oumar GUINDO
	Lynda Amir
	Carine Couderc
	Michel Drancourt
	Ghiles Grine
Abstract:	Methanogens, the archaea uniquely detoxifying fermentative hydrogen into methane in the digestive tract, are increasingly detected in pathology situations, rendering their rapid identification mandatory. We improved the experimental protocol to identify broth- cultured methanogens by matrix-assisted laser desorption time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDITOF-MS). A database incorporating 34 reference spectra derived from 16 methanogen reference strains representative of eight species, supported further identification of 21 Methanobrevibacter smithil and 14 Methanobrevibacter oralis isolates broth-cultured from human stol and oral fluid, respectively, with scores > 2. In addition, MALDI-TOF-MS differentiated five
First Author:	Cheick Oumar GUINDO
Corresponding Author:	Ghiles GRINE IHU Méditerranée Infection: IHU Mediterranee Infection FRANCE
Manuscript Region of Origin:	FRANCE
Author Comments:	The authors clarify that the submitted manuscript has been accepted as a pre-print in biorxiv website "https://www.biorxiv.org/". Reference: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.23.469664.
Opposed Reviewers:	
Suggested Reviewers:	
Additional Information:	
Question	Response
Does this article report on work with humans or animals?	Yes
Have you included a statement in the manuscript that the Ethical Committee of the institution in which the work was done has approved the work? as follow-up to "Does this article report on work with humans or animals? "	Yes
Does this article include details (names, initials, hospital numbers), images, or	No

videos	relating	to	an	individual	person?
		~~~	· · · ·	manuala	00.00

CONFIDENTIAL



Microbes, Evolution, Phylogeny and Infection

Access Microbiology

To the Editor

Marseille November 29, 2021

Dear Editor,

Please find enclosed the original manuscript entitled "Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry identification of methanogens of clinical interest" that I would like to submit to Access Microbiology journal.

The aim of this study is to establish a reliable, rapid, and reproducible diagnostic protocol to identify methanogens of clinical interest by matrix-assisted laser desorption time-of-flight mass spectrometry for use in routine diagnostic.

Thank you in advance for your consideration of this manuscript.

Sincerely Yours,

Ghiles GRINE, Corresponding author

Response to Reviewer

Click here to access/download Response to Reviewer Response letter.docx Manuscript with tracked changes

Click here to access/download Manuscript with tracked changes Revised Manuscript.docx

1	REVISED VERSION
2	Rapid identification of clinically interesting methanogens using an improved MALDI-TOF-
3	MS assay.
4	
5	Cheick Oumar Guindo ^{1,2} , Lynda Amir ^{1,2} , Carine Couderc ³ ,
6	Michel Drancourt ^{1,2,3} , Ghiles Grine ^{1,2} *.
7	
8	¹ IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France.
9	² Aix-Marseille-Université, IRD, IHU Méditerranée, MEPHI, Marseille, France.
10	³ Laboratoire de Microbiologie, Assistance Publique à Marseille, IHU Méditerranée Infection,
11	Marseille, France.
12	
13	*Corresponding author : Ghiles GRINE, PhD
14	IHU Méditerranée Infection, UMR MEPHI
15	19-21, Bd Jean Moulin 13005 Marseille, France. Tel: +33 (0)4 13 73 24 01, fax: + 33 (0) 13 73
16	24 02.
17	Email: grineghiles@gmail.com
18	

19

±

## 20 ABSTRACT

- 21 Methanogens, the archaea uniquely detoxifying fermentative hydrogen into methane in the
- 22 digestive tract, are increasingly detected in pathology situations, rendering their rapid
- 23 identification mandatory. We improved the experimental protocol to identify broth-cultured
- 24 methanogens by matrix-assisted laser desorption time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-
- 25 TOF-MS). A database incorporating 34 reference spectra derived from 16 methanogen reference
- 26 strains representative of eight species, supported further identification of 21 *Methanobrevibacter*
- 27 *smithii* and 14 *Methanobrevibacter oralis* isolates broth-cultured from human stool and oral
- 28 fluid, respectively, with scores > 2. In addition, MALDI-TOF-MS differentiated five
- 29 Methanobrevibacter smithii genotypes incorporated in the study. Data here reported found
- 30 MALDI-TOF-MS as a first line identification method for methanogens recovered from
- 31 microbiota and clinical samples.
- 32
- 33 Keywords: Methanogens, culture, identification, multispacer sequence typing, MALDI-TOF-
- 34 MS, clinical microbiology.

## 36 1. INTRODUCTION

Methanogens are acknowledged members of the digestive tract microbiota where these strictly 37 38 aero intolerant archaea are detoxifying molecular hydrogen issued from anaerobic bacterial fermentation, into methane [1,2]. They are the only sources of methane [2]. Accordingly, the oral 39 40 and gut cavities of virtually all humans harbor methanogens, with respect to this indispensable 41 physiological role, and eight different species of methanogens have been detected and cultured 42 from the oral and intestinal microbiota [3,4]. More specifically, Methanobrevibacter smithii (M. 43 smithii), Methanobrevibacter oralis (M. oralis) and Methanobrevibacter massiliense have been isolated from the oral cavity, whereas M. smithii, M. oralis, Methanosphaera stadtmanae (M. 44 stadtmanae). Methanomassiliicoccus luminvensis (M. luminvensis). Methanobrevibacter 45 arboriphilicus (M. arboriphilicus), "Candidatus" Methanomethylophilus alvus and 46 "Candidatus" Methanomassiliicoccus intestinalis have been isolated from stools [3,5,6]. Other 47 methanogens including Methanosarcina mazei (M. mazei), Methanoculleus chikugoensis, 48 49 Methanoculleus bourgensis, Methanobacterium congolense have been PCR-detected in the gut 50 microbiota but not cultured yet from clinical specimens [4]. Methanogens are emerging pathogens increasingly detected in various situations of 51 52 pathology, such as dysbiosis, abscesses [2]; and more recently archaeamia [6]. In all these 53 pathological situations, methanogens have been always detected in the presence of bacteria, including Enterobacteriaceae, Staphylococci and Streptococci. 54 Owing to this increasing role in diverse pathological processes supported by the isolation 55 and culture of methanogens in the clinical microbiology laboratory, there is a demand for a 56

- 57 routine and specific method of identification of these still unusual microorganisms in clinical
- 58 microbiology. Variable microscopic morphological aspects ranging from single coccobacillary

59	for <i>M. smithil</i> , pairs or short chains oval rods for <i>M. oralis</i> , single cell cocci for <i>M. luminyensis</i>
60	and pairs or tetrads cocci for M. stadtmanae, may not be specific enough for the accurate
61	identification of methanogens [5]. Fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) added to specificity
62	of the microscopic examination of methanogens in clinical specimens but is yet too laborious for
63	a routine usage [7]. Accordingly, the firm identification of cultured methanogens still relies upon
64	the detection of species-species DNA sequences [7,8]. However, DNA-based identification
65	methods delay identification as current archaeal DNA extraction protocols add 3-24 hours to
66	one-hour real-time PCR protocol or 3-hour PCR-sequencing protocol when looking for
67	methanogen species [9]. Potential carry-over of DNA resulting in false-positive results as well as
68	the cost of PCR-based protocols may also limit their use for the routine identification of
69	methanogen colonies so that a more appropriate method is desired for this purpose.
70	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS)
71	is currently the first-line method for identification of bacteria and yeasts cultured in clinical
72	microbiology as this method precisely overcomes the potential limitations of PCR-based
73	methods as reported above [10]. In addition, the benefit of MALDI-TOF over sequencing is that
74	the downstream is quicker, which would be important for a screening/clinical point of view[10].
75	The rapid and reproducible identification of some environmental archaea by MALDI- TOF-MS
76	has been reported by some authors [11,12]. In addition, in another study, the authors succeeded
77	in identifying by MALDI- TOF-MS some strains of methanogens of clinical interest for humans
78	at a time when isolation and culture of methanogens was still in its infancy in clinical
79	microbiology laboratories [13]. However, the authors of this study used a tedious protein
80	extraction protocol including the use of glass beads during the lysis phase [13] making it very

81 difficult to use this method for routine identification of methanogens of clinical interest clinical82 microbiology laboratories.

Here, following improvements in experimental and informatic protocols, we are reporting
on the MALDI-TOF-MS identification of broth-cultured methanogens, renewing interest in
MALDI-TOF-MS-based identification of methanogens of clinical interest.

- 86
- 87 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 88 2.1 Methanogen clinical isolates and strains.

Sixteen reference strains of methanogens available in the Collection de Souches de l'Unité des 89 Rickettsies (CSUR, Marseille, France) were used to create a MALDI-TOF-MS reference 90 database (Table 1). These sixteen reference strains of methanogens were subcultured in broth 91 using a culture protocol previously established in our laboratory [14] and their identification was 92 firmly confirmed by PCR-sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene, as previously described [15]. 93 Further clinical isolates were made from mucosa-associated specimens as previously described 94 [16,17]. In total, 35 clinical isolates included 21 stool isolates and 14 oral swab isolates, 95 96 identified by PCR-sequencing targeting 16S rRNA Archaea and cultured in broth for nine days 97 before being assessed by MALDI-TOF-MS against the MALDI-TOF reference database. 98 Furthermore, we performed multispacer sequence typing (MST) of M. smithii 21 clinical 99 isolates. The multispacer sequence typing technique and analysis was performed on each of the 100 M. smithii clinical isolates according to the previously described protocol [9,18–20]. This part of 101 the study was previously approved by the Ethics Committee of the University-Hospital Institute 102 (IHU) Méditerranée Infection under n° 2016-020 and participants were given all information about the process of the study and gave informed consent before participation in this study. 103

## 104 2.2 Methanogens MALDI-TOF-MS reference database.

We used a protocol of the manufacturer MALDI Biotyper® (Bruker Daltonics, Wissembourg, 105 106 France), adding two additional washing steps to remove the culture medium as well as extending the centrifugation time after the ethanol addition step. Briefly, one milliliter of archaeal 107 108 suspension corresponding to 108 UFC/mL transferred into a sterile Eppendorf tube (Fisher 109 Scientific, Illkirch, France) was centrifuged at 17,000 g for 30 minutes. The pellet was suspended 110 into 500 µL of High Purity Liquid Chromatography water or HPLC water (VWR International, 111 Strasbourg, France), vortexed, and centrifuged at 17,000 g for 10 minutes and this washing step was repeated twice. The pellet was suspended in 300 uL of HPLC water (VWR International), 112 homogenized by pipetting, and 900 µL of ethanol absolute for HPLC Chromanorm (VWR 113 International, Fontenay-sous-Bois, France) were added and homogenized by pipetting. After 5-114 min centrifugation at 17,000 g, the pellet was suspended in 50 uL of 70% formic acid and 50 uL 115 of acetonitrile and vortexed for ten seconds. After a final 2-min centrifugation at 17000g, 1.5 µL 116 of supernatant was deposited in one of a MALDI-TOF 96 MSP target polished steel BC ref 117 number: 8280800 (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) and 10 spots were deposited for 118 each methanogen species. After drying, each spot was coated with 1.5 µL of a matrix solution 119 120 consisting of saturated α-cyano-4-hydroxycynnamic acid or HCCA (C2020 Sigma, Lyon, 121 France), 50% acetonitrile (CarboErba for HPLC) 2,5% trifluoroacetic acid or TFA (Uvasol for spectrometry, Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) and 47.5% HPLC water (VWR International). After 122 drying in ambient air, the target plate was introduced into the Microflex LT® MALDI-TOF-MS 123 device (Bruker Daltonics). Each spot was then analyzed with the help of FlexControl version 3.4 124 acquisition software and MALDI Biotyper® Compass version 4.1.80 (MBT Compass) analysis 125 software. Positive control consisted of a protein extract Bacterial Test Standard Bruker ref: 126

127 8255343. Non-inoculated media and matrix solutions were used as negative controls. Also, to

128 prevent any cross-contamination, every MALDI-TOF plate (Bruker Daltonics) used in the study,

129 was thoroughly cleaned to remove any previous deposits of other microorganisms. The MALDI-

- 130 TOF plate was first soaked in 70% ethanol (Absolute for HPLC Chromanorm) for 15 min then
- 131 rinsed with HPLC water (VWR International). We subsequently stripped the MALDI-TOF plate

132 with 500 μL of 80% TFA (Sigma-Aldrich) while gently scrubbing and then rinsed with HPLC

133 water (VWR International), to thoroughly clean the plate under a chemical hood.

## 134 **2.3 Reference MALDI-TOF profiling reproducibility.**

135 For each of the sixteen methanogen reference strains tested, ten deposits were made on MALDI-

136 TOF-MS plate and all experiments were performed on day 9 of culture corresponding to the

137 optimal growth period approved by Ct score of 18 using Real-time PCR [14,17,19].

## 138 2.4 Blind MALDI-TOF identification and clustering of methanogen clinical isolates.

139 MALDI Biotyper® version 4.1.80 software (Bruker Daltonics) was used to create reference

140 spectra for blind identification.

Spectral references (MSP) are created using Biotyper® MSP Creation Standard Method. Five raw spectra were used for creating an MSP for each species. We performed the experiments in triplicate and a total of 34 MSP were found to be of very good quality and therefore used as a reference database. We compared the 35 clinical isolates to this database.

145

## 146 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

147 We improved the MALDI-TOF-MS protocol for identifying cultured methanogens after a

148 specific database was created, allowing for the rapid and routine identification of colonies issued

149 from clinical specimens collected from mucosa-associated specimens and pathological

specimens. The data here reported were validated by the negativity of the negative controls

151 introduced in every one of the experimental steps and the reproducibility of data which were

152 correlated with PCR-sequencing molecular identification used as the gold standard.

The database was created after three independent runs, each incorporating 10 spots for 153 154 each one of 16 methanogen reference strains. We obtained a total of 270 spectra and 135 spectra 155 (50%) analyzed of good quality, were incorporated in the database. We therefore set up a 156 database with 34 reference spectra. We then blindly tested the identification of these 16 reference 157 strains using the updated local database by analyzing five spots for each of them. We obtained a correct identification of these different spots with scores > 2 for each of the reference strains. We 158 observed a unique protein profile for each one of methanogen reference strains studied (Fig.1 159 and Fig.2). We did not observe any spectra on the negative controls (Fig.3). There are fifteen 160 different MST genotypes of *M. smithii* among *M. smithii* strains known in humans according to a 161 previous study [18]. The multispacer sequence typing is used as the first-line method for 162 163 genotyping M. smithii strains found in humans. It allows the differentiation of M. smithii strains isolated from humans [18]. We observed a difference in the number and intensity of spectra 164 between M. smithii strains from different MST genotypes (Fig.2B). These observations proved 165 166 the reproducibility and the inter-species specificity of the method. These data confirmed the 167 ability of MALDI-TOF-MS to identify archaea cultured in broth, as previously reported in a proof-of-concept study using a difficult protein extraction protocol [13]. We further tested our 168 database against all the MALDI-TOF-MS databases available in our laboratory, incorporating 169 16,908 spectra representative of 12,290 different microbial species i.e., 4,335 bacteria, 5,989 170 parasites and 1,966 fungi, and no identification was observed which proved the specificity of our 171 spectra and an absence of contaminating spectra. Genotyping the 21 clinical isolates of M. 172

*smithii* revealed five different genotypes. Genotype 1 was found in 10/21 (47.76%); genotype 2
in 5/21 (23.80%); genotype 3 in 3/21 (14.28%); genotypes 5 in 2 /21 (9.52%) and genotype 6 in
1/21 (4.76%). These results confirm the predominance of the MST1 genotype in clinical isolates
of *M. smithii* found in the human digestive tract [9,19].

We then used the reference database for the identification of clinical isolates of M. smithii 177 178 and M. oralis obtained by broth culture of human stool and oral fluid, respectively. We obtained 179 a correct identification of all the clinical isolates tested with scores >2 i.e., 21/21 (100%) for M. 180 smithii and 14/14 (100%) for M. oralis, respectively. We noticed that for a good identification by MALDI-TOF-MS of the M. smithii species, it is necessary to incorporate a larger set of reference 181 spectra of M. smithii of different MST genotype in the reference database due to the diversity 182 observed within this species [9,18,19], which results in different spectral profiles depending on 183 each MST genotype as obtained in our study. To confirm this hypothesis, we repeated the blind 184 test with only two reference strains of M. smithii with different MST genotype i.e., M. smithii 185 CSURP5816 of MST genotype 3, and M. smithii CSURP5922 of MST genotype 2. We observed 186 that with these two reference strains, we obtained only 23% (5/21) of correct identification with 187 scores> 2 and 19% (4/21) with scores> 1.7. Our results demonstrate the need for rapid expansion 188 189 of the MALDI-TOF-MS database to incorporate isolates of clinical interest. 190 The results here confirmed the proof-of-concept study carried out in our laboratory in which MALDI-TOF-MS was able to perfectly identify the methanogens and environmental 191 archaea [13]. We further observed that MALDI-TOF-MS could differentiate between different 192 genotypes of *M. smithii*, opening the possibility to use MALDI-TOF-MS as a first line typing 193 method for this species of prime clinical interest. We are implanting the experimental protocol 194 and MALDI-TOF-MS methanogen database in the workflow of our clinical microbiology 195

9

- 196 laboratory, for the routine, rapid identification of methanogens of clinical interest. The MALDI-
- 197 TOF MS database created in this study are available on the website of the University-Hospital
- 198 Institute (IHU) Méditerranée Infection on the link <u>https://www.mediterranee-</u>
- 199 infection.com/acces-ressources/base-de-donnees/urms-data-base/. This database is accessible to
- 200 the entire scientific community.

## 201 ETHICS APPROVAL

- 202 Before using mucosa-associated specimens for culture, we have obtained the approval from the
- 203 Ethics Committee of the University-Hospital Institute (IHU) Méditerranée Infection under n°
- 204 2016-020 and participants were given all information about the process of the study and gave
- 205 informed consent before participation in this study.

## 206 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

207 We thank Amael FADLANE for his help and assistance in the conservation of methanogen

208 strains.

## 209 AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

- 210 COG Collection of samples, study design, manipulations, data information, results interpretation,
- 211 draft writing; LA Study design, data information; CC Results interpretation, draft writing; MD
- 212 Supervision, study design, draft writing; GG Supervision, study design, draft writing.

## 213 FUNDING

214 COG benefits from a PhD training course grant from Fondation Méditerranée Infection,215 Marseille, France.

## 216 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- 217 The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare for this work. In particular, the Brucker
- 218 Daltonics society did not interfere at all with any decision regarding the experimental work, nor
- the decision to publish data.

## 221 REFERENCES

- 222 [1] E. Sogodogo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic
- abscesses, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 38 (2019) 811–818.
- 224 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03510-5.
- 225 [2] C.O. Guindo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles
- of human microbiota-associated methanogens, Microbial Pathogenesis. (2020) 104425.
- 227 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104425.
- 228 [3] N. Gaci, G. Borrel, W. Tottey, P.W. O'Toole, J.-F. Brugère, Archaea and the human gut:
- 229 New beginning of an old story, WJG. 20 (2014) 16062.
- 230 https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i43.16062.
- 231 [4] V.D. Nkamga, B. Henrissat, M. Drancourt, Archaea: Essential inhabitants of the human
- 232 digestive microbiota, Human Microbiome Journal. 3 (2017) 1-8.
- 233 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humic.2016.11.005.
- [5] B. Dridi, Laboratory tools for detection of archaea in humans, Clinical Microbiology and
- 235 Infection. 18 (2012) 825–833. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03952.x.
- [6] M. Drancourt, K. Djemai, F. Gouriet, G. Grine, A. Loukil, M. Bedotto, A. Levasseur, H.
  Lepidi, J. Bou-Khalil, S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, Methanobrevibacter smithii archaemia in
  febrile patients with bacteremia, including those with endocarditis, Clinical Infectious
- 239 Diseases. (2020) ciaa998. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa998.
- 240 [7] L. Raskin, J.M. Stromley, B.E. Rittmann, D.A. Stahl, Group-specific 16S rRNA
- 241 hybridization probes to describe natural communities of methanogens, Appl Environ
- 242 Microbiol. 60 (1994) 1232–1240. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.60.4.1232-1240.1994.

- 243 [8] P.E. Luton, J.M. Wayne, R.J. Sharp, P.W. Riley, The mcrA gene as an alternative to 16S
- rRNA in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogen populations in landfill, Microbiology

245 (Reading). 148 (2002) 3521–3530. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-148-11-3521.

- 246 [9] Y. Sereme, C.O. Guindo, A. Filleron, P. Corbeau, T.A. Tran, M. Drancourt, J. Vitte, G.
- 247 Grine, Meconial Methanobrevibacter smithii suggests intrauterine methanogen colonization
- in preterm neonates, Current Research in Microbial Sciences. (2021) 100034.
- 249 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100034.
- 250 [10] P. Seng, M. Drancourt, F. Gouriet, B. La Scola, P. Fournier, J.M. Rolain, D. Raoult,
- 251 Ongoing Revolution in Bacteriology: Routine Identification of Bacteria by Matrix-
- 252 Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time- of- Flight Mass Spectrometry, CLIN INFECT
- 253 DIS. 49 (2009) 543–551. https://doi.org/10.1086/600885.
- [11] P. Krader, D. Emerson, Identification of archaea and some extremophilic bacteria using
- 255 matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass
- 256 spectrometry, Extremophiles. 8 (2004) 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00792-004-0382-
- 257

258	[12] CJ. Shih, SC. Chen, CY. Weng, MC. Lai, YL. Yang, Rapid identification of
259	haloarchaea and methanoarchaea using the matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time-
260	of-flight mass spectrometry, Sci Rep. 5 (2015) 16326. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16326.
261	[13] B. Dridi, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight
262	mass spectrometry identification of Archaea: towards the universal identification of living
263	organisms: IDENTIFYING Archaea BY MASS SPECTROMETRY, APMIS. 120 (2012)
264	85–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2011.02833.x.

- 265 [14] S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, A Versatile Medium for Cultivating Methanogenic
- 266 Archaea, PLoS ONE. 8 (2013) e61563. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061563.
- 267 [15] B. Dridi, M. Henry, A. El Khéchine, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, High Prevalence of
- 268 Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanosphaera stadtmanae Detected in the Human Gut
- 269 Using an Improved DNA Detection Protocol, PLoS ONE. 4 (2009) e7063.
- 270 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007063.
- 271 [16] S. Khelaifia, J.-C. Lagier, V.D. Nkamga, E. Guilhot, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult, Aerobic
- 272 culture of methanogenic archaea without an external source of hydrogen, Eur J Clin
- 273 Microbiol Infect Dis. 35 (2016) 985–991. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2627-7.
- 274 [17] C.O. Guindo, E. Terrer, E. Chabrière, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Culture of
- salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen, Anaerobe. 61 (2020)
- 276 102128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102128.
- 277 [18] V.D. Nkamga, H.T.T. Huynh, G. Aboudharam, R. Ruimy, M. Drancourt, Diversity of
- 278 Human-Associated Methanobrevibacter smithii Isolates Revealed by Multispacer Sequence
- 279 Typing, Curr Microbiol. 70 (2015) 810–815. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-015-0787-9.
- [19] G. Grine, M.A. Boualam, M. Drancourt, Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen
   consistently colonising the newborn stomach, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 36 (2017)
   2449–2455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-017-3084-7.
- [20] C.O. Guindo, B. Davoust, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Diversity of Methanogens in Animals'
- Gut, Microorganisms. 9 (2020) 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010013.
- 285 [21] B. Dridi, M.-L. Fardeau, B. Ollivier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Methanomassiliicoccus
- 286 luminyensis gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from human faeces,

287 INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY

288 MICROBIOLOGY. 62 (2012) 1902–1907. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.033712-0.

289

COMETDEMAL

## 290 TABLE

## 291 **Table 1.** Methanogen reference strains used in this study.

292

SPECIES	GENOTYPES	SOURCES	CSUR NUMBERS	ORIGINS
Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis	NA	IHU [21]	CSURP9636	Human stool
Methanosphaera stadtmanae	NA	DSMZ	CSURP9634	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus	NA	DSMZ	CSURP9635	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter smithii	Genotype 3	IHU [16,17]	CSURP5816	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter smithii	Genotype 2	IHU [16,17]	CSURP5922	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter smithii	Genotype 5	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5493	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter smithii	Genotype 1	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5497	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter smithii	Genotype 6	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5501	Human stool
Methanobrevibacter oralis	NA	IHU [16,17]	CSURP5701	Oral fluid
Methanobrevibacter oralis	NA	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5479	Oral fluid
Methanobrevibacter oralis	NA	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5481	Oral fluid
Methanobrevibacter oralis	NA	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5483	Oral fluid
Methanobrevibacter oralis	NA	IHU [16,17]	CSURQ5485	Oral fluid
Methanosarcina mazei	NA	DSMZ	CSURP9637	Environment
Methanosarcina barkeri	NA	DSMZ	CSURP9601	Environment
Methanobacterium beijingense	NA	DSMZ	CSURP9638	Environment

293 NA: Not applicable.

294 IHU: University-Hospital Institute.

295 DSMZ: German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures.

## 297 FIGURES

- 298 Figure 1. Comparison of the sixteen reference methanogen strains MALDI-TOF- MS spectra
- 299 using MALDI Biotyper® version 4.1.80 software (Bruker Daltonics). Normalized gel view
- 300 representation of MS profile intensity of the sixteen reference methanogenic strains used in this

301 study.

- 302 a.u., arbitrary units; m/z, mass-to-charge ratio.
- 303 Figure 2. Representative MS profiles of the sixteen methanogen reference strains studied using
- FlexAnalysis software. (1). MS profiles of *M. beijingense* CSURP9638. (2). MS profiles of *M.*
- arboriphilicus CSURP9635. (3). MS profiles of *M. luminyensis* CSURP9636. (4). MS profiles of
- 306 M. barkeri CSURQ5732. (5). MS profiles of M. smithii CSURP5922. (6). MS profiles of M.
- 307 smithii CSURP5816. (7). MS profiles of M. smithii CSURQ5493. (8). MS profiles of M. smithii
- 308 CSURQ5497. (9). MS profiles of *M. smithii* CSURQ5501. (10). MS profiles of *M. mazei*
- 309 CSURP9637. (11). MS profiles of M. stadtmanae CSURP9634. (12). MS profiles of M. oralis
- 310 CSURP5701. (13). MS profiles of *M. oralis* CSURQ5479. (14). MS profiles of *M. oralis*
- 311 CSURQ5481. (15). MS profiles of *M. oralis* CSURQ5483. (16). MS profiles of *M. oralis*
- 312 CSURQ5485. The sixteen methanogen reference strains are presented in duplicate to
- 313 demonstrate reproducibility of MS profiles.
- a.u., arbitrary units; m/z, mass-to-charge ratio.
- Figure 3. Negative controls used in the MALDI-TOF-MS experiment. Non-inoculated media inblue and matrix solution in red.
- 317 a.u., arbitrary units; m/z, mass-to-charge ratio.

318






# **Chapitre III :** Sources et la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme

# Préambule

La présence de méthanogènes dans le microbiote digestif d'un nouveau-né serait liée en partie au contact avec la maman et à l'allaitement maternel [6]. Une transmission materno-fœtale au cours de la grossesse pourrait aussi être évoquée en raison de la présence de *M. smithii* dans le suc gastrique des nouveau-nés de moins de 24h en absence de toute vaginose [7]. De plus, des études antérieures ont prouvé la présence de bactéries dans le liquide amniotique, le sang du cordon ombilical, le méconium, les membranes placentaires et fœtales en absence de toute infection materno-fœtale [57–73]. Nous avons donc utilisé une approche polyphasique incluant la microscopie et la PCR-séquençage pour investiguer la présence des méthanogènes dans le méconium chez des nouveau-nés prématurés. Nous avons démontré pour la première fois la présence de *M. smithii* dans le méconium montrant ainsi que c'est réellement la période intra-utérine qui constitue le premier moment d'acquisition de ce méthanogène chez l'Homme.

Les méthanogènes font aussi partie du microbiote des mammifères non humains, notamment la vache [74–89]. Une étude récente a démontré une association entre l'acquisition de *M. smithii* chez les enfants et la consommation de produits laitiers [90]. Nous avons caractérisé par biologie moléculaire, les méthanogènes du microbiote digestif des animaux domestiqués par l'Homme ainsi que ceux des produits laitiers pour vérifier si le contact avec les animaux et/ou la consommation du lait/produits laitiers de certains animaux, en particulier la vache pouvaient être considérés comme l'une des sources possibles d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme. Nous avons détecté dans le microbiote digestif de ces animaux domestiques et dans les produits laitiers, des méthanogènes présents dans le microbiote digestif humain. Ces résultats ont permis de confirmer que le contact étroit avec des animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait/ produits laitiers de certains animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait/ produits laitiers de certains de confirmer que le contact étroit avec des animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait/ produits laitiers de certains animaux est l'une des sources probables de diversification des méthanogènes chez l'Homme.

# Article 4

# Meconial Methanobrevibacter smithii suggests intrauterine

# methanogen colonization in preterm neonates.

Y. Sereme^{*}, **C.O. Guindo**^{*}, A. Filleron, P. Corbeau, T.A. Tran, M. Drancourt, J. Vitte, G.

Grine.

Publié dans Current Research in Microbial Sciences.

### Current Research in Microbial Sciences 2 (2021) 100034

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



# Current Research in Microbial Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/crmicr

# Meconial *Methanobrevibacter smithii* suggests intrauterine methanogen colonization in preterm neonates



^a Aix-Marseille Univ, IRD, MEPHI, Marseille, France

^b IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^c Aix-Marseille Univ, APHM, Hôpital Timone, Service de Bactériologie- Epidémiologie- Hygiène hospitalière, Marseille, France

d Department of Pediatrics, CHU Nîmes, Univ Montpellier, Nîmes, France

e IRMB, Univ Montpellier, INSERM, Montpellier, France

^f Montpellier University, Montpellier, France

⁸ Immunology Department, University Hospital, Nîmes, France

h CNRS IIMR9002 Institute of Human Genetics Monthellier France

ⁱ Aix-Marseille Université, UFR Odontologie, Marseille, France

^j IDESP, INSERM UMR UA11, Montpellier University, Montpellier, France

### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Methanogens Methanobrevibacter smithii Meconium Preterm Neonate Gut microbiota

### ABSTRACT

To understand the dynamics of methanogens in the human intestinal microbiota, we investigated the presence of methanogens in meconium using a polyphasic approach including microscopy and PCR-sequencing in 33 meconium samples collected from 33 pre-term neonates, in accordance with current ethics regulation. In the presence of negative controls, 90.9% samples were real-time PCR-positive for methanogens and 69.7 % were PCR-sequencing positive, identified as *Methanobrevibacter (M.)* smithii. Further, auto-fluorescent analysis detected methanogens in the two meconium samples analyzed, with a morphology suggesting *M. smithii*. Multispacer Sequence Typing found *M. smithii* genotypes ST1 and ST2, previously described as intestinal microbiota inhabitants. C-section delivery and non-use of peripartum antibiotics significantly correlated with PCR-detection of methanogens in meconium. These data position *M. smithii* among the early inhabitants of the human gut, detectable immediately after birth and suggest the contribution of methanogens to the perinatal development of intestinal microbiota and physiology.

mediated diseases (Sereme et al., 2019).

fluid (Bearfield et al., 2002; Hitti et al., 1997; Oh et al., 2010), umbilical cord blood (Jiménez et al., 2005), meconium (Ardissone et al.,

2014; Dominguez-Bello et al., 2010; Gosalbes et al., 2013; Hu et al.,

2013; Jiménez et al., 2008; Madan et al., 2012; Moles et al., 2013;

Mshvildadze et al., 2010), placenta (Aagaard et al., 2014; Satokari et al.,

2009; Stout et al., 2013), and fetal membranes (Rautava et al., 2012;

Steel et al., 2005) without any clinical or histological evidence of infec-

tion or inflammation in the mother or the newborn. However, intesti-

nal methanogens have recently gained attention as players of immune-

methane in the presence of H₂, CO₂ and other substrates (Guindo, 2020;

Nkamga et al., 2017; Sereme et al., 2019; Sogodogo et al., 2019).

They are divided into three groups according to the substrates used

in the production of methane: hydrogenotroph methanogens use CO₂ and formate as substrates; methylotroph methanogens use methyl com-

Methanogens are strict aero-intolerant archaea that produce

### Introduction

Meconium, the first stool of the newborn, lines the intestinal tract of the fetus during pregnancy (Gosalbes et al., 2013). Its composition varies during fetal development and comprises 72 to 80% water, intestinal secretions, cellular desquamations, bile pigments, inflammatory proteins, and blood (Gosalbes et al., 2013). Meconium, found in the fetal digestive system at the end of the first trimester of pregnancy, results from the ingestion of amniotic fluid during pregnancy (Gosalbes et al., 2013; Hu et al., 2013; Moles et al., 2013). Physiologically, the emission of the first meconium occurs 24 to 48 hours after birth, being most often expelled by the newborn at the time of birth reflex and usually abundantly (Gosalbes et al., 2013; Hu et al., 2013; Moles et al., 2013). In some studies, bacteria have been isolated and/or detected by Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) in amniotic

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100034

Received 3 March 2021; Received in revised form 21 April 2021; Accepted 22 April 2021

2666-5174/© 2021 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)



E-mail address: ghiles.GRINE@amu-univ.fr (G. Grine).

¹ These authors have contributed equally to this work.

		0			0
Code	Peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy	Mode of delivery	Gestational age	Weight	Size
1	Yes	Cesarean section	26	925	35
2	No	Cesarean section	32	1260	39
3	No	Vaginal delivery	30	1480	41
4	No	Vaginal delivery	30	1460	38
5	No	Cesarean section	29	1565	42
6	No	Cesarean section	29	880	35
7	Yes	Vaginal delivery	30	1670	43
8	No	Cesarean section	31	1120	38
9	No	Cesarean section	24	530	31
10	No	Cesarean section	28	890	33
11	No	Cesarean section	26	925	35
12	No	Cesarean section	26	565	31
13	Yes	Cesarean section	27	925	34
14	Yes	Cesarean section	27	680	31
15	Yes	Cesarean section	30	1335	39
16	Yes	Cesarean section	30	1355	47
17	No	Cesarean section	30	1480	39
18	No	Cesarean section	31	1570	43
19	No	Cesarean section	32	1155	39
20	No	Cesarean section	29	1050	39
21	No	Cesarean section	29	1190	38
22	No	Cesarean section	32	1930	44
23	No	Cesarean section	32	1575	44
24	No	Cesarean section	25	870	34
25	No	Cesarean section	30	1750	43
26	No	Cesarean section	30	1360	39
27	No	Cesarean section	27	600	29
28	No	Vaginal delivery	25	750	32
29	No	Cesarean section	31	980	36
30	No	Cesarean section	31	1410	39
31	No	Cesarean section	30	770	33
32	Yes	Vaginal delivery	32	1568	41
33	No	Cesarean section	30	1680	39

Table 1

Clinical data for 33	premature newborns	here investigated	for the presence	of meconial	methanogens
	*				~ ~ ~

pounds as substrates; and acetogenotroph methanogens use acetate as substrate (Guindo, 2020; Nkamga et al., 2017; Sereme et al., 2019; Sogodogo et al., 2019). Methanogens are part of the human microbiota, in particular the intestinal representing 10 % of the anerobic microorganisms in the human digestive tract and oral microbiota (Guindo, 2020; Nkamga et al., 2017; Sereme et al., 2019; Sogodogo et al., 2019). They have even been found in colostrum and breast milk (Togo et al., 2019), in blood during infectious endocarditis (Drancourt et al., 2020), in vagina only in case of vaginosis (Grine et al., 2019a) and in urinary tract during urinary tract infections (Grine et al., 2019b). They are present in humans from birth (Grine et al., 2017).

Detection of methanogens requiring specific laboratory methods is not routinely developed in clinical microbiology. Accordingly, the detection of methanogens in the meconium has not been reported. Here, as part of a clinical research protocol on the development of the intestinal microbiota and immune status in a cohort of premature infants, we have used such specific methods we are mastering, to explore the presence of methanogens in the meconium of premature newborns.

### Results

### Clinical data

Thirty-three meconium samples collected from 33 pre-term neonates were investigated in this study. The mean birth weight was 1.190 g (range 440–2.130 g), mean gestational age of 30 weeks (range 25–32 weeks) and mean height of 39 cm (range 32–45 cm) (Table 1). Of these 33 subjects, 5/33 (15.15%) were moderate preterm premature, 19/33 (57.57%) were very preterm, 9/33 (27.27%) were extremely preterm, 28/33 (84.84%) were from C-section delivery, 5/33 (15.15%) were from vaginal delivery, and 7/33 (21.21%) were from mothers with a history of peripartum antibiotic therapy (Table 2). Methanobrevibacter smithii is very frequently detected in meconium by PCR

DNA extraction yielded  $22.04 \pm 4.96$  ng/µL and incorporating 16S rRNA archaeal gene PCR primers recently designed in our laboratory into real-time PCR, we detected the presence of methanogen DNA in 30 (90.9%) of meconium samples here investigated and none of the negative controls. PCR-sequencing yielded *M. smithii* in 23 cases (69.69%) and sequences exhibited a 99.5% similarity with the reference 16S rRNA gene sequence of *M. smithii* ATCC 35061 (accession NCBI: NR_074235). The phylogenetic tree showed that all these 23 sequences clustered with *M. smithii* previously detected in the human digestive tract (Fig. 1). MST genotyping revealed the presence of genotype ST1 in 22/23 (95.65%) meconium sample, and the genotype ST2 in one meconium sample (4.34%) (Table 3).

Microscopic observation is compatible with the presence of M. smithii in meconium

By using confocal microscopy, we were able to observe fluorescent microorganisms exhibiting a green fluorescent and diplococcus morphology characteristic of *M. smithii* supporting the presence of methanogens in two meconium specimens (Fig. 2)

# The presence of methanogens in meconium is correlated with c-section delivery

Further exploitation of the five available clinical variables (peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy, mode of delivery, gestational age, sex and weight) indicated no significant correlation between gestational age (pvalue = 0.318), weight at birth (pvalue = 0.229), sex (pvalue = 0.476) and the detection of methanogens in meconium specimens. However, we observed a significant correlation between the detection of methanogens

### Table 2

Moderate preterm	Very preterm	Extremely preterm	Cesarean section	Vaginal delivery	Peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy
5/33(15.15%)	19/33(57.57%)	9/33(27.27%)	28/33(84.84%)	5/33(15.15%)	7/33(21.21%)
		Month of the second secon		Children to Out of gro Major Me Children to	orn by vaginal delivery up control hanobrevibacter spp. found in the human gut orn by cesarean section

Fig. 1. Molecular phylogenetic analysis, based on 16S rRNA partial gene, showed the position of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* sequences detected in meconium samples. The evolutionary history was inferred by using the Maximum Likelihood method based on the Kimura 2-parameter model. The tree with the highest log likelihood (-1716.60) is shown. The percentage of trees in which the associated taxa clustered together is shown next to the branches. Initial tree(s) for the heuristic search were obtained automatically by applying Neighbor-Join and BioNJ algorithms to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using the Maximum Composite Likelihood (MCL) approach, and then selecting the topology with superior log likelihood value. The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths measured in the number of substitutions per site. The analysis involved 29 nucleotide sequences. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated. There was a total of 473 positions in the final dataset. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA 7.

Table 3

Multispacer sequence	typing of 23	Methanohrevihacter	smithii detected	in 22	meconium	nreterm	habies
munispacer sequence	typing of 23	mentanoorerwatter	shuth actected.	m 25	mecomum	preterm	Dubics.

Samples	Peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy	Mode of delivery	Gestational age	Genotype				
				Spacer1	Spacer2	Spacer 3	Spacer 4	Spacer type*
1	Yes	Cesarean	26	x	x	X	X	1
2	No	Cesarean	32	х	х	Х	Х	1
3	No	Vaginal delivery	30	х	Х	Х	Х	1
4	No	Vaginal delivery	30	х	х	Х	Х	1
5	Yes	Vaginal delivery	30	х	х	Х	Х	1
6	No	Cesarean	28	х	Х		Х	2
7	Yes	Cesarean	27	х	Х	Х	Х	1
8	Yes	Cesarean	30	х	Х	Х	Х	1
9	No	Cesarean	30	х	х	х	Х	1
10	No	Cesarean	31	х	х	х	Х	1
11	No	Cesarean	32	х	х	Х	Х	1
12	No	Cesarean	29	х	х	Х	Х	1
13	No	Cesarean	29	х	х	Х	Х	1
14	No	Cesarean	32	х	х	Х	Х	1
15	No	Cesarean	32	х	Х	х	Х	1
16	No	Cesarean	25	х	х	х	Х	1
17	No	Cesarean	30	х	х	х	Х	1
18	No	Cesarean	30	х	х	Х	Х	1
19	No	Cesarean	27	х	х	Х	Х	1
20	No	Vaginal delivery	25	х	х	Х	Х	1
21	No	Cesarean	31	х	х	Х	Х	1
22	No	Cesarean	31	х	Х	х	Х	1
23	Yes	Vaginal delivery	32	Х	Х	Х	Х	1

*Spacer type was determined according to references (Grine et al., 2017; Guindo et al., 2021; Nkamga et al., 2015).

#### Y. Sereme, C.O. Guindo, A. Filleron et al.





Current Research in Microbial Sciences 2 (2021) 100034

Fig. 2. Fluorescent microorganisms exhibiting a green fluorescent and diplococcus morphology characteristic of *M. smithii* from two meconium samples (A and B) using a confocal microscope at 63X magnification.

#### Table 4

Results of Principal Component Analysis (PCA) (Results of PCA. Signif. codes: 0 "*** 0.001 "** 0.01 "* 0.05 ".' 0.1 " 1).

	Estimate	Standard error	zvalue	Statistical significance
Intercept	-4.0665	1.1784	-3.451	0.0005***
Peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy (No)	0.8014	1.3026	0.615	0.0381°
Peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy (Yes)	-0.3257	1.104	-0.295	0.7679
Cesarean section delivery	2.4192	1.233	1.962	0.0049**
Vaginal delivery	-0.3673	1.3532	0.271	0.7769
Gestational age	1.4219	1.4268	0.997	0.3189
Weight	-0.3642	1.3234	-0.292	0.2292
Sex	0.671	1.822	0.152	0.4766

in meconium specimens and c-section delivery (pvalue = 0.004) and with non-use of antibiotic peripartum (pvalue = 0.038) (Table 4).

### Discussion

We are reporting the first ever detection in the meconium of the methanogen *M. smithii*, firmly identified by a polyphasic approach including microscopy and PCR-sequencing. All data here reported were ascertained by the negativity of negative controls and the fact that concordant results were obtained by different techniques.

The data here reported are in line with previous detection of M. smithii in 50/50 (100%) of gastric juice samples collected from oneday-old newborns (Grine et al., 2017), pushing back the colonization of the newborn digestive tract most probably during the in-utero period of life; questioning the sources of such a colonization. In this perspective, herein genotyping meconial M. smithii using the sequence-based MST method yielded ST1 previously found in one-day newborns' gastric juice and in adult gut microbiota (Grine et al., 2017; Nkamga et al., 2015); and ST2 also part of the adult gut microbiota (Nkamga et al., 2015). Viable M. smithii and Methanobrevibacter oralis (M. oralis) colonize the colostrum and the mother milk (Togo et al., 2019) but M. oralis was not detected in meconium in the present study, in line with its lack of detection in one-day newborns' gastric juice (Grine et al., 2017). This observation and the fact that, here, meconium samples have been collected prior to any feeding, plea against the hypothesis that mother milk was the source of M. smithii in preterm newborns. Likewise, M. smithii has been detected in the vaginal fluid only in the case of vaginosis, making the vaginal fluid an unlikely source of M. smithii in this study (Grine et al., 2019a). Accordingly, meconial M. smithii was here significantly associated with cesarean section, further ruling-out the vaginal fluid as a source of M. smithii (Figure 3). It has been suggested that, during pregnancy, gut microorganisms translocating through the intestinal epithelium move to the placenta via the bloodstream (Rodríguez et al., 2015). *M. smithii* could also be found in the blood, after we recently reported a series of *M. smithii* archaemia in febrile adult patients, including three cases of infectious endocarditis (Drancourt et al., 2020). Indeed, dendritic cells present in the intestinal barrier, do recover bacteria as well as the intestinal methanogens *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* and *M. smithii*, eventually transported to lymphoid organs (Rodríguez et al., 2015). There, methanogens activate the adaptive immune response, as illustrated in rabbit and mouse models of immunization (Macario et al., 1984, 1983) (Figure 3).

In conclusion, this study demonstrating the presence of *M. smithii* as an *in-utero* member of the gut microbiota. This finding, together with previous literature showing the absence of *M. smithii* in infant lifethreatening kwashiorkor (Million et al., 2016), suggests that *M. smithii* is an early and crucial player of gut microbiota and immunity in infants.

### Methods

### Patients and sampling

Premature newborns were included in the "Influence of Intestinal Microbiota Implantation in Preterm Infants on Microbiota and Immune Orientation at 3 Years" (NCT02738411, principal investigator AF) co-hort after written informed parental consent was obtained for each preterm. This research project was approved by the Ethics Committee on Clinical Research of Nimes and Montpellier University Hospitals. To be eligible for enrolment, preterm neonates must have been born at a gestational age  $\leq$  32 weeks. First spontaneously evacuated meconium was collected by the medical staff at the Nimes, and Montpellier University Hospitals noticed peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy, mode of delivery, gestational age, and weight of premature newborns (Table 1). Collections were done between May and September 2018. Before sampling, the pediatrician washed his or her hands with alcoholic solution and then put gloves on before manipulating meconium samples and

Current Research in Microbial Sciences 2 (2021) 100034



Fig. 3. Peripartum hypothetical routes of transmission of *M. smithii* in preterm infants. In this study, *M. smithii* were genotyped using multi-spacer typing, indicating spacer type 1(ST1) and spacer type 2 (ST2). Hypothetical routes of transmission of *M. smithii* prior, during and after delivery of preterm infants were derived from data gathered from this study and up-to-date literature (references are shown in brackets). Unlikely routes of transmission are derived cross.

each meconium sample was transferred from a diaper to one sterile Falcon tube (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France) using a sterile tongue depressor by the medical staff and stored at -80°C until analysis.

### Molecular analysis

DNA extraction was performed as described previously (Dridi et al., 2009). Briefly, 0.2 g of each meconium sample has been mixed with 500  $\mu$ L of G2 buffer (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany), then, shaked with 0.3 g of acid-washed beads  $\leq$  106  $\mu$ m (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France) in a FastPrep BIO 101 device (MP Biomedicals, Illkirch, France) for 45 s. 20  $\mu$ L of proteinase K (QIAGEN) was added to a volume of 180- $\mu$ L mixture, then incubated 56 °C overnight. Total DNA was finally extracted with the EZ1 Advanced XL extraction kit (QIAGEN) and 50  $\mu$ L eluted volume. In each DNA extraction run, we used sterile PBS as a negative control.

Once the DNA Extracted, a real-time PCR targeting a 156 pb 16S rRNA regions (691 and 843) was performed using Metha_16S_2_MBF: 5'-CGAACCGGATTAGATACCCG -3' and Metha_16S_2_MBR: 5'-CCCGCCAATTCCTTTAAGTT-3' primers and the FAM Metha 16S 2 MBP 6FAM- CCTGGGAAGTACGGTCGCAAG probe targeting the 16S DNA gene of methanogens (Eurogentec, Angers, France) designed according the following steps, the 16S rRNA gene of Methanobrevibacter smithii ATCC 35061 (GenBank accession number CP000678). Methanosphaera stadtmanae DSM 3091 (GenBank accession number NC 007681), Methanobrevibacter oralis M2 CSUR P5920 (GenBank accession number GCA 900289035.1), Methanobrevibacter arboriphilus ANOR1 (GenBank accession number GCA_000513315.1), Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis B10 (GenBank accession number GCA_000308215.1) was targeted using MEGA7 software (https://www.megasoftware.net/). Using the online Primer 3 program(http://biotools.umassmed.edu/bioapps/primer3_www.cgi), we found that all these published genomes exhibit only one copy of the 16S rRNA gene. The specificity of the PCR primers and probes have been verified by testing experimentally the DNA extracted from 30 bacterial species representative of common gut inhabitants and in silico using the BLAST program at NCBI (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST).

The real-time PCR amplification reaction was performed as previously described (Guindo et al., 2021) following this program: 50 °C for 2 min, followed by 39 cycles of 95°C for 45 s, 95 °C for 5 s and finally 60 °C for 30 s. The amplifications were carried out in CFX96 thermocycler (BioRad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France). We considered as positive all meconium samples which PCR exhibited a CT<40. Gene amplification and PCR sequencing were performed as previously described (Grine et al., 2018, 2017; Guindo et al., 2020; Nkamga et al., 2015).

### Multispacer sequence typing

The multispacer sequence typing (MST) technique was performed on meconium as previously described (Grine et al., 2017; Guindo et al., 2021; Nkamga et al., 2015). Briefly, all positive PCR products were sequenced in both directions using the same primers as used for PCRs in a 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) with an initial 1-minute denaturation step at 96°C, followed by 25 cycles denaturation for 10-second each at 96°C, followed by 25 cycles denaturation for 10-second each at 96°C, Sequencing products were purified using the MultiScreen 96-well plates Millipore (Merck, Molsheim, France) containing 5 % of Sephadex G-50 (Sigma-Aldrich) and sequences were analyzed on an ABI PRISM 31309 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystem) and edited using the ChromasPro software (version 1.42; Technelysium Pty Ltd). MST genotypes were defined as a unique combination of the four spacer sequences (Grine et al., 2017; Guindo et al., 2021; Nkamga et al., 2015).

### Phylogenetic analyses

Sequences were edited using ChromasPro software (ChromasPro 1.7, Technelysium Pty Ltd., Tewantin, Australia). Molecular phylogenetic and evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7 as previously described (Kumar et al., 2016). We used sequences of the major methanogens present in the human digestive tract (Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanosphaera stadtmanae, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanobrevibacter millerae and Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis) in the construction of the phylogenetic trees. The non-methanogen archaea species Haloferax massiliensis was used as an out-of-group control.

### Y. Sereme, C.O. Guindo, A. Filleron et al.

#### Direct microscopic examination

Based on factor 420 carried by methanogens (Dridi, 2012), the presence of methanogens in meconium has been investigated by confocal microscopy on the only two fresh meconium samples as follows. Briefly, meconium suspension was prepared with distilled water. A drop of the prepared meconium suspension deposited on a microscopy slide was observed at 63X magnification using a confocal microscope (LSM800 Airyscan Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

### Statistical analyses

All statistical processes were done using the open-source statistical language R (R Development Core Team, 2010). The threshold of 0.05 was the maximal p-value for each statistical conclusion. The model hypothesis was that the presence of methanogens could be associated with the peripartum maternal antibiotic therapy, mode of delivery, gestational age, sex and weight. We tested this hypothesis using a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) (Groth et al., 2013) with the functions of the FactoMineR (https://cran.rproject.org/ web/packages/FactoMineR/index.html) and factoextra (https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/factoextra/index.html).

#### Authors contributions

YS and COG conducted the experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the paper; AF and TA contributed to the collection of samples; JV, PC and MD designed the project, participated in the writing of the paper and provided great support carrying out the experiments; GG designed the project, helped conduct the experiments and participated in the writing of the paper.

### Funding

YS and COG benefit from PhD grants from the Fondation Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France. This work was supported by the French Government under the «Investissements d'avenir» (Investments for the Future) program managed by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR, fr: National Agency for Research), (reference: Méditerranée Infection 10-IAHU-03).

### Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare no competing interests in relation to this study. Outside this study, JV reports speaker and consultancy fees in the past 5 years from Meda Pharma (Mylan), Novartis, Sanofi, Thermo Fisher Scientific, outside the submitted work.

We confirm that the manuscript has been read and approved by all named authors.

We confirm that the order of authors listed in the manuscript has been approved by all named authors.

#### Acknowledgments

YS and COG benefit from Ph.D. grants from the Fondation Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France. This work was supported by the French Government under the «Investissements d'avenir» (Investments for the Future) program managed by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR, fr: National Agency for Research), (reference: Méditerranée Infection 10-IAHU-03).

#### References

Aagaard, K., Ma, J., Antony, K.M., Ganu, R., Petrosino, J., Versalovic, J., 2014. The Placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Sci. Transl. Med. 6. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008599, 237ra65.

- Ardissone, A.N., de la Cruz, D.M., Davis-Richardson, A.G., Rechcigl, K.T., Li, N., Drew, J.C., Murgas-Torrazza, R., Sharma, R., Hudak, M.L., Triplett, E.W., Neu, J., 2014. Meconium microbiome analysis identifies bacteria correlated with premature birth. PLoS One 9. e90784. doi:10.1371/journal.none.0090784
- Bearfield, C., Davenport, E.S., Sivapathasundaram, V., Allaker, R.P., 2002. Possible association between amniotic fluid micro-organism infection and microflora in the mouth. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 7 109 (5), 527–533.
- Dominguez-Bello, M.G., Costello, E.K., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Fierer, N., Knight, R., 2010. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 11971–11975. doi:10.1073/pnas.1002601107.
- Drancourt, M., Djemai, K., Gouriet, F., Grine, G., Loukil, A., Bedotto, M., Levasseur, A., Lepidi, H., Bou-Khali, J., Khelaifia, S., Raoult, D., 2020. Methanobrevibacter smithil archaemia in febrile patients with bacteremia, including those with endocarditis. Clin. Infect. Dis. doi:10.1093/cid/ciaa998, ciaa998.
- Dridi, B., 2012. Laboratory tools for detection of archaea in humans. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18, 825–833. doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03952.x.
- Dridi, B., Henry, M., El Khéchine, A., Raoult, D., Drancourt, M., 2009. High prevalence of methanobrevibacter smithii and methanosphaera stadtmanae detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol. PLoS One 4, e7063. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007063.
- Gosalbes, M.J., Llop, S., Vallès, Y., Moya, A., Ballester, F., Francino, M.P., 2013. Meconium microbiota types dominated by lactic acid or enteric bacteria are differentially associated with maternal eczema and respiratory problems in infants. Clin. Exp. Allergy 43, 198–211. doi:10.1111/cen.12063.
- Grine, G., Boualam, M.A., Drancourt, M., 2017. Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 36, 2449–2455. doi:10.1007/s10096-017-3084-7.
- Grine, G., Drouet, H., Fenollar, F., Bretelle, F., Raoult, D., Drancourt, M., 2019a. Detection of Methanobrevibacter smithii in vaginal samples collected from women diagnosed with bacterial vaginosis. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 38, 1643–1649. doi:10.1007/s10096-013-03592-1.
- Grine, G., Lotte, R., Chirio, D., Chevalier, A., Raoult, D., Drancourt, M., Ruimy, R., 2019b. Co-culture of Methanobrevibacter smithii with enterobacteria during urinary infection. EBioMedicine 43, 333–337. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.04.037.
- Grine, G., Terrer, E., Boualam, M.A., Aboudharam, G., Chaudet, H., Ruimy, R., Drancourt, M., 2018. Tobacco-smoking-related prevalence of methanogens in the oral fluid microbiota. Sci. Rep. 8, 9197. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-27372-7.
- Groth, D., Hartmann, S., Klie, S., Selbig, J., 2013. Principal Components Analysis. In: Reisfeld, B., Mayeno, A.N. (Eds.), Computational Toxicology, Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 527–547, doi:10.1007/978-1.62703.059-5.22.
- Guindo, C.O., 2020. Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles of human microbiota-associated methanogens. Microb. Pathog. 149, 104425.
- Guindo, C.O., Davoust, B., Drancourt, M., Grine, G., 2021. Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut 10. Microorganisms 9 (1), 13.
- Guindo, C.O., Terrer, E., Chabrière, E., Aboudharam, G., Drancourt, M., Grine, G., 2020. Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen. Anaerobe 61, 102128. doi:10.1016/j.inaerobe.2019.102128.
- Hitti, J., Riley, D.E., Krohn, M.A., Hillier, S.L., Agnew, K.J., Krieger, J.N., Eschenbach, D.A., 1997. Broad-spectrum bacterial rDNA Polymerase chain reaction assay for detecting amniotic fluid infection among women in premature labor. Clin. Infect. Dis. 24, 1228–1232. doi:10.1086/513669.
- Hu, J., Nomura, Y., Bashir, A., Fernandez-Hernandez, H., Itzkowitz, S., Pei, Z., Stone, J., Loudon, H., Peter, I., 2013. Diversified microbiota of meconium is affected by maternal diabetes status. PLoS One 8, e78257. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0078257.
- Jiménez, E., Fernández, L., Marín, M.L., Martín, R., Odriozola, J.M., Nueno-Palop, C., Narbad, A., Olivares, M., Xaus, J., Rodríguez, J.M., 2005. Isolation of commensal bacteria from umbilical cord blood of healthy neonates born by cesarean section. Curr. Microbiol. 51, 270–274. doi:10.1007/s00284-005-0020-3.
- Jiménez, E., Marín, M.L., Martín, R., Odriozola, J.M., Olivares, M., Xaus, J., Fernández, L., Rodríguez, J.M., 2008. Is meconium from healthy newborns actually sterile? Res. Microbiol. 159, 187–193. doi:10.1016/j.resmic.2007.12.007.
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Tamura, K., 2016. MEGA7: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis Version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Mol. Biol. Evol. 33, 1870–1874. doi:10.1093/molbev/msw054.
- Macario, E.C., de König, H., Macario, A.J., Kandler, O., 1984. Six antigenic determinants in the surface layer of the archaebacterium Methanococcus vannielii revealed by monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 132, 883–887.
- Madan, J.C., Salari, R.C., Saxena, D., Davidson, L., O'Toole, G.A., Moore, J.H., Sogin, M.L., Foster, J.A., Edwards, W.H., Palumbo, P., Hibberd, P.L., 2012. Gut microbial colonisation in premature neonates predicts neonatal sepsis. Arch. Dis. Child. - Fetal Neonatal Ed. 97, F456–F462. doi:10.1136/fetalneonatal-2011-301373.
- Moles, L., Gómez, M., Heilig, H., Bustos, G., Fuentes, S., de Vos, W., Fernández, L., Rodríguez, J.M., Jiménez, E., 2013. Bacterial diversity in meconium of preterm neonates and evolution of their fecal microbiota during the first month of life. PLoS One 8, e66986. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066986.
- Mshvildadze, M., Neu, J., Shuster, J., Theriaque, D., Li, N., Mai, V., 2010. Intestinal microbial ecology in premature infants assessed with non-culture-based techniques. J. Pediatr. 156, 20–25. doi:10.1016/j.jpdes2.2009.06.063.
- Nkamga, V.D., Henrissat, B., Drancourt, M., 2017. Archaea: Essential inhabitants of the human digestive microbiota. Hum. Microbiome J. 3, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.humic.2016.11.005.
- Nkamga, V.D., Huynh, H.T.T., Aboudharam, G., Ruimy, R., Drancourt, M., 2015. Diversity of human-associated methanobrevibacter smithil isolates revealed by multispacer sequence typing. Curr. Microbiol. 70, 810–815. doi:10.1007/s00284-015-0787-9.

Y. Sereme, C.O. Guindo, A. Filleron et al.

- Oh, K.J., Lee, S.E., Jung, H., Kim, G., Romero, R., Yoon, B.H., 2010. Detection of ureaplasmas by the polymerase chain reaction in the ammiotic fluid of patients with cervical insufficiency. J. Perinat. Med. 38, doi:10.1515/jmw.2010.040.
- R Development Core Team, 2010. a language and environment for statistical computing: reference index. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna.
- Rautava, S., Collado, M.C., Salminen, S., Isolauri, E., 2012. Probiotics modulate hostmicrobe interaction in the placenta and fetal gut: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Neonatology 102, 178–184. doi:10.1159/000339182.
- Rodríguez, J.M., Murphy, K., Stanton, C., Ross, R.P., Kober, O.I., Juge, N., Avershina, E., Rudi, K., Narbad, A., Jenmalm, M.C., Marchesi, J.R., Collado, M.C., 2015. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. Microb. Ecol. Health Dis. 26, 26050. doi:10.3402/mehd.v26.26050.
- Satokari, R., Grönroos, T., Laitinen, K., Salminen, S., Isolauri, E., 2009. Bifdobacterium and Lactobacillus DNA in the human placenta. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 48, 8–12. doi:10.1111/j.1472-7658.2008.02475x.
- Sereme, Y., Mezouar, S., Grine, G., Mege, J.L., Drancourt, M., Corbeau, P., Vitte, J., 2019. Methanogenic Archaea: emerging partners in the field of allergic diseases. Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol. 57, 456-466. doi:10.1007/s12016-019-08766-5.

- Sogodogo, E., Drancourt, M., Grine, G., 2019. Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic abscesses. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 38, 811–818. doi:10.1007/s10096-019-03510-5.
- Steel, J.H., Malatos, S., Kennea, N., Edwards, A.D., Miles, L., Duggan, P., Reynolds, P.R., Feldman, R.G., Sullivan, M.H.F., 2005. Bacteria and inflammatory cells in fetal membranes do not always cause preterm labor. Pediatr. Res. 57, 404–411. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000153869.96337.90.
- Stout, M.J., Conlon, B., Landeau, M., Lee, I., Bower, C., Zhao, Q., Roehl, K.A., Nelson, D.M., Macones, G.A., Mysorekar, I.U., 2013. Identification of intracellular bacteria in the basal plate of the human placenta in term and preterm gestations. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 208, 226.e1–226.e7. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2013.01.018.
- Togo, A.H., Grine, G., Khelaifia, S., des Robert, C., Brevaut, V., Caputo, A., Baptiste, E., Bonnet, M., Levasseur, A., Drancourt, M., Million, M., Raoult, D., 2019. Culture of Methanogenic Archaea from Human Colostrum and Milk. Sci. Rep. 9, 18653. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-54759-x.

# Article 5

# Diversity of methanogens in animals' gut.

C.O. Guindo, B. Davoust, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Publié dans Microorganisms.





# Article Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut

Cheick Oumar Guindo ^{1,2}, Bernard Davoust ², Michel Drancourt ^{1,2} and Ghiles Grine ^{2,3,*}

- ¹ IHU Méditerranée Infection, 13005 Marseille, France; cheicko86@gmail.com (C.O.G.); michel.drancourt@univ-amu.fr (M.D.)
- ² IRD, MEPHI, Aix-Marseille Université, 13005 Marseille, France; bernard.davoust@gmail.com
- ³ Faculty of Odontology, Aix-Marseille Université, 13005 Marseille, France
- * Correspondence: grineghiles@univ-amu.fr; Tel.: +33-(0)4-13-73-24-01; Fax: +33-(0)-13-73-24-02

Abstract: Methanogens are members of anaerobe microbiota of the digestive tract of mammals, including humans. However, the sources, modes of acquisition, and dynamics of digestive tract methanogens remain poorly investigated. In this study, we aimed to expand the spectrum of animals that could be sources of methanogens for humans by exploring methanogen carriage in animals. We used real-time PCR, PCR-sequencing, and multispacer sequence typing to investigate the presence of methanogens in 407 fecal specimens collected from nine different mammalian species investigated here. While all the negative controls remained negative, we obtained by PCR-sequencing seven different species of methanogens, of which three (Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanobrevibacter millerae and Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis) are known to be part of the methanogens present in the human digestive tract. M. smithii was found in 24 cases, including 12/24 (50%) in pigs, 6/24 (25%) in dogs, 4/24 (16.66%) in cats, and 1/24 (4.16%) in both sheep and horses. Genotyping these 24 M. smithii revealed five different genotypes, all known in humans. Our results are fairly representative of the methanogen community present in the digestive tract of certain animals domesticated by humans, and other future studies must be done to try to cultivate methanogens here detected by molecular biology to better understand the dynamics of methanogens in animals and also the likely acquisition of methanogens in humans through direct contact with these animals or through consumption of the meat and/or milk of certain animals, in particular cows.

Keywords: mammals' digestive tract; dynamics of methanogens; sources of methanogens and zoonotic methanogens

### 1. Introduction

Methanogens are archaea characterized by their unique capability in producing methane from byproducts of bacterial anaerobe fermentations, being members of anaerobe microbiota of the digestive tract microbiota of several mammals [1]. Methanogens as strict anaerobes are classified to be limited to anoxic habitats. However, some studies have shown that some methanogens are able to produce methane in soils rich in oxygen [2] and even in human microbiota [3]. Methanogens were classified into three biochemical groups based on the substrates used for hydrogen production: hydrogenotrophic, aceticlastic, and methylotrophic [2,4,5]. The group most described in human microbiota is hydrogenotrophic methanogens, which oxidize H₂, formate or a few simple alcohols, and reduce CO₂ to CH₄.

Accordingly, methanogens gained interest in the clinical microbiology over the past years after they were detected by PCR-based methods and cultured from the gut microbiota [6,7]; their translocation in milk and urines has been further observed [8]. Moreover, methanogens have been associated with dysbiosis such as in the case of vaginosis [9], urinary tract infections [10], and anaerobe abscesses of the brain [11,12], the muscle [13], the oral cavity in the case of periodontitis, and periimplantitis [14,15] in the case of refractory sinusitis [16]. Recently, we observed blood-borne methanogens associated with endocarditis [17]. In all these situations, anaerobe bacteria were associated in the methanogendisease process, and this observation was probably reflecting methanogen specificities,



Citation: Guindo, C.O.; Davoust, B.; Drancourt, M.; Grine, G. Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut. *Microorganisms* 2021, *9*, 13. https://dx. doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010 013

Received: 8 December 2020 Accepted: 20 December 2020 Published: 23 December 2020

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) licenses (https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/). including the absolute oxygen intolerance and the necessity of bacterial fermentative products to produce methane [4,18].

Currently, 16 different methanogens have been cultured from digestive-tract microbiota of animals [19–22], and PCR-based methods of detecting species-specific sequences traced an additional 4 species [21] (Table 1).

Table 1. Methanogens found in digestive tract microbiota of animals.

Methanogens Species Obtained by Culture	Additional Species Detected by PCR-Based Methods But Not by Culture
Methanosarcina sp.	
Methanobacterium formicicum	
Methanomicrobium mobile	
Methanosarcina barkeri	
Methanobacterium bryantii	
Methanobrevibacter, ruminantium	
Methanobrevibacter millerae	Methanobrevibacter smithii
Methanobrevibacter olleyae	Methanimicrococcus spp.
Methanoculleus olentangyi	Methanosphaera spp.
Methanobrevibacter woesei	Methanobacterium spp.
Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii	11
Methanobrevibacter thaueri	
Methanobrevibacter wolinii	
Methanobrevibacter cuticularis	
Methanobrevibacter curvatus	
Methanobrevibacter filiformi	

The sources, modes of acquisition, and dynamics of digestive-tract methanogens remain poorly investigated. We previously reported that one-day newborns exhibited culturable *Methanobrevibacter smithii* (*M. smithii*) in the gastric fluid [23], suggesting a perinatal source of acquisition. Accordingly, we reported that mother milk did contain culturable *M. smithii* and culturable *Methanobrevibacter oralis* (*M. oralis*) [8]. Yet, it is unclear whether these one-day methanogens do persist along with the digestive tract of the newborns or whether this is just one of several waves of acquisition of methanogens along the first months of life [23–27]. Therefore, the search for methanogens sources other than mother milk is of interest.

Certain mammals (cow, sheep, donkey, horse, cat, pig, rabbit, rat, rhinoceros, baboon, monkey, and hippopotamus); birds (goose, turkey, and chicken) and insects (termites) are acknowledged to harbor digestive tract methanogens, and *M. smithii* in particular has already been detected from bovine and also from Wistar rats [21,22,28–43]. In this study, we aimed to expand the spectrum of animals that could be sources of methanogens for humans, by exploring methanogen carriage in animals.

### 2. Materials and Methods

### 2.1. Feces Samples

After the obtention of verbal consent from animals' owners, feces samples were collected from nine different animal species, namely cat, dog, horse, sheep, rabbit, cow, pig, goat, and donkey from animals living in metropolitan France, more precisely in the Marseille metropolitan area, Southeastern France (Table 2). Dogs and cats were fed industrial dry-kibble feed; horses were fed hay + straw + pellets; sheep and goats were fed pasture (grass) and dry supplementary feed; rabbits were fed dehydrated alfalfa + hay + pellets (other vegetables, cereals, mineral salts, and vitamins); cows were fed hay + straw + pasture (grass) and whole plant maize silage; pigs were fed straw + dry pelleted feed (formula consisting mainly of maize, wheat, oats, peas, soybeans, cereals, oilseeds, and minerals), and donkeys were fed grass and hay. Feces samples were stored at +4 °C for five weeks before being processed for DNA extraction as reported below.

Origin of Samples	Species	Collected Number per Sample	Collection Sites	
Cat	Felis silvestris catus	105	Marseille	
Dog	Canis lupus 52		Marseille	
Horse	Equus caballus	89	Marseille and Carnoux	
Sheep	Ovis aries	29	Bourganeuf	
Rabbit	Oryctolagus cuniculus	2	Allauch	
Cow	Bos taurus	57	Bourganeuf and Allauch	
Pig	Sus scrofa domesticus	64	Avignon	
Goat	Capra aegagrus hircus	5	Allauch	
Donkey	Equus asinus	4	Allauch	

Table 2. Details of 407 feces samples here investigated for the presence of methanogens.

### 2.2. DNA Extraction and PCR Assays

DNA extraction was performed by mixing 0.2 g of each feces sample with 500  $\mu$ L of G2 buffer (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) in an Eppendorf tube (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France). Then, 0.3 g of acid-washed beads  $\leq 106 \,\mu m$  (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France) was added in each tube and shaken in a FastPrep BIO 101 device (MP Biomedicals, Illkirch, France) for 45 s for mechanical lysis before 10-min incubation at 100 °C. A 180 µL volume of the mixture was then incubated with 20 µL of proteinase K (QIAGEN) at 56 °C overnight before a second mechanical lysis was performed. Total DNA was finally extracted with the EZ1 Advanced XL extraction kit (OIAGEN) and 200 µL eluted volume. Sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was used as a negative control in each DNA extraction run. Extracted DNA was incorporated into realtime PCR performed using Metha_16S_2_MBF: 5'-CGAACCGGATTAGATACCCG -3' and Metha_16S_2_MBR: 5'- CCCGCCAATTCCTTTAAGTT-3' primers (Eurogentec, Angers, France) and a FAM_Metha_16S_2_MBP 6FAM- CCTGGGAAGTACGGTCGCAAG probe targeting the 16S DNA gene of methanogens, designed in our laboratory (Eurogentec). PCR amplification was done in a 20 µL volume including 15 µL of mix and 5 µL of extracted DNA. Five µL of ultrapure water (Fisher Scientific) was used instead of DNA in the negative controls. The amplification reaction was performed in a CFX96 thermocycler (BioRad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) incorporating a protocol with a cycle of 50 °C for 2-min, followed by 39 cycles of 95 °C for 5-min, 95 °C for 5 s and finally 60 °C for 30 s. The PCR-sequencing was done in a 20 µL volume, including 15 µL of mix and 5 µL of extracted DNA. Five µL of ultrapure water (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France) was used instead of DNA in the negative controls. The amplification reaction was performed in a CFX96 thermocycler (BioRad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) incorporating a protocol with a cycle of 50 °C for 2-min, followed by 39 cycles of 95 °C for 5-min, 95 °C for 5 s and finally 60 °C for 30 s. Amplification of the archaeal 16S rRNA gene (primers used: SDArch0333aS15, 5-TCCAGGCCCTACGGG-3 and SDArch0958aA19, 5-YCCGGCGTTGAMTCCAATT-3) was performed as previously described [8,9,33,34]. Sequencing reactions (Sangers' method) were carried out using the BigDye Terminator, version 1.1, cycle sequencing kit DNA according to the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA). Nucleotide sequences were assembled using Chromas Pro software, version 1.7 (Technelysium Pty Ltd., Tewantin, Australia) and compared with sequences available in the GenBank database using the online NCBI BLAST program ( http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov.gate1.inist.fr/Blast.cgi). We considered the sequences as belonging to the same species if the percentage of identity was >98.7%; as different species if between 95–98.7%, and different genera if this threshold was < 95% with respect to the first hit obtained by BLAST [44].

### 2.3. Multispacer Sequence Typing

We carried out a multispacer sequence typing (MST) technique on all fecal specimens positive by PCR-sequencing as previously described in our laboratory [23,45]. PCRs were realized in a 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA) and followed all the steps described for standard PCR used for the molecular analysis of fecal specimens. Negative controls consisting of PCR mixture without DNA template were included in each PCR run. All PCR products were sequenced in both directions using the same primers as used for PCRs in a 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems) with an initial 1-min denaturation step at 96 °C, followed by 25 cycles denaturation for 10 s each at 96 °C, a 20 s annealing step at 50 °C, and a 4-min extension step at 60 °C. Sequencing products were purified using the MultiScreen 96-well plates Millipore (Merck, Molsheim, France), containing 5% of Sephadex G-50 (Sigma-Aldrich), and sequences were analyzed on an ABI PRISM 31309 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA) and edited using the ChromasPro software (version 1.42; Technelysium Pty Ltd., Tewantin, Australia). For each intergenic spacer, a spacer type (ST) was defined as a sequence exhibiting unique genetic polymorphism (SNPs and indels). MST genotypes were defined as a unique combination of the four spacer sequences [23,45].

### 2.4. Phylogenetic Analyses

Sequences were edited using ChromasPro software (ChromasPro 1.7, Technelysium Pty Ltd., Tewantin, Australia). Molecular phylogenetic and evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7 as previously described [46].

### 2.5. Statistical Analyses

We used R software for data analysis (https://www.r-project.org/). The Chi 2 test was used to compare the prevalence between the different animal species with a threshold  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

### 3. Results

In this study, a total of 407 fecal specimens collected from nine different mammalian species were investigated by real-time PCR and PCR-sequencing for the presence of methanogens using primers targeting the broad-range archaeal 16S rRNA gene.

Firstly, incorporating the 16S rRNA archaeal gene PCR primers newly designed in our laboratory into real-time PCR, we detected the presence of methanogen DNA in all animals here investigated and none of the negative controls. We found that 100.0% of cat feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $33.51 \pm 1.28$ ; 78.8% of dog feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $27.71 \pm 0.94$ ; 84.4% of horse feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $27.19 \pm 3.11$ ; 100% of rabbit feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $27.19 \pm 3.11$ ; 100% of rabbit feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $22.15 \pm 2.75$ ; 80% of goat feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $22.15 \pm 2.75$ ; 80% of goat feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $19.18 \pm 2.46$ ; and 100% of donkey feces specimens were positive with Ct values of  $18.82 \pm 1.44$  (Table 3).

Secondly, sequencing the standard PCR products was used for the precise identification of methanogens at the genus and species levels in each sample. In cats, 50/105 successfully sequenced samples yielded 20 *Methanocorpusculum aggregans* (*M. aggregans*), 13 *Methanocorpusculum labreanum* (*M. labreanum*), 09 *Methanobrevibacter millerae* (*M. millerae*), 04 *M. smithii*, 02 *Methanobrevibacter thaueri* (*M. thaueri*), and 02 *Methanobrevibacter olleyae* (*M. olleyae*). In dogs, 30/52 successfully sequenced samples yielded 13 *M. labreanum*, 06 *M. smithii*, 05 *M. aggregans*, 03 *M. thaueri*, 02 *M. millerae*, and 01 *M. olleyae*. In horses, 24/89 successfully sequenced samples yielded 11 *M. aggregans*, 10 *M. olleyae*, 01 *M. smithii*, 01 *M. millerae*, and 01 *M. labreanum*. In sheep, 28/29 successfully sequenced samples yielded 23 *M. labreanum*, 03 *M. millerae*, 01 *M. smithii*, and 01 *M. aggregans*. In rabbits, 2/2 successfully sequenced samples yielded 02 *M. thaueri*. In cows, 44/57 successfully sequenced samples yielded 22 *M. aggregans*, 11 *M. millerae*, 06 *M. labreanum*, and 05 *M. thaueri*. In pigs, 25/64 successfully sequenced samples yielded 12 *M. smithii*, 09 *M. millerae*, 03 *Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis* (*M. luminiyensis*), and 01 *M. olleyae*. In goats, 4/5 successfully sequenced samples yielded 03 *M. labreanum* and 01 *M. aggregans*. Finally, in donkeys, 4/4 successfully sequenced samples yielded 04 *M. aggregans* (Table 4).

Animal Species	Number of Samples Analyzed	Number of Positive Samples by RT-PCR	Prevalence [IC 95%]	<i>p</i> -Value
Cat	105	105	100.0 [96.5–100.0]	
Dog	52	41	78.8 [65.3–88.9]	
Horse	89	75	84.4 [75.0–91.1]	
Sheep	29	28	96.6 [82.2–99.9]	o o _ t o=8
Rabbit	2	2	100.0 [15.8–100.0]	$9.9 \times 10^{-6}$
Cow	57	57	100.0 [93.7–100.0]	
Pig	64	64	100.0 [94.4–100.0]	
Goat	5	4	80.0 [28.4–99.5]	
Donkey	4	4	100.0 [39.8–100.0]	

Table 3. Comparison of prevalence based on real-time PCR between animal species.

Table 4. Comparison of prevalence based on PCR-sequencing between animal species.

Animal Species	Number of Samples Analyzed	Number of Positive Samples by PCR-Sequencing	Prevalence [IC 95%]	p-Value
Cat	105	50	47.6 [37.8–57.6]	
Dog	52	30	57.7 [43.2–71.3]	
Horse	89	24	27.0 [ 18.1–37.4]	-
Sheep	29	28	96.6 [82.2–99.9]	1 1 10 12
Rabbit	2	2	100.0 [15.8–100.0]	$1.4 \times 10^{-12}$
Cow	57	44	77.2 [64.2-87.3]	
Pig	64	25	39.1 [27.1–52.1]	
Goat	5	4	80.0 [28.4–99.5]	
Donkey	4	4	100.0 [39.8–100.0]	

We obtained a total of seven different species of methanogens in our study as illustrated with Venn diagrams (Figure 1).). The Venn diagram shows which species of methanogens are found in common in humans and in animal samples analyzed in this study, and which species of methanogens are found exclusively in animals and exclusively in humans. Indeed, three methanogens species (*M. smithii, M. millerae*, and *M. luminyensis*) are known to be part of the methanogens present in the human digestive tract. The remaining four (*M. thaueri, M. olleyae, M. labreanum* and *M. aggregans*) are not known to date in humans. However, we did not find in our study the other 10 species of methanogens present in the human digestive tract, including *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus, M. oralis, Methanosphaera stadtmanae* (*M. stadtmanae*), *Candidatus* Methanomethylophilus alvus), *Candidatus* Methanomasiliicoccus intestinalis), *Methanoculleus chikugoensis* (*M. chikugoensis*), *Candidatus* Nitrososphaera evergladensis (*Ca.* Nitrososphaera evergladensis), and *Methanosarcinia mazei* (*M. mazei*).



Figure 1. Venn diagram between the methanogens found in our study and those known from the human digestive tract. This Venn diagram shows which species of methanogens are found in common in humans and in animal samples analyzed in this study and which species of methanogens are found exclusively in animals and exclusively in humans.

Among the 211 sequences obtained, 153 (72.51%) of them have an identity percentage greater than 99%, 43 (20.37%) have an identity percentage lower than 98.7%, and 15 (7.10%) have an identity percentage lower than 95% (Table 5). The phylogenetic trees of sequences obtained with a percentage identity lower than 98.7% and sequences with a percentage identity lower than 98.7% and sequences with a percentage identity lower than 98.7% and sequences with a percentage identity lower than 98.7% indicated new species and new genera, respectively (Figure 2 and Supplementary Figures). We obtained 24 *M. smithii* by PCR-sequencing including 12/24 (50%) in pigs, 6/24 (25%) in dogs, 4/24 (16.66%) in cats, and 1/24 (4.16%) in both sheep and horses. Genotyping the 24 *M. smithii* revealed five different genotypes. Genotype 1 was found in 8/24 (33.33%); genotype 2 in 10/24 (41.66%); genotype 3 in 4/24 (16.66%); and genotypes 4 and 5 in 1/24 (4.16%) each (Table 6).

Animal Species Percentage > 99%		Percentage < 98.7%	Percentage < 95%
Cat	50	0	0
Dog	30	0	0
Horse	7	15	2
Sheep	18	7	3
Rabbit	2	0	0
Cow	29	12	3
Pig	16	4	5
Goat	0	2	2
Donkey	1	3	0

Table 5. Percentage of identity among the sequences obtained.



**Figure 2.** Molecular phylogenetic analysis, based on 16S rRNA partial gene, showed the position of *Methanomassiliicoccus-like* sequences detected in feces of pigs. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method. The optimal tree with the sum of branch length = 0.82722721 is shown. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1.000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Maximum Composite Likelihood method and are in the units of the number of base substitutions per site. The analysis involved 14 nucleotide sequences. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated. There were a total of 415 positions in the final dataset. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7. Bootstrap values  $\geq$  95% are indicated at nodes. In red: out of group. Species highlighted: methanogens species detected in this study.

				Genotypes					
Samples	Origin	Collection Sites	Spacer 1	Spacer 2	Spacer 3	Spacer 4	Spacer Type *		
1	Sheep	Bouganeuf			×		1		
2	Horse	Marseille			×		1		
3	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
4	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
5	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
6	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
7	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×		3		
8	Pig	Avignon	×	×			4		
9	Pig	Avignon		×	×		5		
10	Pig	Avignon			×		1		
11	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
12	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×		3		
13	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
14	Pig	Avignon	×	×	×	×	2		
15	Dog	Marseille	×	×	×	×	2		
16	Dog	Marseille	×	×	×	×	2		
17	Dog	Marseille	×	×	×		3		
18	Dog	Marseille	×	×	×		3		
19	Dog	Marseille	×	×	×	×	2		
20	Dog	Marseille			×		1		
21	Cat	Marseille			×		1		
22	Cat	Marseille			×		1		
23	Cat	Marseille			×		1		
24	Cat	Marseille			×		1		

Table 6. Summar	v of the	results of	multispacer	sequence	typing
	,				· / F ····O

Genotyping these M. smithii strains revealed the presence of five different genotypes. * Spacer type was determined according to reference [23,45].

### 4. Discussion

It is known and published that methanogens colonize the gastrointestinal tract of certain mammals, particularly herbivorous ones [35]. Most methanogens identified in mammals belong to the phylum Euryarchaeota, with a high percentage of the species *M. smithii* [36], a species being the most prevalent one in humans [47]. Our report is the largest one showing the presence of methanogens in nine mammals in the same study. Our results confirmed the published data on the presence of methanogens in the digestive tract of cats, dogs, horses, cows, sheep, rabbits, goats, pigs, and donkeys [21,22,28–34,36–38]. In addition, all methanogens found in this study belong to the phylum Euryarchaeota, which is in accordance with the results obtained in studies conducted on the human digestive tract [6,48]. Our results give an insight on the concentration of methanogens present in the intestinal microbiota of each animal species analyzed and on the prevalence of methanogens in domestic animals by humans.

The results of the analysis of the 16S RNA sequences obtained from our samples show that there is a real diversity of methanogenic archaea genera (*Methanosphaera*, *Methanocorpusculum*, *Methanocalculus*, *Methanoculleus*, *Methanogenicum*, *Methanoparus*, *Methanolacinia*, *Methanobacterium*, *Methanoba* 

Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis was known to colonize the human digestive tract, and it has never been detected in animals' digestive tracts [46]. For the first time, this study demonstrated the presence of the species *M. luminiyensis* in pigs and not in the other animals investigated here. These results could be explained by the fact that the pig is an omnivore, which means that its diet is close to that of humans compared to other animals. In addition, 50% of *M. smithii* in our study was found in pigs, indicating that *M. smithii* was the most prevalent methanogen in the digestive tract of pigs, consistent with work carried out in humans where the high prevalence of *M. smithii* in the digestive tract has been demonstrated [45,49].

These results are representative of the methanogen community present in the digestive tract of certain animals domesticated by humans, and other future studies must be done to try to cultivate methanogens detected here by molecular biology to better understand the dynamics of methanogens in animals. The possible ways of methanogens' acquisition in humans could be contact with animals and/or through consumption of milk/dairy products of certain animals, in particular cows, since a recent study demonstrated an association between the acquisition of *M. smithii* in children and the consumption of dairy products [50].

### Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2607/9/ 1/13/s1.

Author Contributions: C.O.G.: Samples collection, study design, manipulations, data information, results interpretation, draft writing. B.D.: samples collection, data information. M.D.: Supervision, study design, results interpretation, draft writing. G.G.: Grant acquisition, supervision, study design, samples collection, results interpretation, draft writing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by a grant of GDR Archaea, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Paris, France.

Acknowledgments: We thank GDR Archaea, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Paris, France for its financial support.

Conflicts of Interest: All the authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

### References

- Michelland, R.J.; Monteils, V.; Combes, S.; Cauquil, L.; Gidenne, T.; Fortun-Lamothe, L. Comparison of the archaeal community in the fermentative compartment and faeces of the cow and the rabbit. *Anaerobe* 2010, *16*, 396–401. [CrossRef]
- Lyu, Z.; Lu, Y. Metabolic shift at the class level sheds light on adaptation of methanogens to oxidative environments. *ISME J.* 2018, 12, 411–423. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grine, G.; Terrer, E.; Boualam, M.A.; Aboudharam, G.; Chaudet, H.; Ruimy, R.; Drancourt, M. Tobacco-smoking-related prevalence of methanogens in the oral fluid microbiota. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 9197. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sogodogo, E.; Drancourt, M.; Grine, G. Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic abscesses. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 2019, 38, 811–818. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruaud, A.; Esquivel-Elizondo, S.; de la Cuesta-Zuluaga, J.; Waters, J.L.; Angenent, L.T.; Youngblut, N.D.; Ley, R.E. Syntrophy via interspecies H₂ transfer between *Christensenella* and *Methanobrevibacter* underlies their global cooccurrence in the human gut. *mBio* 2020, 11, e03235-19. [CrossRef]
- Nkamga, V.D.; Henrissat, B.; Drancourt, M. Archaea: Essential inhabitants of the human digestive microbiota. Hum. Microbiome J. 2017, 3, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Guindo, C.O.; Drancourt, M.; Grine, G. Digestive tract methanodrome: Physiological roles of human microbiota-associated methanogens. *Microb. Pathog.* 2020, 149, 104425. [CrossRef]
- Togo, A.H.; Grine, G.; Khelaifia, S.; des Robert, C.; Brevaut, V.; Caputo, A.; Baptiste, E.; Bonnet, M.; Levasseur, A.; Drancourt, M.; et al. Culture of methanogenic archaea from human colostrum and milk. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 18653. [CrossRef]
- Grine, G.; Drouet, H.; Fenollar, F.; Bretelle, F.; Raoult, D.; Drancourt, M. Detection of Methanobrevibacter smithii in vaginal samples collected from women diagnosed with bacterial vaginosis. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 2019, 38, 1643–1649. [CrossRef]
- Grine, G.; Lotte, R.; Chirio, D.; Chevalier, A.; Raoult, D.; Drancourt, M.; Ruimy, R. Co-culture of Methanobrevibacter smithii with enterobacteria during urinary infection. *EBioMedicine* 2019, 43, 333–337. [CrossRef]
- Drancourt, M.; Nkamga, V.D.; Lakhe, N.A.; Régis, J.-M.; Dufour, H.; Fournier, P.-E.; Bechah, Y.; Michael Scheld, W.; Raoult, D. Evidence of archaeal methanogens in brain abscess. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2017, 65, 1–5. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nkamga, V.D.; Lotte, R.; Chirio, D.; Lonjon, M.; Roger, P.-M.; Drancourt, M.; Ruimy, R. Methanobrevibacter oralis detected along with Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans in a series of community-acquired brain abscesses. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 2018, 24, 207–208. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nkamga, V.D.; Lotte, R.; Roger, P.-M.; Drancourt, M.; Ruimy, R. Methanobrevibacter smithii and Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron cultivated from a chronic paravertebral muscle abscess. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 2016, 22, 1008–1009. [CrossRef]
- Faveri, M.; Gonçalves, L.F.H.; Feres, M.; Figueiredo, L.C.; Gouveia, L.A.; Shibli, J.A.; Mayer, M.P.A. Prevalence and microbiological diversity of Archaea in peri-implantitis subjects by 16S ribosomal RNA clonal analysis: Archaea in peri-implantitis subjects. J. Periodontal Res. 2011, 46, 338–344. [CrossRef]
- Nguyen-Hieu, T.; Khelaifia, S.; Aboudharam, G.; Drancourt, M. Methanogenic archaea in subgingival sites: A review. APMIS 2013, 121, 467–477. [CrossRef]
- Sogodogo, E.; Fellag, M.; Loukil, A.; Nkamga, V.D.; Michel, J.; Dessi, P.; Fournier, P.-E.; Drancourt, M. Nine cases of methanogenic archaea in refractory sinusitis, an emerging clinical entity. *Front. Public Health* 2019, 7, 38. [CrossRef]
- Drancourt, M.; Djemai, K.; Gouriet, F.; Grine, G.; Loukil, A.; Bedotto, M.; Levasseur, A.; Lepidi, H.; Bou-Khalil, J.; Khelaifia, S.; et al. Methanobrevibacter smithii archaemia in febrile patients with bacteremia, including those with endocarditis. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2020, ciaa998. [CrossRef]
- Guindo, C.O.; Terrer, E.; Chabrière, E.; Aboudharam, G.; Drancourt, M.; Grine, G. Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen. *Anaerobe* 2020, 61, 102128. [CrossRef]
- Miller, T.L. Description of Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii sp. nov., Methanobrevibacter thaueri sp. nov., Methanobrevibacter woesei sp. nov. and Methanobrevibacter wolinii sp. nov. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 2002, 52, 819–822.
- 20. Pol, A.; Demeyer, D.I. Fermentation of methanol in the sheep rumen. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1988, 54, 832-834. [CrossRef]
- Janssen, P.H.; Kirs, M. Structure of the archaeal community of the rumen. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2008, 74, 3619–3625. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jarvis, G.N.; Strömpl, C.; Burgess, D.M.; Skillman, L.C.; Moore, E.R.B.; Joblin, K.N. Isolation and identification of ruminal methanogens from grazing cattle. *Curr. Microbiol.* 2000, 40, 327–332. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grine, G.; Boualam, M.A.; Drancourt, M. Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 2017, 36, 2449–2455. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mihajlovski, A.; Doré, J.; Levenez, F.; Alric, M.; Brugère, J.-F. Molecular evaluation of the human gut methanogenic archaeal microbiota reveals an age-associated increase of the diversity. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 2010, 2, 272–280. [CrossRef]
- Danielsson, R.; Schnürer, A.; Arthurson, V.; Bertilsson, J. Methanogenic population and CH₄ production in swedish dairy cows fed different levels of forage. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2012, 78, 6172–6179. [CrossRef]
- Odamaki, T.; Kato, K.; Sugahara, H.; Hashikura, N.; Takahashi, S.; Xiao, J.; Abe, F.; Osawa, R. Age-related changes in gut microbiota composition from newborn to centenarian: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiol.* 2016, 16, 90. [CrossRef]
- Palmer, C.; Bik, E.M.; DiGiulio, D.B.; Relman, D.A.; Brown, P.O. Development of the human infant intestinal microbiota. *PLoS Biol.* 2007, 5, e177. [CrossRef]

- 28. Miller, T.L.; Wolin, M.J. Methanogens in human and animal intestinal Tracts. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 1986, 7, 223–229. [CrossRef]
- Miller, T.L.; Wolin, M.J.; Zhao, H.X.; Bryant, M.P. Characteristics of methanogens isolated from bovine rumen. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1986, 51, 201–202. [CrossRef]
- Skillman, L.C.; Evans, P.N.; Strömpl, C.; Joblin, K.N. 16S rDNA directed PCR primers and detection of methanogens in the bovine rumen. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 2006, 42, 222–228. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, Y.; Zamudio Cañas, E.M.; Zhu, Z.; Linville, J.L.; Chen, S.; He, Q. Robustness of archaeal populations in anaerobic co-digestion of dairy and poultry wastes. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2011, 102, 779–785. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luo, Y.; Su, Y.; Wright, A.-D.G.; Zhang, L.; Smidt, H.; Zhu, W. Lean breed landrace pigs harbor fecal methanogens at higher diversity and density than obese breed erhualian pigs. Archaea 2012, 2012, 1–9. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hernandez-Sanabria, E.; Goonewardene, L.A.; Wang, Z.; Zhou, M.; Moore, S.S.; Guan, L.L. Influence of sire breed on the interplay among rumen microbial populations inhabiting the rumen liquid of the progeny in beef cattle. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e58461. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rea, S.; Bowman, J.P.; Popovski, S.; Pimm, C.; Wright, A.-D.G. Methanobrevibacter millerae sp. nov. and Methanobrevibacter olleyae sp. nov., methanogens from the ovine and bovine rumen that can utilize formate for growth. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 2007, 57, 450–456. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Murru, F.; Fliegerova, K.; Mura, E.; Mrázek, J.; Kopečný, J.; Moniello, G. A comparison of methanogens of different regions of the equine hindgut. Anaerobe 2018, 54, 104–110. [CrossRef]
- Wright, A.-D.G.; Williams, A.J.; Winder, B.; Christophersen, C.T.; Rodgers, S.L.; Smith, K.D. Molecular diversity of rumen methanogens from sheep in western Australia. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2004, 70, 1263–1270. [CrossRef]
- Lee, J.-H.; Kumar, S.; Lee, G.-H.; Chang, D.-H.; Rhee, M.-S.; Yoon, M.-H.; Kim, B.-C. Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani sp. nov., isolated from the rumen of Korean native cattle. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 2013, 63, 4196–4201. [CrossRef]
- Tun, H.M.; Brar, M.S.; Khin, N.; Jun, L.; Hui, R.K.-H.; Dowd, S.E.; Leung, F.C.-C. Gene-centric metagenomics analysis of feline intestinal microbiome using 454 junior pyrosequencing. J. Microbiol. Methods 2012, 88, 369–376. [CrossRef]
- Beauchemin, K.A.; Ungerfeld, E.M.; Eckard, R.J.; Wang, M. Review: Fifty years of research on rumen methanogenesis: Lessons learned and future challenges for mitigation. *Animal* 2020, 14, s2–s16. [CrossRef]
- Qin, H.; Lang, H.; Yang, H. Characterization of the methanogen community in a household anaerobic digester fed with swine manure in China. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2013, 97, 8163–8171. [CrossRef]
- Saengkerdsub, S.; Ricke, S.C. Ecology and characteristics of methanogenic archaea in animals and humans. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 2014, 40, 97–116. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Whitford, M.F.; Teather, R.M.; Forster, R.J. Phylogenetic analysis of methanogens from the bovine rumen. BMC Microbiol. 2001, 1, 5. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mukumba, P.; Makaka, G.; Mamphweli, S. Anaerobic digestion of donkey dung for biogas production. S. Afr. J. Sci. 2016, 112, 1–4. [CrossRef]
- 44. Stackebrandt, E.; Ebers, J. Taxonomic parameters revisited: Tarnished gold standards. Microbiol. Today 2006, 33, 152–155.
- Nkamga, V.D.; Huynh, H.T.T.; Aboudharam, G.; Ruimy, R.; Drancourt, M. Diversity of human-associated methanobrevibacter smithii isolates revealed by multispacer sequence typing. *Curr. Microbiol.* 2015, 70, 810–815. [CrossRef]
- Kumar, S.; Stecher, G.; Tamura, K. MEGA7: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 2016, 33, 1870–1874. [CrossRef]
- Dridi, B.; Henry, M.; El Khéchine, A.; Raoult, D.; Drancourt, M. High prevalence of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* and *Methanosphaera* stadtmanae detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol. *PLoS ONE* 2009, 4, e7063. [CrossRef]
- Dridi, B.; Raoult, D.; Drancourt, M. Archaea as emerging organisms in complex human microbiomes. *Anaerobe* 2011, 17, 56–63. [CrossRef]
- Sogodogo, E.; Doumbo, O.; Aboudharam, G.; Kouriba, B.; Diawara, O.; Koita, H.; Togora, S.; Drancourt, M. First characterization of methanogens in oral cavity in Malian patients with oral cavity pathologies. *BMC Oral Health* 2019, 19, 232. [CrossRef]
- Van de Pol, J.A.A.; van Best, N.; Mbakwa, C.A.; Thijs, C.; Savelkoul, P.H.; Arts, I.C.W.; Hornef, M.W.; Mommers, M.; Penders, J. Gut colonization by methanogenic archaea is associated with organic dairy consumption in children. *Front. Microbiol.* 2017, *8*, 35. [CrossRef]

# Article 6

Dairy products as sources of methanogens for humans.

C.O. Guindo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Publié sur BioRxiv.

1	Dairy products as sources of methanogens for humans.			
2				
3	Cheick Oumar Guindo ^{1,2} , Michel Drancourt ^{1,2,3} , Ghiles Grine ^{1,2} *.			
4				
5	1. IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France.			
6	2. Aix-Marseille-Université, IRD, MEPHI, IHU Méditerranée Infection, France.			
7	3. Laboratoire de Microbiologie, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Marseille, IHU			
8	Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France.			
9				
10	*Corresponding author : Ghiles GRINE, PhD			
11	IHU Méditerranée Infection, UMR MEPHI			
12	19-21, Bd Jean Moulin 13005 Marseille, France. Tel: +33 (0)4 13 73 24 01, fax: + 33 (0) 13			
13	73 24 02.			
14	Email: grineghiles@gmail.com			
15				
16	Word count abstract: 146			
17	Word count text: 1190			
18	Table: 1			
19	Figure: 1			
20				

# 21 ABSTRACT

22	Methanogens are detected in human gut from the first moments of life and there is a
23	diversification of methanogens during infancy. However, the sources of acquisition of
24	methanogens are not well elucidated. We therefore investigated 56 dairy products as potential
25	sources of methanogens by applying molecular biology. In the presence of negative controls,
26	we obtained an overall prevalence of methanogens in 85.7% (48/56) of samples by real-time
27	PCR. Further PCR-sequencing identified 73.2% (41/56) of Methanobrevibacter smithii. We
28	also found for the first time in dairy products 1.8% (1/56) of Methanobrevibacter oralis, 7.1%
29	(4/56) of Methanobrevibacter millerae, $1.8%$ $(1/56)$ of Methanobrevibacter ruminantium,
30	1.8% (1/56) of <i>Methanocorpusculum</i> sp. We observed a significant presence (p-value=0.001)
31	of methanogens in fermented dairy products compared to unfermented dairy products. This
32	study gives credit to the fact that dairy products could be considered as a source of
33	methanogens for humans, especially for children.
34	

- 35
- 36 Keywords: Diary products, sources, methanogens, humans.

# 37 1. Introduction

38	Methanogens represent the archaea most present in the mammalian microbiota, especially in
39	the human digestive microbiota where they account for 10% digestive tract of the anaerobic
40	microorganisms (Dridi et al., 2011; Guindo, 2020; Nkamga et al., 2017). Methanogens are
41	detected in humans from birth (Grine et al., 2017) and there is a diversification of
42	methanogens in humans over the years: while only Methanobrevibacter smithii (M. smithii)
43	has been detected and cultured in the neonates (Grine et al., 2017; Koenig et al., 2011;
44	Mihajlovski et al., 2010; Odamaki et al., 2016; Palmer et al., 2007; Sereme et al., 2021), M.
45	smithii, Methanosphaera stadtmanae (M. stadtmanae), Methanobrevibacter millerae (M.
46	millerae), Methanomassiliicoccus luminiyensis, Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus,
47	Methanobrevibacter oralis (M. oralis), Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus and
48	Candidatus Methanomassiliicoccus intestinalis have been isolated from adult stools (Dridi et
49	al., 2012; Nkamga et al., 2017; Sogodogo, Drancourt, et al., 2019). The various sources for
50	each one of these different species remain unknown. Accordingly, a recent study
51	demonstrated that the presence of methanogens, especially M. smithii in children stools is
52	linked to the consumption of dairy products (van de Pol et al., 2017); but this study targeted
53	only two of the methanogens strains present in the human digestive tract, namely M. smithii
54	and <i>M. stadtmanae</i> . Therefore, we further explored the presence of methanogens in dairy
55	products using molecular biology to target all methanogens currently known in the human
56	digestive tract.
57	
58	

59

60

## 61 **2.** Materials and methods

### 62 2.1 Sampling of dairy products

We have investigated the presence of methanogens in different types of dairy products
including unfermented dairy products (formula milk, fresh milk, and fresh cheese) and
fermented dairy products (yogurt and fermented milk) (Table 1). All these dairy products
were purchased in randomly selected supermarkets in Marseille, France in November 2019.

### 67 2.2 DNA extraction and PCR assays

68 DNA extraction was performed as previously described (Guindo et al., 2020). Briefly, for 69 cheeses, vogurt and formula milk, 0.2 g was suspended in 200 uL of ultrapure water (Fisher 70 Scientific, Illkirch, France), and a sonication step was performed for 30 minutes. DNA was 71 then extracted with the EZ1 Advanced XL Extraction Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) using 72 200  $\mu$ L as sample volume and 50  $\mu$ L as the elution volume. For fresh milk and fermented 73 milk, 200 uL were taken and a sonication step was performed for 30 minutes as above. DNA was then extracted with the EZ1 Advanced XL Extraction Kit (OIAGEN) using 200 uL as the 74 75 sample volume and 50  $\mu$ L as the elution volume. The PCR assays targeting the 16S rRNA 76 gene of methanogens, including real-time PCR and PCR-sequencing were performed to investigate the presence of methanogens in dairy products using primer pairs and PCR 77 conditions described previously (Guindo et al., 2021). Sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) 78 79 (Fisher Scientific) was used as a negative control in each DNA amplifications steps.

### 80 2.3 Phylogenetic analyses

81 Sequences were edited using ChromasPro software (ChromasPro 1.7, Technelysium Pty Ltd.,

82 Tewantin, Australia) as previously used (Guindo et al., 2021; Sereme et al., 2021; Sogodogo,

83 Doumbo, et al., 2019; Sogodogo, Fellag, et al., 2019). Molecular phylogenetic and

102

evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7 as previously described (Kumar et al.,
2016).

## 86 2.4 Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with RStudio (<u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>) by Fisher. test (** p < 0.01, *</li>
p < 0.05, ns: non-significant). We used the former to compare the proportion of methanogen</li>
detection by real-time PCR in fermented dairy products compared to unfermented dairy
products.

91

# 92 **3. Results and discussion**

We investigated the presence of methanogens in 56 dairy products including 30 unfermented 93 dairy products, and 26 fermented dairy products, of which 48 were positive (Table 1). The 94 overall prevalence of methanogens in dairy products was 85.7% (48/56) by real-time PCR. 95 96 The prevalence of methanogens in fermented dairy products was 32.1% (18/56) versus 53.6% (30/56) in unfermented dairy products (p-value=0.001). The results here reported were 97 authentified by the fact that negative controls introduced in all experiments, remained 98 99 negative. PCR-sequencing yielded M. smithii in 41 cases, i.e., 73.2% (41/56) exhibiting a 100 100% sequence similarity with the reference 16S rRNA gene sequence of M. smithii ATCC 101 35061 (accession NCBI: NR 074235) isolated from human stool. M. smithii was therefore the 102 most frequent species in dairy products samples (Fig.1). These results are consistent with the 103 literature where *M. smithii* was the only species identified in dairy products (van de Pol et al., 2017). The high prevalence of *M. smithii* in the human digestive tract (Dridi et al., 2009) 104 would therefore be related to the consumption of dairy products (van de Pol et al., 2017). 105 106 However, we also found for the first time *M. oralis* in one formula milk and this sequence exhibits 99.82% similarity with the sequence of the reference 16S rRNA gene of M. oralis 107

CSUR P5920 (NCBI accession: LR590665.1) isolated from Breast milk of healthy breast-108 feeding mother; *M. millerae* in three fermented milk and in one fresh milk and these 109 sequences have more than 99% similarity with the sequence of the reference 16S rRNA gene 110 of M. millerae strain CY31 (NCBI accession: MH443315.1). These two sequences have 111 112 already been found in human microbiota (Nkamga et al., 2017; Togo et al., 2019). We also 113 found Methanobrevibacter ruminantium (M. ruminantium) in one fermented milk exhibiting 99.65% similarity with the sequence of the reference 16S rRNA gene M. ruminantium strain 114 Yak M20 (NCBI accession: KP123415.1), but also Methanocorpusculum sp. T07 in one 115 116 fermented milk which has 92.24% similarity with the sequence of the reference 16S rRNA 117 gene of Methanocorpusculum sp. T07 (NCBI accession: AB288279.1). These two species are only known from the digestive tract of animals especially in the feces of domestic animals 118 119 (Guindo et al., 2021). In addition, statistical analysis has shown that there is significant 120 correlation between the presence of methanogens in fermented dairy products compared to unfermented dairy products (p-value=0.001), suggesting that fermentation processes might 121 have impact on the DNA of methanogens present in dairy products. This study gives an 122 123 insight on the concentration of methanogens present in dairy products with the demonstration 124 for the first time ever of the presence of *M. oralis*, *M. millerae*, *M. ruminantium* and Methanocorpusculum sp. in dairy products. We therefore detected many more species of 125 methanogens compared to the previous study (van de Pol et al., 2017). The presence of M. 126 smithii, M. oralis and M. millerae in dairy products suggests another mode of acquisition of 127 128 these methanogens in children through artificial breastfeeding. In addition, a previous study demonstrated that M. smithii and M. oralis can be acquired in children through breastfeeding 129 (Togo et al., 2019), which strengthens our hypothesis that methanogens present in the 130 digestive tract can be found in milk through mechanisms still unknown. These data add to 131 132 previous reports of the detection of methanogens in dairy products (van de Pol et al., 2017)

104

and thus giving credit that dairy products could be considered as a source of methanogens for

134 humans, especially for children.

135

# 136 4. Conclusions

- 137 This study demonstrates, for the first time, the presence of *M. oralis*, *M. millerae*, *M.*
- 138 ruminantium and Methanocorpusculum sp. in dairy products and suggests that dairy products
- 139 may be essential to seed the infant's microbiota with these neglected critical commensals

140 from the first hours of life.

141

# 142 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

143 We thank Lanceï KABA for his help in data analysis.

# 144 AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS

- 145 COG contributed to the collection of samples, conducted the experiments, analyzed the data,
- and wrote the paper; MD designed the project, participated in the writing of the paper, and
- 147 provided great support carrying out the experiments; GG designed the project, helped conduct
- 148 the experiments and participated in the writing of the paper.

# 149 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

150 All the authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

# 151 FUNDING STATEMENT

- 152 COG benefits from a PhD training course grant from Fondation Méditerranée Infection,
- 153 Marseille, France.

### 154 **REFERENCES**

155	Dridi, B.	, Henry, M.	El Khéchine,	A., Raoult,	D., & Drancour	t, M. (2	2009). Higl	a Prevalence
		/	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	/ /	/	/		

- 156 of Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanosphaera stadtmanae Detected in the
- 157 Human Gut Using an Improved DNA Detection Protocol. *PLoS ONE*, 4(9), e7063.
- 158 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007063
- 159 Dridi, B., Henry, M., Richet, H., Raoult, D., & Drancourt, M. (2012). Age-related prevalence
- 160 of Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis in the human gut microbiome. APMIS,
- 161 *120*(10), 773-777. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2012.02899.x
- 162 Dridi, B., Raoult, D., & Drancourt, M. (2011). Archaea as emerging organisms in complex
- human microbiomes. *Anaerobe*, 17(2), 56-63.
- 164 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2011.03.001
- 165 Grine, G., Boualam, M. A., & Drancourt, M. (2017). Methanobrevibacter smithii, a
- 166 methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach. European Journal of
- 167 Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 36(12), 2449-2455.
- 168 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-017-3084-7
- 169 Guindo, C. O. (2020). Digestive tract methanodrome : Physiological roles of human
- 170 microbiota-associated methanogens. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 8.
- 171 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104425.
- C.O. Guindo, B. Davoust, M. Drancourt, G. Grine. (2021). Diversity of Methanogens in
   Animals' Gut. *Microorganisms*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010013.
- 174 Guindo, C. O., Terrer, E., Chabrière, E., Aboudharam, G., Drancourt, M., & Grine, G. (2020).
- 175 Culture of salivary methanogens assisted by chemically produced hydrogen.
- 176 *Anaerobe*, *61*, 102128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102128
- 177 Koenig, J. E., Spor, A., Scalfone, N., Fricker, A. D., Stombaugh, J., Knight, R., Angenent, L.
- 178 T., & Ley, R. E. (2011). Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut

- 179 microbiome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(Supplement 1),
- 180 4578-4585. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000081107
- 181 Kumar, S., Stecher, G., & Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7 : Molecular Evolutionary Genetics
- 182 Analysis Version 7.0 for Bigger Datasets. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 33(7),
- 183 1870-1874. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msw054
- 184 Mihajlovski, A., Doré, J., Levenez, F., Alric, M., & Brugère, J.-F. (2010). Molecular
- 185 evaluation of the human gut methanogenic archaeal microbiota reveals an age-
- 186 associated increase of the diversity. *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, 2(2),
- 187 272-280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-2229.2009.00116.x
- 188 Nkamga, V. D., Henrissat, B., & Drancourt, M. (2017). Archaea : Essential inhabitants of the
- 189 human digestive microbiota. *Human Microbiome Journal*, *3*, 1-8.
- 190 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humic.2016.11.005
- 191 Odamaki, T., Kato, K., Sugahara, H., Hashikura, N., Takahashi, S., Xiao, J., Abe, F., &
- 192 Osawa, R. (2016). Age-related changes in gut microbiota composition from newborn
- to centenarian : A cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiology*, *16*(1), 90.
- 194 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-016-0708-5
- 195 Palmer, C., Bik, E. M., DiGiulio, D. B., Relman, D. A., & Brown, P. O. (2007). Development
- 196 of the Human Infant Intestinal Microbiota. *PLoS Biology*, 5(7), e177.
- 197 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050177
- 198 Sereme, Y., Guindo, C. O., Filleron, A., Corbeau, P., Tran, T. A., Drancourt, M., Vitte, J., &
- 199 Grine, G. (2021). Meconial Methanobrevibacter smithii suggests intrauterine
- 200 methanogen colonization in preterm neonates. Current Research in Microbial
- 201 Sciences, 100034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100034
- 202 Sogodogo, E., Doumbo, O., Aboudharam, G., Kouriba, B., Diawara, O., Koita, H., Togora, S.,
- 203 & Drancourt, M. (2019). First characterization of methanogens in oral cavity in
bioRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.16.468822; this version posted November 22, 2021. The copyright holder for this preprint (which was not certified by peer review) is the author/funder, who has granted bioRxiv a license to display the preprint in perpetuity. It is made available under aCC-BY-NC 4.0 International license.

Let internet parternet of an eavily participation bille of an internet, in the	204	Malian pa	atients w	ith oral	cavity	pathologies.	BMC	Oral	Health,	19(	1)	, 23
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----	-----------	-----------	----------	--------	--------------	-----	------	---------	-----	----	------

205 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-019-0929-8

- Sogodogo, E., Drancourt, M., & Grine, G. (2019). Methanogens as emerging pathogens in
   anaerobic abscesses. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious*
- 208 Diseases, 38(5), 811-818. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03510-5
- 209 Sogodogo, E., Fellag, M., Loukil, A., Nkamga, V. D., Michel, J., Dessi, P., Fournier, P.-E., &
- 210 Drancourt, M. (2019). Nine Cases of Methanogenic Archaea in Refractory Sinusitis,
- an Emerging Clinical Entity. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7, 38.
- 212 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00038
- 213 Togo, A. H., Grine, G., Khelaifia, S., des Robert, C., Brevaut, V., Caputo, A., Baptiste, E.,
- 214 Bonnet, M., Levasseur, A., Drancourt, M., Million, M., & Raoult, D. (2019). Culture
- of Methanogenic Archaea from Human Colostrum and Milk. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1),
- 216 18653. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54759-x
- van de Pol, J. A. A., van Best, N., Mbakwa, C. A., Thijs, C., Savelkoul, P. H., Arts, I. C. W.,
- 218 Hornef, M. W., Mommers, M., & Penders, J. (2017). Gut Colonization by
- 219 Methanogenic Archaea Is Associated with Organic Dairy Consumption in Children.
- *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00355

221

		Dairy	Samples	Real-time	PCR-	Methanobrevibacter	p-value
		products	analyzed	PCR	sequencing	species	
	Unfermented dairy	Fresh cheese	5	5	5	M. smithii	
	products	Fresh milk	6	6	6	M. smithii and M. millerae	
		Formula milk	16	16	16	M. smithii and M. oralis	0.001**
	Fermented dairy	Yogurt	10	7	7	M. smithii	
1	products	Fermented	16	11	11	M. smithii, M. millerae, M.	
10		milk				labreanum and M.	
						ruminantium	
223	**: High significant						

Table 1. Distribution of dairy products according to the number and results of real-time PCR and PCR-sequencing. 

bioRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.16.468822; this version posted November 22, 2021. The copyright holder for this preprint (which was not certified by peer review) is the author/funder, who has granted bioRxiv a license to display the preprint in perpetuity. It is made available under aCC-BY-NC 4.0 International license.



Figure 1. Methanogen species detected in dairy products.

# **Conclusions et perspectives**

Jusqu'à la réalisation de nos travaux de Thèse, les seuls méthanogènes connus de l'intestin humain appartenaient aux genres *Methanobrevibacter* et *Methanomassiliicoccus* [1,91]. Au cours de cette Thèse, nous nous sommes intéressés aux sources et à la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme depuis la période néonatale jusqu'à l'âge adulte. Notre travail de recherche bibliographique sous forme d'une revue sur les rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain nous a montré un déficit de connaissances et des informations partiellement contradictoires concernant les méthanogènes humains et la nécessité de développer une méthodologie et des procédures opérationnelles standard permettant la détection, la quantification et la caractérisation des méthanogènes dans les échantillons cliniques ainsi que l'étude de la dynamique d'acquisition des populations de méthanogènes chez l'Homme.

À la suite de ce travail de revue bibliographique, nous nous sommes intéressés à l'optimisation et au développement de nouveaux protocoles pour l'identification et la culture en routine des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique dans le laboratoire de microbiologie clinique. Nous avons inventé une méthode chimique de production d'hydrogène combinant la limaille de fer et l'acide acétique, permettant l'isolement et la culture rapide sur gélose à partir des échantillons cliniques, des deux méthanogènes les plus prévalents dans le microbiote digestif, Methanobrevibacter smithii et dans le microbiote buccal, Methanobrevibacter oralis. Cette méthode évite toute source externe d'hydrogène un petit peu difficile de mise en œuvre et, comme perspective, pourrait être développée pour faciliter l'isolement par culture des méthanogènes à partir des échantillons cliniques. Enfin, nous avons mis au point un milieu de culture spécifique permettant la découverte par isolement et culture d'un nouveau genre de Methanomassiliicoccales que nous avons nommé Methanomassiliia massiliensis à partir du fluide buccal humain. En parallèle à ces travaux de développement de nouvelles conditions d'isolement par culture des méthanogènes associés aux microbiotes humains, nous avons développé une méthode fiable, rapide et reproductible pour l'identification des méthanogènes ainsi cultivés et d'intérêt clinique, par spectrométrie de masse MALDI-TOF-MS qui permet également de différencier les génotypes différents de Methanobrevibacter smithii. La perspective d'utilisation en routine de ces différentes techniques développées dans cette Thèse dans les laboratoires de microbiologie clinique, permettra non seulement le diagnostic de routine des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique mais également d'enrichir le répertoire des méthanogènes du microbiote humain.

Quant aux sources et la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme, nous avons montré dans le courant de notre Thèse que la période intra-utérine constitue le premier moment d'acquisition de *Methanobrevibacter smithii* avec la détection sans précédent de ce méthanogène dans le méconium des nouveau-nés prématurés; confirmant l'hypothèse d'une étude précédente dans laquelle *Methanobrevibacter smithii* avait été isolé par culture dans le suc gastrique des nouveau-nés [92]. Nous avons aussi démontré que le contact étroit avec des animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait et produits laitiers de certains animaux est l'une des sources de la diversification des méthanogènes chez l'Homme. Ces données sont conformes avec la littérature indiquant que la détection des méthanogènes dans le colostrum et le lait maternel [6] et l'association significative entre acquisition de *Methanobrevibacter smithii* et consommation de produits laitiers, chez les enfants [90].

A la lumière des résultats de notre Thèse et des données de la littérature, nous concluons qu'il existe quatre modes probables d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez les enfants : une acquisition intra-utérine à travers les échanges materno-fœtaux durant la grossesse, et après la naissance une acquisition à travers la consommation du lait maternel, de produits laitiers, et enfin une transmission à partir de l'environnement notamment le contact avec les parents mais aussi avec les animaux. Il serait très utile de mener des investigations futures pour isoler par culture les méthanogènes détectés par biologie moléculaire dans le méconium ainsi que dans les produits laitiers pour mieux les caractériser phénotypiquement et explorer leur génome par séquencage pour mieux préciser leur rôle exact au sein du microbiote humain. Il serait aussi très utile d'étudier les mécanismes de la transmission materno-fœtale en explorant la présence des méthanogène dans le liquide amniotique, le sang du cordon ombilical et le placenta par une approche polyphasique incluant la microscopie, la culture et le séquencage génomique. Ces données nouvelles permettraient de mieux comprendre la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez les nouveau-nés, notamment dans la perspective de la pathologie de la malnutrition aiguë sévère et mortelle au cours de laquelle les méthanogènes sont constamment absents [93]. Le développement d'un milieu biphasique standard pour l'isolement et la culture rapide des méthanogènes à partir des échantillons cliniques est aussi nécessaire. La mise au point d'un tel milieu permettrait l'isolement et la culture en routine des méthanogènes directement à partir des échantillons cliniques et par la même occasion la culture des méthanogènes déjà détectés chez l'Homme par biologie moléculaire ainsi que des espèces non encore connues dans le microbiote humain.

# ANNEXES

# Annexe 1 : Un isolat intestinal humain de *Tetragenococcus halophilus*

### Préambule

*Tetragenococcus halophilus* est une bactérie à Gram positif, non mobile, non sporulante, anaérobie facultative, en forme de Cocci, productrice d'acide lactique [94,95] . Elle a été isolée par culture dans divers aliments salés et elle produit des acides organiques, des acides aminés et des composés aromatiques pendant la fermentation de ces aliments salés [94–101]. Elle aurait aussi des effets bénéfiques dans la santé humaine, en particulier un effet immunomodulateur surtout dans l'amélioration des maladies atopiques [102,103]. Cependant, cette espèce n'a jamais été détectée dans un échantillon clinique. Nous avons donc investigué par une approche polyphasique incluant la culture, la microscopie électronique à balayage et le séquençage génomique la présence de *Tetragenococcus halophilus* dans les échantillons de matières fécales prélevés sur des individus apparemment en bonne santé exposés à différentes régions d'Europe et d'Afrique. Cette étude a révélé la présence sans précédent de *Tetragenococcus halophilus* dans des échantillons de matières.

# Article 7

## A Tetragenococcus halophilus human gut isolate.

C.O. Guindo, M. Morsli, S. Bellali, M. Drancourt, G. Grine.

Publié dans Current Research in Microbial Sciences.

### Current Research in Microbial Sciences 3 (2022) 100112

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



## Current Research in Microbial Sciences

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com/journal/current-research-in-microbial-sciences



### A Tetragenococcus halophilus human gut isolate

Cheick Oumar Guindo ^{a,b}, Madjid Morsli ^{a,b}, Sara Bellali ^a, Michel Drancourt ^{a,b,c}, Ghiles Grine ^{a,b,*}

^a IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

^b Aix-Marseille-Université, IRD, MEPHI, IHU Méditerranée Infection, France

^c Laboratoire de Microbiologie, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Marseille, IHU Méditerranée Infection, Marseille, France

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Isolation and culture Scanning electron microscopy Next-generation sequencing Tetragenococcus halophilus Human gut microbiota	Tetragenococcus halophilus (T. halophilus) is a facultative anaerobic, coccus-shaped halophilic lactic acid- producing bacterium previously detected and cultured in various salty foods and credited for beneficial effects on human health. In this study, we investigated the presence of T. halophilus in human samples using a polyphasic approach including scanning electron microscopy, molecular biology methods and microbial culture. This unique investigation yielded the unprecedented presence of T. halophilus in human faces samples, thus enriching the repertoire of halophilus for the first time in humans. Using the E-test strips, the MIC was assessed for T. halophilus strain CSURQ6002: rifampicin (MIC at 0.002 μg/mL), benzylpenicillin (MIC at 0.094 μg/mL), amoxicillin (MIC at 0.5 μg/mL), erythromycin (MIC at 2 μg/mL), dindamycin (MIC at 4 μg/mL), and vancomycin (MIC at 8 μg/mL). However, this strain showed a MIC up to 256 μg/mL for ciprofloxacin, fosfomycin, dosrycyclin, imipenem, and colistin. <i>In-silico</i> profiling derived from whole genome sequencing (NCBI accession number: PRJNA780809), was confirmed. This discovery suggested that T. halophilus was part of the human digestive microbiota and that its potential role on human health should be considered.

### 1. Introduction

Tetragenococcus halophilus (T. halophilus) is a gram-positive, nonmotile, non-sporulating, facultative anaerobic, coccus-shaped lactic acid-producing bacterium (Chun et al., 2019, Justé et al., 2012). This halophilic microorganism has been initially isolated from miso (Kumazawa et al., 2018) and further detected in various salty foods (Chun et al., 2019, Justé et al., 2012, Guan et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2015, Udomsil et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2017, Jung et al., 2016, Jung et al., 2016), being incorporated into soy sauce, miso, anchovy brines and fermented and smoked fish eggs (Kim et al., 2018, Hanagata et al., 2003, Roling and van Verseveld, 1996, Udomsil et al., 2011, Tanasupawat et al., 2002). Indeed, T. halophilus has been shown to produce organic acids, amino acids and flavoring compounds during the fermentation of salty foods (Udomsil et al., 2010, Udomsil et al., 2017, Lee et al., 2018). Moreover, T. halophilus has been credited from beneficial effects on human health, in particular an immunomodulatory effect leading to improvement of atopic diseases (Masuda et al., 2008, Ohata et al., 2011). Despite the widespread presence of T. halophilus in salty foods, this species has never been described in humans in the many studies which have proven the presence of halophilic bacteria in the human microbiota (Oxley et al., 2010, Seck et al., 2018, Khelaifia et al., 2017, Khelaifia and Raoult, 2016). We herein questioned whether *T. halophilus* could also be detected in the human gut, investigating feces samples collected from apparently healthy individuals exposed to different regions in Europe and Africa. This unique investigation yielded the unprecedented presence of *T. halophilus* in human feces samples, and this finding was confirmed by the sequencing of the first genome of this clinical isolate from the cultivated colonies.

### 2. Materials and methods

### 2.1. Sample collection

A series of 184 human anonymized leftover fecal specimens were retrospectively investigated for the prevalence of *T. halophilus*. In France, Mali, and Senegal, where stools samples have been anonymously collected, informed consent was obtained from individuals before

* Corresponding author at: IHU Méditerranée Infection, UMR MEPHI 19-21, Bd Jean Moulin 13005 Marseille, France. E-mail address: grineghiles@gmail.com (G. Grine).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2022.100112

Received 24 December 2021; Received in revised form 2 February 2022; Accepted 7 February 2022

Available online 16 February 2022

^{2666-5174/© 2022} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://restitewommona.org/license/ty-ac-ed/4.0/).

C.O. Guindo et al.

Current Research in Microbial Sciences 3 (2022) 100112



Fig. A. (A1) Spherical white colonies of T. halophilus CSURQ6002 growing on agar. (A2) Negative control.

participation in this study in agreement with French, Malian and Sene-galese laws.

### 2.2. DNA extraction and PCR assays

Total DNA extracted as previously described (Guindo et al., 2020), was incorporated into PCR for the amplification of the 16S rRNA gene from *T. halophilus* using the primers *T. halophilus* F, 5-ACAGGGGTAG-GAGTGAAATCITG-3, and *T. halophilus* R, 5-TGCTGGCAACAGTGG GCAC-3 (Eurogentec, Angers, France), designed in our laboratory and using a specific program for the amplification reactions (Appendix A). Sequencing reactions (Sangers' method) were carried-out as previously described (Guindo et al., 2020).

#### 2.3. Isolation and culture of T. halophilus

We selected 20 human anonymized leftover stool specimens proved to harbor *T. halophilus* following specific DNA sequencing of which five have been collected in five individuals living in Senegal, 13 have been collected in 13 individuals living in Mali and two have been collected in two individuals living in France. Salinity was measured in these 20 stool specimens according to a previously established protocol (Seck et al., 2019). The total mineral salt content of all 20 stool specimens was measured by a salinity refractometer (Thermo Scientific). One gram of each stool specime was diluted in 10 mL of distilled water (Thermo Scientific, Villebon sur Yvette, France) and vortexed briefly. Then, 100  $\mu$ L of supernatant was deposited in the refractometer and the result was directly displayed on the screen. One measure was performed per sample.

For stool culturing, we used a specific culture medium containing 100 g of NaCL (Appendix B). We established a four-week culture protocol with weekly follow-up. We poured 25 mL of culture medium in bottle serum (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France) and then degassed with 2-bar nitrogen for ten minutes. Then, one gram of each stool specimen was diluted in 10 mL of 10X PBS (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France) under anaerobic conditions and subsequently 2 mL of each dilution were injected into the degassed bottle serum and incubated at 37°C during a four-week follow-up. Then, each stool specimen was subcultured in an anaerobic chamber (Don Whitley Scientific, Bingley BD16 2NH, UK) on a solid medium comprising the same components as the liquid medium used and placed in an anaerobic bag (Becton Dickinson, Pont-de-Claix, France) with a CO₂ generator (Becton Dickinson) and incubated at 37°C for ten days.

### 2.4. Scanning electron microscopy investigations

Morphological features of *T. halophilus* were further assessed using a SU5000 scanning electron microscope (SEM) (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Pure cultures were obtained from solid and liquid cultures fixed for three hours with 2.5% glutaraldehyde. Fixed bacteria were cyto-centrifuged on glass slides and platinum sputtered coated (5  $\mu$ m thick platinum layer) using ion sputter MC1000 (Hitachi). Micrographs were acquired at magnifications ranging from x10,000 to x120,000 with a 10-kV voltage and a spot intensity of 30 using the backscatter electron detector under a high vacuum mode.

### 2.5. Whole genome sequencing

For whole genome sequencing, *T. halophilus* DNA was extracted flowing an in-house adapted procedure used EZ1 protocol (Qiagen Tissue, Hilden, Qiagen, Germany). Briefly, 200 µL of *T. halophilus* suspension mixed with 200 µL G2 buffer in presence of 20 µL proteinase K (Qiagen) was incubated over night at 56°C. After proteinase K treatment, glass powder was added to the mix and incubated 20 minutes at 100°C and immediately vortexed 90S at 6.5 m/S with FastPrep (MP Biomedical Europe, Illkirch, France). After five-minute centrifugation at 17,000 g, DNA was extracted from 200 µL supernatant and eluted in 50 µL final volume. Extracted DNA was normalized using Qubit dsDNA High Sensitivity Assay Kit (Life Technology, Villebon-sur-Yvette, France). Genome sequencing was performed using 1 ng of normalized DNA following Illumina Nextera-XT paired-end protocol and sequenced on Illumina iseq 100 and MiSeq instruments (Illumina, San Dieço, USA)

Table A Salinity assess	ment.																			
Ð	C028	C068	F30A	C036	C014	M34A	C040	C112	C137	C037	C054	C020	C153	C169	C141	S1	S2	S3	S4	S5
Salinity(%)	1.7	2.1	2.2	1.3	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.4	9.0	0.3	0.5	0.46	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.26	0.31	0.21	0.22	0.

after library preparation, as previously described (Morsli et al., 2021, Morsli et al., 2021, Diop et al., 2016). In parallel, 1 µg of T. halophilus DNA was used for Oxford Nanopore library preparation as previously described (Morsli et al., 2021), then sequenced using MinION sequencer (Oxford Nanopore technologies, Oxford, UK). NGS-generated data were analyzed using CLC Genomics Workbench, version 7.5.0 (Qiagen). Phylogenetic tree based on whole genome sequence was generated using Orthologous Average Nucleotide Identity Tool (OAT) software version (0.93.10) (Lee et al., 2016) and pangenome analysis was performed using Roary command after genome anotation on galaxy Europe online software (https://usegalaxy.eu/). Antibiotic resistance and bacteria virulence were analyzed using on-line CGE-database bio-tools (CGE Server "dtu.dk"), and Resistance Gene Identifier (https://card.mcma ster.ca/analyze/rei).

### 3. Results and Discussion

We are reporting on the first isolation and culture of *T. halophilus* from human stools. The results here reported were authentified by the fact that negative controls introduced in all experiments remained negative; in agreement with the fact that *T. halophilus* has never been previously worked in our laboratory and the fact that concordant results were obtained by polyphasic approaches, including molecular methods, culture, and microscopy. The fact that this observation occurred twelve years after the initial detection of food-borne *T. halophilus* in Asia (Kumazawa et al., 2018, Guan et al., 2011, Idomsil et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2017, Jung et al., 2016, Jung et al., 2016), testifies that the search for halophiles is still in its infancy, in clinical microbiology.

In the first step, we searched for T. halophilus by PCR-sequencing in stools specimens collected in individuals living in France, Senegal, and Mali, By incorporating 16S rRNA T, halophilus gene PCR primers recently designed in our laboratory into PCR-sequencing, we detected the presence of T. halophilus DNA in 28/184 (15%) of stools samples here investigated but not in the negative controls (Appendix C). All sequences obtained exhibited a 100% similarity and 100% coverage with the sequence of the complete genome of T. halophilus strain YJ1 (NCBI accession number: CP046246.1). These data indicated an average prevalence of T. halophilus in humans compared to the high prevalence in salty foods (Chun et al., 2019, Justé et al., 2012, Guan et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2015, Udomsil et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2017, Jung et al., 2016, Jung et al., 2016). This average prevalence could be explained by the generally very low salt diet in the Caucasian population, which represented 67.39% (124/184) of the stool samples here investigated. A contrario, the T. halophilus strain here reported had been recovered from stool sample collected in an individual exposed to high salt content food.

In a second step, we initiated the isolation by culture of *T. halophilus*, by using a specific salt medium. We used a very rich medium because *T. halophilus* has complex nutritional needs (Collins et al., 1990). After ten days of culture, we observed spherical white colonies suggestive of *T. halophilus* growing on agar (Fig. A), as previously described (Vos et al., 2011). This observation was made on 5% (1/20) of the samples cultured after ten-day follow-up. These results suggested the low prevalence of *T. halophilus* in humans regardless of the population studied, but also demonstrated that *T. halophilus* was a slow growing bacterium. The culture-positive sample had a salinity of 2.2% (Table A), compatible with the presence of *T. halophilus* in salty stool as defined by a salinity - 1.5% (Seck et al., 2019). However, the mean salinity of here cultured samples was 0.7%, hence the low prevalence of *T. halophilus* in the cultured samples.

To characterize this strain of *T. halophilus*, we performed matrixassisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS; Bruker Daltonics, Wissembourg, France) on the colonies obtained on agar as previously described (Seng et al., 2009, Seng et al., 2013) and also performed an antibiogram with E-tests (bio-Mérieux, Craponne, France) using 11 of the most prescribed antibiotics in human pathologies (amoxicillin, vancomycin, erythromycin,

### C.O. Guindo et al.



Fig. B. Spectral profiles of T. halophilus CSURQ6002. (B1) Spectra from six different deposits of T. halophilus CSURQ6002. (B2) Spectral superposition of T. halophilus CSURQ6002.

clindamycin, fosfomycin, ciprofloxacin, benzylpenicillin, rifampicin, doxycyclin, imipenem, and colistin) according to a previously established protocol (Konate et al., 2021). Specifically, to perform E-tests, fresh *T. halophilus* colonies were resuspended in 0.9% NaCl to a 3 McFarland density. We obtained reproducible spectra with intensities at  $10^4$  (Fig. B). These spectra were added to our MALDI-TOF MS database and are available on the website of the University-Hospital Institute (IHU) Méditerranée Infection on the link https://www.mediterranee -infection.com/acces-ressources/base-de-donnees/urms-data-base/.

Using the E-test strips, the MIC was assessed for *T. halophilus* strain CSURQ6002: rifampicin (MIC at  $0.092\mu g/mL$ ), benzylpenicillin (MIC at  $0.094 \mu g/mL$ ), amoxicillin (MIC at  $0.5 \mu g/mL$ ), erythromycin (MIC at  $2 \mu g/mL$ ), clindamycin (MIC at  $4 \mu g/mL$ ), and vancomycin (MIC at  $8 \mu g/mL$ ) mL). However, this strain showed a MIC up to  $256 \mu g/mL$  for ciprofloxacin, fosfomycin, doxycyclin, imipenem, and colistin (Appendix D).

Using SEM, T. halophilus cells appeared as cocci with average diameter of 450  $\mu$ m, shaped and grape-like clusters (Fig. C). At high magnification the surface of cells was not smooth.

Blast nucleotide on NCBI Blast database of the NGS data after assembly using spades on galaxy Europe online software, showed T. halophilus strain YJ1 (NCBI accession number: CP046246) at 99.98% sequence similarity, strain isolated from Salty fermented fish sauce in south Korea in 2018 (unpublished data). The T. halophilus strain YJ1 complete genome (NCBI accession number: CP046246.1), was used as reference sequence for mapping of total reads by CLC Genomics Workbench software. Mapping MiSeq, iSeq and MinION-generated reads vielded 2,863,767 reads (59%) were matched to the reference genome, generating 2,511,991 nucleotides with 97-read depth. Annotation of identified T. halophilus CSURQ6002 (NCBI accession number: PRJNA780809) genome yielded 36.2% GC nucleotides, 0.82 gap ratio and 78% coding ratio including 2,694 encoding gene (CDSs), 15 rRNA genes, 62 tRNA genes and two genes encoding for CRISPRs. Whole genome phylogenetic analysis of the identified T. halophilus CSURQ6002 (NCBI accession number: PRJNA780809) with the six hit-blast strains genome recovered from GenBank NCBI database using OrthoANI Tool version (0.93.1), including Methanohalophilus halophilus strain Z-7982 (NCBI accession number: NZ CP017921) as an out of the group, showed that the identified T. halophilus genome belonged to T. halophilus, sharing 97.37% whole genome sequence similarity with T. halophilus strain MJ4, isolated form myeolchi-jeotgal, Korean traditional fermented anchovy (NCBI accession number: NZ_CP012047.1) (Kim et al., 2018), 97.19% whole genome sequence similarity with T. halophilus strain KUD23 isolated from Doenjang, fermented soybeans (NCBI accession number: CP020017), and only 97.07% sequence similarity with the first hit-blast T. halophilus strain YJ1 (Fig. D). This was confirmed by pangenome analysis after annotation of the encoding genome fraction of the identified T. halophilus CSURQ6002 (accession number: PRJNA780809) and the first six-blast genomes recovered from GenBank database, yielded that the isolated bacteria strain belonged to the T. halophilus species genetically near to T. halophilus strain YJ1, first blast-result obtained by blast against GenBank database (Appendix E). Based on genomic data analysis, the isolated bacteria probably translocated to the digestive tracts by alimentation, illustrating the role of nutrition in the diversity of the human gut microbiota. Also, in silico analysis did not reveal any gene known to encode for virulence and antibiotic resistance, a result somewhat discrepant with E-test results as above, potentially due to the fact that online databases used for such investigations, do not contain halophilic genomes, therefore lacking references for antibiotic resistance.

The *T. halophilus* strain herein isolated has been deposited the Collection de Souches de l'Unité des Rickettsies (CSUR) as *T. halophilus* CSURQ6002.

In conclusion, the present study demonstrated for the first time, isolation by culture of *T. halophilus* from the human digestive tract and enabled the isolation and cultivation of the first strain of *T. halophilus* in humans. However, we observed a low prevalence of *T. halophilus* in humans, and its detection was associated with high stool salinity. This discovery therefore suggested that *T. halophilus* was part of the human



Fig. C. SEM micrographs of T. halophilus CSURQ6002. Fresh cultures were obtained from agar plates (C1, C2, C3), as well as from liquid medium (C4, C5, C6).

100 95

> 85 80

> 75 70 65

> 60 55

> 50

C.O. Guindo et al.



Heatmap generated with OrthoANI values calculated from the OAT software. Please cite Lee et al. 2015.



Fig. D. Phylogenetic analysis based on complete genome sequences of the identified *T. halophilus* and the six hit-blast strains recovered from NBCI GenBank nucleotide sequence database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nucleotide/, accessed on 24 October 2021). The identified *T. halophilus* CSURQ6002 had 97.37% genome identity with *T. halophilus* strain MJ4, 97.19 with *T. halophilus* strain KUD23 and only 97.07% genome identity with the first hit-blast *T. halophilus* strain YJ1. The evolutionary history was inferred in Orthologous Average Nucleotide Identity Tool software used OrthoANI to measure overall similarity between two genome sequences. Unlike the original ANI algorithm, OrthoANI produces identical reciprocal similarities. It has been shown by a large comparison study, values generated by the original ANI and OrthoANI are comparable. The proposed cut-off for species demarcation is 95–96% for both OrthoANI and the original ANI.

digestive microbiota in some individuals, in whom its role on human health should be further considered (Masuda et al., 2008, Ohata et al., 2011).

### Ethics approval

The study was previously approved by the Ethics Committee of the University-Hospital Institute (IHU) Méditerranée Infection under n° 2016-011, the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine and Odonto-Stomatology of Bamako, Mali, under n° 2014/46/CE/FMPOS, and the National Health Research Ethics Committee of Senegal under n° SEN16/ 45.

### Credit author statement

COG contributed to the collection of samples, conducted the experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the paper; MM contributed to the whole genome sequencing and *in silico* data analysis and participated in the writing of the paper; SB contributed to the electron microscopy analysis and participated in the writing of the paper; MD designed the project, participated in the writing of the paper and provided great support carrying out the experiments; GG designed the project, helped conduct the experiments and participated in the writing of the paper. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

### Funding statement

This work was supported by the French Government under the «Investissements d'avenir» (Investments for the Future) program managed by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR, fr: National Agency for Research), (reference: Méditerranée Infection 10-IAHU-03). C.O. Guindo et al.

### Declaration of Competing Interest

All the authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

### Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the Méditerranée Infection Foundation. We

### Appendix

Appendix A. Program for T. halophilus DNA amplification reactions

An initial 15min denaturation step at 95°C was followed by 40 cycles of denaturation of 30s each at 95°C, a 45s annealing step at the appropriate Tm 55°C and a 60s extension at 72°C. Holding at 72°C for 5min allowed the complete extension of the PCR products.

### Appendix B. T. halophilus CSURQ6002 culture medium

NaCl	100.0 g
MgSO ₄ •7H ₂ O	3.45 g
MgCl ₂ •6H ₂ O	2.75 g
Sodium acetate	1.0 g
KCl	0.335 g
NH4Cl	0.25 g
CaCl ₂ •2H ₂ O	0.14 g
K ₂ HPO ₄ •3H ₂ O	0.14 g
Resazurin	1.0 mg
NaHCO3 solution	
Trimethylamine•HCl solution	20.0 mL
Na ₂ CO ₃ solution	10.0 mL
Trace elements solution	10.0 mL
Vitamin solution	10.0 mL
L-Cysteine•HCl solution	10.0 mL
Na ₂ S•9H ₂ O solution	10.0 mL
Distilled water	

 $pH\,6.9\,\pm\,0.2\,at\,25^{\circ}C$ 

Preparation of Medium: Add components, except NaHCO₃ solution, trimethylamine+HCl solution, Na₂CO₃ solution, vitamin solution, L-cysteine+HCl solution, and Na₂Se+H₂O solution, to distilled/deionized water and bring volume to 860.0mL. Mix thoroughly. Sparge with 100% N₂ for 20 min. Then sparge with 80% N₂ + 20% CO₂ for 10 min. Anaerobically distribute into tubes or bottles. Autoclave for 15 min at 15 psi pressure-121°C. Aseptically and anaerobically add 80.0mL of sterile NaHCO₃ solution, 20.0mL of sterile trimethylamine+HCl solution, 10.0mL of sterile Na₂Se₉H₂O solution. Mix thoroughly.

### Appendix C. PCR electrophoresis picture of T. halophilus CSURQ6002



7

sincerely thank Takashi Irie, Kyoko Imai, Taku Sakazume, Yusuke Ominami, Hisada Akiko, and the Hitachi team of Japan (Hitachi High-Tech Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) for the collaborative study conducted together with IHU Méditerranée Infection, and for the installation of a SUS000 microscope at IHU Méditerranée Infection facility. 0.5µg/mL)



at 8 µg/mL)

Appendix E. Pangenome analysis of the identified-Tetragenococcus (T. halophilus CSURQ6002) and the first six hit-blast genomes recovered from GenBank database

at 4 µg/mL)



### References

- Chun, B.H., Han, D.M., Kim, K.H., Jeong, S.E., Park, D., Jeon, C.O., 2019. Genomic and metabolic features of Tetragenococcus halophilus as revealed by pan-genome and transcriptome analyses. Food Microbiology 83, 36-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. m 201 04.00
- M.D. Collins, A.M. Williams, S. Wallbanks, The phylogeny of Aerococcus and Pediococcus as determined by 16S rRNA sequence analysis: description of Tetragenococcus gen. nov., FEMS Microbiology Letters. 70 (1990) 255-262. 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1990.tb14006.x.
- A. Diop, S. Khelaifia, N. Armstrong, N. Labas, P.-E. Fournier, D. Raoult, M. Million, Microbial culturomics unravels the halophilic microbiota repertoire of table salt: description of Gracilibacillus massiliensis sp. nov., Microbial Ecology in Health & Disease. 27 (2016). 10.3402/mehd.v27.32049.
- Guan, L., Cho, K.H., Lee, J.-H., 2011. Analysis of the cultivable bacterial community in jeotgal, a Korean salted and fermented seafood, and identification of its dominant bacteria. Food Microbiology 28, 101-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. m.2010.09.001.
- Guindo, C.O., Davoust, B., Drancourt, M., Grine, G., 2020. Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut. Microorganisms. 9, 13. https://doi.org/10.3390 organisms9010013.
- Hanagata, H., Shida, O., Takagi, H., 2003. Taxonomic homogeneity of a salt-tolerant lactic acid bacteria isolated from shoyu mash. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 49, 95-100. https://doi.org/10.2323/jgam.49.95.
- Jeong, D.-W., Heo, S., Lee, J.-H., 2017. Safety assessment of Tetragenococcus halophilus isolates from doenjang, a Korean high-salt-fermented soybean paste. Food Microbiology 62, 92-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.10.012
- Jung, J.Y., Lee, H.J., Chun, B.H., Jeon, C.O., 2016. Effects of Temperature on Bacterial Communities and Metabolites during Fermentation of Myeolchi-Aekjeot, a

Traditional Korean Fermented Anchovy Sauce. PLOS ONE 11, e0151351. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.015135

at 0.002µg/mL)

- Jung, W.Y., Jung, J.Y., Lee, H.J., Jeon, C.O., 2016. Functional Characterization of Bacterial Communities Responsible for Fermentation of Doenjang: A Traditional Korean Fermented Soybean Paste. Frontiers in Microbiology 7, 827. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00827
- Justé, A., Van Trappen, S., Verreth, C., Cleenwerck, I., De Vos, P., Lievens, B., Willems, K. A., 2012. Characterization of Tetragenococcus strains from sugar thick juice reveals a novel species, Tetragenococcus osmophilus sp. nov., and divides Tetragenococcus halophilus into two subspecies. T. halophilus subsp. halophilus subsp. nov. and T. halophilus subsp. flandriensis subsp. nov., International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 62, 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.029157-0.
- Khelaifia, S., Caputo, A., Djossou, F., Raoult, D., 2017. Draft genome sequence of a human-associated isolate of Haloferax alexandrinus strain Arc-hr, an extremely halophilic archaea. New Microbes and New Infections 15, 44-45. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nmni.2016.11.012
- Khelaifia, S., Raoult, D., 2016. Haloferax massiliensis sp. nov., the first human-associated halophilic archaea. New Microbes and New Infections 12, 96–98. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nmni.2016.05.007.
- Kim, J.A., Yao, Z., Perumal, V., Kim, H.-J., Kim, J.H., 2018. Properties of Tetragenococcus halophilus Strains Isolated from Myeolchi (anchovy)-jeotgal. Microbiology and Biotechnology Letters 46, 313-319. https://doi.org/10.4014/ mbl 1804 04016
- Konate, S., Camara, A., Lo, C.I., Tidjani Alou, M., Hamidou Togo, A., Niare, S., Armstrong, N., Djimdé, A., Thera, M.A., Fenollar, F., Raoult, D., Million, M., 2021. Virgibacillus doumboii sp. nov., a halophilic bacterium isolated from the stool of a healthy child in Mali. New Microbes and New Infections 42, 100890. https://doi org/10.1016/j.nmni.2021.100890.
- Kumazawa, T., Nishimura, A., Asai, N., Adachi, T., 2018. Isolation of immune-regulatory Tetragenococcus halophilus from miso. PLoS ONE 13, e0208821. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0208821.

C.O. Guindo et al.

- Lee, I., Ouk Kim, Y., Park, S.-C., Chun, J., 2016. OrthoANI: An improved algorithm and software for calculating average nucleotide identity. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 66, 1100–1103. https://doi.org/ 10.1099/ijsem.0.000760.
- Lee, J.-H., Heo, S., Jeong, K., Lee, B., Jeong, D.-W., 2018. Genomic insights into the nonhistamine production and proteolytic and lipolytic activities of Tetragenococcus halophilus KUD23. FEMS Microbiology Letters 365. https://doi.org/10.1093/ femsle/fmx252.
- Lee, S.H., Jung, J.Y., Jeon, C.O., 2015. Bacterial community dynamics and metabolite changes in myeolchi-aekjeot, a Korean traditional fermented fish sauce, during fermentation. International Journal of Food Microbiology 203, 15–22. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.02.031.
- Masuda, S., Yamaguchi, H., Kurokawa, T., Shirakami, T., Tsuji, R.F., Nishimura, I., 2008. Immunomodulatory effect of halophilic lactic acid bacterium Tetragenococcus halophilus H521 from soy sauce moroni grown in high-salt medium. International Journal of Food Microbiology 121, 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iifoodmircu.20071.0011.
- Morsli, M., Kerharo, Q., Delerce, J., Roche, P.-H., Troude, L., Drancourt, M., 2021. Haemophilus influenzae Meningitis Direct Diagnosis by Metagenomic Next-Generation Sequencing: A Case Report. Pathogens 10, 461. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/pathogens10040461.
- M. Morsli, J.-J. Vincent, L. Milliere, P. Colson, M. Drancourt, Direct next-generation sequencing diagnosis of echovirus 9 meningitis, France, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. (2021). 10.1007/s10096-021-04205-6.
- Morsli, M., Zandotti, C., Morand, A., Colson, P., Drancourt, M., 2021. Direct Diagnosis of Echovirus 12 Meningitis Using Metagenomic Next Generation Sequencing. Pathogens 10, 610. https://doi.org/10.0330/pathogens10050610.
- Ohata, E., Yoshida, S., Masuda, T., Kitagawa, M., Nakazawa, T., Yamazaki, K., Yasui, H., 2011. Tetragenococcus halophilus MN45 Ameliorates Development of Atopic Dermatitis in Atopic Dermatitis Model NC/Nga Mice. FSTR. 17, 537–544. https:// doi.org/10.3136/fstr.17.537.
- Oxley, A.P.A., Lanfranconi, M.P., Würdemann, D., Ott, S., Schreiber, S., McGenity, T.J., Timmis, K.N., Nogales, B., 2010. Halophilic archaea in the human intestinal mucosa: Haloarchaea in the intestinal mucosa. Environmental Microbiology 12, 2398–2410. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02212.x.
- Roling, W., van Verseveld, H.W., 1996. Characterization of Tetragenococcus halophila Populations in Indonesian Soy Mash (Kecap) Fermentation. Appl Environ Microbiol. 62, 1203–1207. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.624.1203-1207.1996.

- Seck, E.H., Dufour, J.-C., Raoult, D., Lagier, J.-C., 2018. Halophilic & halotolerant prokaryotes in humans. Future Microbiology 13, 799–812. https://doi.org/10.2217/ fmb-2017-0237.
- Seck, E.H., Senghor, B., Merhej, V., Bachar, D., Cadoret, F., Robert, C., Azhar, E.I., Yasir, M., Bibi, F., Jiman-Fatani, A.A., Konate, D.S., Musso, D., Doumbo, O., Sokhna, C., Levasseur, A., Lagier, J.C., Khelafila, S., Million, M., Raoult, D., 2019. Salt in stools is associated with obesity, gut halophilic microbiota and Akkermansia muciniphila depletion in humans. Int J Obes 43, 862–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41366-018-0201-3.
- Seng, P., Abat, C., Rolain, J.M., Colson, P., Lagier, J.-C., Gouriet, F., Fournier, P.E., Drancourt, M., Scola, B.La, Raoult, D., 2013. Identification of Rare Pathogenic Bacteria in a Clinical Microbiology Laboratory: Impact of Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 51, 2182–2194. https://doi.org/10.1128/JGM.00492-13.
- Seng, P., Dracourt, M., Gouriet, F., Scola, B.La, Fournier, P., Rolain, J.M., Raoult, D., 2009. Ongoing Revolution in Bacteriology: Routine Identification of Bacteria by Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry. CLIN INFECT D18 49, 534-551. https://doi.org/10.1086/f008855.
- Tanasupawat, S., Thongsanit, J., Okada, S., Komagata, K., 2002. Lactic acid bacteria isolated from soy sauce mash in Thailand. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 48, 201–209. https://doi.org/10.2323/gam.48.201.
- Udomsil, N., Chen, S., Rodtong, S., Yongsawatdigul, J., 2017. Improvement of fish sauce quality by combined inoculation of Tetragenococcus halophilus MS33 and Virgibacillus p. SK37, Food Control. 73, 930–938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodcont.2016.10.007.
- Udomsil, N., Rodtong, S., Choi, Y.J., Hua, Y., Yongsawatdigul, J., 2011. Use of Tetragenococcus halophilus as a Starter Culture for Flavor Improvement in Fish Sauce Fermentation. ACS Publications. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf201953v.
- Udomsil, N., Rodtong, S., Tanasupawat, S., Yongsawatdigul, J., 2010. Proteinaseproducing halophilic lactic acid bacteria isolated from fish sauce fermentation and their ability to produce volatile compounds. International Journal of Food Microbiology 141, 186–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.05.016.
- Vos, P., Garrity, G., Jones, D., Krieg, N.R., Ludwig, W., Rainey, F.A., Schleifer, K.-H., Whitman, W.B., 2011. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology: Volume 3: The Firmicutes. Springer Science & Business Media.

# Annexe 2 : Une signature néonatale non invasive permet de prédire le développement ultérieur des maladies atopiques

## Préambule

La prématurité est une cause majeure de morbidité et de mortalité chez les nourrissons et les enfants [104]. Les méthanogènes font partie du microbiote humain néonatal et contribuent à former l'empreinte immunitaire précoce [105,106]. Cependant, les méthodes non invasives de dépistage du statut immunitaire néonatal font défaut. Dans cette étude, nous avons analysé la relation entre les biomarqueurs immunologiques, l'abondance des méthanogènes et les maladies atopiques à l'âge d'un an. Nous avons rapporté dans cette étude, une méthode non invasive pour montrer des preuves d'une corrélation entre la charge méconiale et néonatale de méthanogènes et certains biomarqueurs fécaux, et l'apparition ultérieure de conditions atopiques chez les enfants prématurés.

# Article 8

## A Non-Invasive Neonatal Signature Predicts Later Development of

Atopic Diseases.

Y. Sereme, M. Michel, S. Mezouar, C.O. Guindo, L. Kaba, G. Grine, T. Mura, J.L. Mège, T.A.

Tran, P. Corbeau, A. Filleron, J. Vitte.

Publié dans Journal of Clinical Medicine.



Article



## A Non-Invasive Neonatal Signature Predicts Later Development of Atopic Diseases

Youssouf Sereme ^{1,2}, Moïse Michel ^{1,2,3}, Soraya Mezouar ^{1,2}, Cheick Oumar Guindo ^{1,2}, Lanceï Kaba ^{1,4}, Ghiles Grine ^{1,2,5}, Thibault Mura ^{6,7}, Jean-Louis Mège ^{1,2}, Tu Anh Tran ^{8,9,10}, Pierre Corbeau ^{3,0,11,*,*}, Anne Filleron ^{8,9,10,*,*} and Joana Vitte ^{1,2,10,12,*,*}

- ¹ IHU Méditerrande Infection, 13005 Marseille, France; seremeyoussouf@yahoo.fr (Y.S.); moise0michel@gmail.com (M.M.); soraya.mezouar@univ.amu.fr (S.M.); cheicko86@gmail.com (C.O.G.); lancekab@yahoo.fr (L.K.); gringefiles@gmail.com (G.G.); jean-louis.mege@univ.amu.fr (J.-L.M.)
- ² IRD, APHM, MEPHI, Aix-Marseille Université, 13284 Marseille, France
- Immunology Department, University Hospital Nîmes, 30900 Nîmes, France
- 4 IRD, AP-HM, SSA, VITROME, Aix-Marseille Université, 13284 Marseille, France
- 5 UFR Odontologie, Aix-Marseille Université, 13284 Marseille, France
- 6 INSERM, University of Montpellier, U1061, Neuropsychiatry: Epidemiological and Clinical Research, 34093 Montpellier, France; thibault.mura@chu-nimes.fr
- ⁷ Laboratoire de Biostatistique, Epidémiologie Clinique, Santé Publique Innovation et Méthodologie (BESPIM), Groupe Hospitalier Caremeau, CHU de Nîmes, Nîmes University Hospital, 30900 Nîmes, France
- 8 Paediatrics Department, University Hospital Nîmes, 30900 Nîmes, France; tu.anh.tran@chu-nimes.fr
- 9 INSERM U1183, Institute for Regenerative Medicine & Biotherapy, 34295 Montpellier, France
- ¹⁰ Faculty de Medicine, Montpellier University, 34000 Montpellier, France
- 11 CNRS UMR 9002, Institute of Human Genetics, 34090 Montpellier, France
- ¹² IDESP, INSERM UMR UA11, Institut Desbrest d'Epidemiologie et de Santé Publique (IDESP) Campus Sante, 34093 Montpellier, France
- Correspondence: pierre.corbeau@igh.cnrs.fr (P.C.); anne.filleron@chu-nimes.fr (A.F.);
- joana.vitte@inserm.fr (J.V.); Tel.: +33-4-13-73-20-51 (J.V.); Fax: +33-4-13-73-20-52 (J.V.)
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Background: Preterm birth is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in infants and children. Non-invasive methods for screening the neonatal immune status are lacking. Archaea, a prokaryotic life domain, comprise methanogenic species that are part of the neonatal human microbiota and contribute to early immune imprinting. However, they have not yet been characterized in preterm neonates. Objective: To characterize the gut immunological and methanogenic Archaeal (MA) signature in preterm neonates, using the presence or absence of atopic conditions at the age of one year as a clinical endpoint. Methods: Meconium and stool were collected from preterm neonates and used to develop a standardized stool preparation method for the assessment of mediators and cytokines and characterize the qPCR kinetics of gut MA. Analysis addressed the relationship between immunological biomarkers, Archaea abundance, and atopic disease at age one. Results: Immunoglobulin E, tryptase, calprotectin, EDN, cytokines, and MA were detectable in the meconium and later samples. Atopic conditions at age of one year were positively associated with neonatal EDN, IL-10, IL-10, IL-6, and MA abundance. The latter was negatively associated with neonatal EDN, IL-1β, and IL-6. Conclusions: We report a non-invasive method for establishing a gut immunological and Archaeal signature in preterm neonates, predictive of atopic diseases at the age of one year.

Keywords: preterm birth; fecal mediator and cytokine; methanogenic Archaea; allergy; atopy

Citation: Sereme, Y.; Michel, M.; Mezouar, S.; Guindo, C.O.; Kaba, L.; Grine, G.; Mura, T.; Mège, J.-L.; Tran, T.A.; Corbeau, P.; et al. A Non-Invasive Neonatal Signature Predicts Later Development of Atopic Diseases. J. Clim. Med. 2022, 11, 2749. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm11102749

Academic Editor: José Joaquín Cerón

Received: 19 March 2022 Accepted: 10 May 2022 Published: 12 May 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/hy/4.0/).

### 1. Introduction

Preterm birth, defined as delivery at fewer than 37 completed weeks of gestation, is the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity and has long-term adverse health consequences [1]. The global incidence of preterm births was estimated at 10.6 in 2014, and 9.8 in 2000 [2]. The etiology of preterm birth is multifactorial and not yet fully understood [3]. However, factors related to preterm birth include maternal or fetal medical conditions, genetic and epigenetic [4] influences, environmental exposures, infertility treatments, behavioral and socioeconomic elements [3,5]. Preterm infants experience abnormal immune and metabolic programming, which might exert a lasting influence on the risk of future disease [6,7]. Preterm-born children have been shown to have immune mediator dysregulation [8], impaired innate immunity and adaptive responses characterized by reduced levels of immunoglobulin (Ig) G, opsonization and phagocytosis, and increased activation of Th1 cells compared to that of Th2 cells [9]. Cohort studies show that pretermborn children are at increased risk for preschool wheezing and school-age asthma [10], but not for doallergy [11,12] or atopic dermatitis (AD) [11,13].

During fetal life, maternal microbiota produces compounds that are transferred to the fetus and enhance the generation of innate immune cells [14]. This process is halted prematurely in preterm infants, leaving them vulnerable to disease [9]. Preterm infants have an inflammatory and hypoxic state, which has a negative impact on lung maturation, the risk of respiratory infections, and susceptibility to subsequent exposures [9,14,15]. As early as the neonatal period, the gut microbiota imprints a persistent effect on the immune system through multiple mechanisms, including the modulation of epithelial functions, the production of cytokines, and the recruitment and training of immune cells [16–18].

Archaea, considered a separate domain of life from Eukarya, giant bacteria and viruses, are part of the human microbiota [19–21]. Gut methanogenic Archaea consume hydrogen produced by bacterial fermentation, releasing methane and short chain fatty acids (SCFA) and thus taking part in the energy supply to the host [19]. They interact with the host immune system, triggering innate and adaptive immune responses, generation of specific T and B cells, and hypersensitivity responses in animals and humans [22–24]. We have shown that the neonatal gut is colonized by methanogenic Archaea from the first postnatal hours, possibly starting in utero [21,22]. Gut microbiome establishment is altered in preterm and low- birth-weight infants [25,26].

Clinical investigations and research studies in neonates, including those born before term, are usually performed with peripheral blood. However, the search for non-invasive alternatives has gained momentum in recent years [27,28].

We hypothesize the existence of an association between intestinal methanogenic Archaea and the intestinal immunological signature, understood as a pattern of immune biomarkers including cell-specific products, e.g., mast cell tryptase and eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN) and major pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. The validation of this hypothesis would open the prospect of a predictive score for the later occurrence of immune disorders, including atopic diseases.

We addressed this question through the development of a non-invasive standardized method for the assessment of the neonatal gut immune and microbial status, implemented in a cohort of preterm infants. The aims of the present study were: (1) establish a non-invasive method adequate for the investigation of preterm neonates, (2) characterize the gut immune and Archaeal components longitudinally from birth to six weeks in the study cohort, and (3) correlate the results of gut immune and Archaeal investigations at birth and up to six weeks to the later occurrence of allergic or atopic conditions.

### 2. Methods

### 2.1. Patients and Sampling

Stool samples from 43 preterm neonates were collected without the use of preservatives at the Nimes and Montpellier University Hospitals and stored at -80 °C. Samples

were collected as meconium (n = 33) and later stool samples at 2 (n = 33), 4 (n = 29), and 6 (n = 24) weeks.

2.2. Ethics Statement

2.2.1. A-Immunological Analysis

Preparation of Fecal Samples

One gram of feces was solubilized in two milliliters of an in-house extraction buffer consisting of phosphate buffered saline supplemented with 4 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzensulphonyl fluoride, 0.26 mM bestatin, 28  $\mu$ M E-64, 2  $\mu$ M leupeptin and 0.6  $\mu$ M aprotinin, pH 7.4, and a protease inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MN, USA [29]. The stoolbuffer mixture was incubated for 20 min at room temperature, prior to centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. The supernatant liquids were freeze-dried for 24 h, resolubilized in one milliliter of extraction buffer, and used for mediator and cytokine determination (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Fecal extraction protocol.

Total IgE, Tryptase, and EDN Determination

The concentration of total IgE, tryptase, and EDN were measured using an automated fluoro-enzymo-immunoassay with the ImmunoCAPTM 250 platform (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Uppsala, Sweden), according to ISO 15,189 standards [30]. The measurement range was 2–5000 kIU/L (4.8–12,000  $\mu$ g/L) for total IgE, 1–200  $\mu$ g/L for tryptase, and 2–200  $\mu$ g/L for EDN.

#### Calprotectin and Total Protein Determination

Fecal calprotectin was measured using the BIOFLASH (Werfen, Barcelona, Spain) chemo-luminescent analyzer platform according to ISO 15,189 standards. Assay sensitivity was greater than 20  $\mu$ g/mL. The total protein concentration of the samples was measured by the colorimetric method (BCA Protein assay, Thermo Fisher Scientific).

### Immunoassays

Cytokines (IL-6, IL-10, IL-1 $\beta$ , TGF- $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ ) were measured by ELISA using specific immunoassay kits according to the manufacturer's protocols (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). The sensitivity of the assays was 1.0 pg/mL.

### 2.2.2. A-Microbiological Analysis: Methanogenic Archaea by qPCR

DNA Extraction and PCR Assays

For DNA extraction, 0.2 g of each stool sample were mixed in 1.5 mL tubes with 500 µL of G2 lysis buffer from an EZ1®DNA Tissue Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). Then, 0.3 g of acid-washed beads ≤ 106 µm (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France) were added in each tube and shaken in a FastPrep BIO 101 device (MP Biomedicals, Illkirch, France) for 45 s for mechanical lysis before 10 min incubation at 100 °C. A 180 µL volume of the mixture was then incubated with 20 µL of proteinase K (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) at 56 °C overnight before a second mechanical lysis was performed. Total DNA was finally extracted with an EZ1 Advanced XL extraction kit (QIAGEN) and 50 µL eluted volume. Sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France) was used as a negative control in each DNA extraction run. Extracted DNA was incorporated into real-time PCR performed using Metha 16S 2 MBF: 5'-CGAACCGGATTAGA-TACCCG -3' and Metha 16S 2 MBR: 5'-CCCGCCAATTCCTTTAAGTT-3' primers and the FAM_Metha_16S_2_MBP 6FAM- CCTGGGAAGTACGGTCGCAAG probe targeting the 16S DNA gene of methanogens, designed in our laboratory (Eurogentec, Angers, France) as previously described [31]. PCR amplification was done in 20 µL volume including 15  $\mu$ L of mix and 5  $\mu$ L of extracted DNA. Five microliters of ultra-pure water (Fisher Scientific, Illkirch, France) were used instead of DNA in the negative controls. The amplification reaction was performed in a CFX96 thermocycler (BioRad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) incorporating a protocol with a cycle of 50 °C for 2 min, followed by 39 cycles of 95 °C for 45 s, 95 °C for 5 s and finally 60 °C for 30 s. Samples with a CT < 40 were considered positive. Gene amplification and PCR sequencing were performed as previously described [25,26,32-34].

### Statistical Analysis

The responses for each quantitative parameter were described using median and 25– 75 percentile (interquartile range, IQR) unless otherwise stated. Analyses were performed using the Wilcoxon test when two groups were compared, and the Kruskal–Wallis test when more than two groups were compared. The association between the different biomarkers of interest were analyzed, at each sampling time, using Spearman's correlation coefficient. The association profiles between different biomarkers were also analyzed using a principal component analysis method. Statistical analyses were performed at the conventional two-tailed  $\alpha$  level of 0.05, using R 2.13.2 statistical software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, https://www.r-project.org (accessed on 18 March 2022), Vienna, Austria).

### 3. Results

### 3.1. Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Preterm Infants

The 43 preterm neonates included in our study had at birth an average weight of 1160.41 g (range 440–1750 g), an average gestational age of 29 weeks (range 24–32 weeks) and an average height of 37.11 cm (range 32–47 cm). Thirty-five (81%) were born by cesarean section and 8 (19%) by vaginal delivery. Only five mothers (11.6%) had received antibiotic therapy during the peripartum period. As part of the cohort follow-up, clinical evaluation (AF) was conducted at 1 year and assessed the presence or absence of health conditions, including atopic diseases. When necessary, allergy diagnosis was carried out according to current recommendations [35,36]. A total of nine children developed an atopic condition during the first year, manifested as asthma or cow's milk allergy (CMA) in eight and AD in three, with two patients presenting an association of AD, asthma, and CMA (Table 1).

					Peripartum						
Cala	Meconium	Two-weeks	sFour-Week	Six-weeks	Maternal	Mode of	Gestational	Marala h	6:	Asthma	Atopic
Code	(M)	(W2)	(W4)	(W6)	Antibiotic	Delivery	Age	weight	Size	or CMA	Dermatitis
					Therapy						
1	0	W2	W4	W6	No	VD	30	1275	37	Yes	Yes
2	Μ	W2	W4	W6	Yes	CS	27	925	34	Yes	No
3	Μ	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	26	565	31	Yes	No
4	0	0	W4	0	No	VD	25	820	34	Yes	No
5	Μ	W2	W4	0	No	CS	32	1260	39	Yes	No
6	Μ	W2	W4	W6	Yes	CS	27	680	31	Yes	No
7	Μ	0	W4	W6	No	CS	29	1565	42	No	No
8	Μ	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	28	890	33	No	No
9	0	0	0	W6	Yes	CS	30	1150	38	No	No
10	М	W2	0	0	No	CS	31	1570	43	No	No
11	М	W2	W4	0	No	CS	32	1575	44	No	No
12	М	W2	W4	0	No	CS	30	1360	39	No	Yes
13	М	W2	0	W6	No	CS	25	870	34	Yes	Yes
14	Μ	W2	W4	0	No	CS	32	1155	39	Yes	No
15	0	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	25	440	28	No	No
16	0	0	0	W6	No	VD	30	1590	41	No	No
17	Μ	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	24	530	31	No	No
18	Μ	W2	0	0	No	CS	26	925	35	No	No
19	Μ	W2	W4	0	No	VD	30	1480	41	No	No
20	М	W2	W4	0	No	VD	30	1460	38	No	No
21	М	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	29	880	35	No	No
22	0	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	28	840	35	No	No
23	Μ	W2	W4	0	Yes	VD	30	1670	43	No	No
24	Μ	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	31	1120	38	No	No
25	0	W2	0	0	No	CS	28	915	36	No	No
26	Μ	0	W4	W6	No	CS	26	925	35	No	No
27	Μ	W2	W4	W6	Yes	CS	30	1335	39	No	No
28	Μ	W2	W4	W6	Yes	CS	30	1355	47	No	No
29	Μ	W2	0	W6	No	CS	30	1480	39	No	No
30	0	W2	W4	W6	Yes	CS	28	1010	35	No	No
31	Μ	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	29	1050	39	No	No
32	Μ	W2	W4	0	No	CS	29	1190	38	No	No
33	0	W2	W4	W6	No	CS	30	1175	39	No	No
34	М	0	0	0	No	CS	32	1930	44	No	No
35	0	W2	W4	0	Yes	CS	29	1430	30	No	No
36	М	W2	W4	0	No	CS	30	1750	43	No	No
37	М	0	0	0	No	CS	27	600	29	No	No
38	М	W2	W4	W6	No	VD	25	750	32	No	No
39	М	W2	0	W6	No	CS	31	980	36	No	No
40	М	W2	0	W6	No	CS	31	1410	39	No	No
41	М	0	0	0	No	CS	30	770	33	No	No
42	М	0	0	0	Yes	VD	32	1568	41	No	No
43	М	0	0	0	No	CS	30	1680	39	No	No

Table 1. Clinical data for preterm infants investigated for the presence of fecal biomarkers. VD: vaginal delivery; CMA, cow's milk allergy; CS: cesarean section.

### 3.2. Immune Profiling

3.2.1. Total Protein Determination

First, we measured the total protein content in all samples. The median concentration of fecal proteins was stable from birth to six weeks, ranging from 4.53 to 9.18 g/L (p = 0.10; Kruskal–Wallis) (Table 2).

01740	4 14
11	
000	14404
Po	33
2	5
line	-
5	

biomarkers.
immune
of fecal
mination
ole 2. Detei
Tal

	Meco	onium	L	wo Weeks	Fc	ur Weeks	Six	: Weeks		
	n = 33		<b>n</b> = 33		n = 29		n = 24			
	n (%) Detectab	le Median IQR	n (%) Detectable	Median IQR	n (%) Detectable	Median IQR	n (%) Detectable	Median IQR	<i>p</i> -Value (Fre- quency)	<i>p</i> -Value (Levels)
Total Proteins (g/L)	33 (100)	9.18 (4.51– 13.54)	33 (10,055)	5.4.23-6.05)	29 (100)	4.53 (3.00–5.52)	24 (100)	6.46 (5.39–7.76)	NS	0.10
Total IgE (μg/I	.) 30 (90.90)	7.3 (6.4–9.9)	32 (97)	8.47 (6.8–9.8)	27 (93.10)	9.74 (3.39–0.26)	24 (100)	115.08 (41.00– 193.70)	0.41	<0.0001
Tryptase (µg/L	.) 3 (9.1)	<1	3 (9.1)	<1	4(13.79)	<1	14 (58.33)	1.8 (0.0–3.4)	<0.0001	0.61
Calprotectin (µg/L)	33 (100)	310.4 (151.1– 771.3)	33 (100)	291.23 (189.41-487.87)	29 (100)	402.44 (300.06-607.3)	24 (100)	422.37 (335.53– 823.30)	NC	0.13
EDN (μg/L)	33 (100)	83.2 (19.3– 165.0)	33 (100)	70.1 (17.8–152.5)	29 (100)	109.0(44.2 - 200.0)	24 (100)	98.1 (57.5–200.0)	NC	0.21
TGF-β (pg/L)	24 (72.7)	121.3 (4.6– 258.9)	30 (91)	267.43 (61.71-1000)	26 (89.65)	384.57 (129.60–936)	22 (91.66)	466 (104.36– 1430.29)	0.09	0.014
IL-1β (pg/L)	13 (39.4)	0.12 (0.1–2.7)	28 (84.8)	1.53 (0.37-6.53)	25 (86.20)	3.27 (0.31–10.76)	22 (91.66)	6.23 (1.66–20.84)	<0.0001	0.001
IL-10 (pg/L)	4 (12.12)	3.9 (3.9–3.9)	6 (18.18)	3.9 (3.9–3.9)	5 (17.24)	3.9 (3.9–3.9)	5 (20.83)	3.9 (3.9–3.9)	0.85	0.53
IL-6 (pg/L)	25 (75.75)	11.6 (0.5-43.7)	7 (21.21)	0.2 (0.2–0.2)	20 (68.96)	0.2 (0.2–0.2)	20 (83.33)	3.77 (1.66–19.25)	<0.0001	<0.001
	Q đ	meentrations are entection). The media equency), Kruskal-	xpressed as m an and IQR w -Wallis (conce	ledian and interquartile re ere calculated by restrictir ntration). NC, not calculal	anges (IQR). r ng the results a ble (calprotect	<ul> <li>(%): number of samplee</li> <li>bove the lower LOQ (lin</li> <li>in and EDN were detecta</li> </ul>	s in which the nit of quantita ble in all sam	e biomarker was de tiion) for each analy ples and at all samp	tected (relative fite. Statistical test ling times).	requency of : chi-square

6 of 17

### 3.2.2. Immune Cell Markers and Cytokines

Total IgE was detectable in over 90% of the samples at all ages, in increasing amounts between birth (meconium) and six weeks (p < 0.0001; Kruskal–Wallis).

Conversely, tryptase detection increased with sampling age, reaching 58% in samples at six weeks, up from less than 15% at earlier times (p < 0.0001; Chi-square). As most values were lower than the quantification limit, quantitative comparison was not significant (p = 0.61, Kruskal–Wallis) (Figure 2 and Table 2).



Figure 2. Statistical test: chi-square (frequency), Kruskal–Wallis (concentration). NC, not calculable (calprotectin and EDN were detectable in all samples and at all sampling times).

Calprotectin and EDN were detected in all samples at comparable levels irrespective of age (p = 0.13 and 0.21, Kruskal–Wallis) (Figure 2 and Table 2).

All cytokines except TNF- $\alpha$  were detectable in meconium and fecal samples. TGF- $\beta$ and IL-6 were the most prevalent, detected in up to 90% of samples, while IL-10 was the less prevalent, found in 20% or less of the fecal samples. The frequency of detection of IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  increased with age (p < 0.0001; chi-square), although there was a sharp drop in IL-6 frequency of detection and measured levels between meconium (75%, median 11.6 pg/L) and samples at two weeks (21%, median 0.2 pg/L). TGF- $\beta$  and IL-1 $\beta$  median concentrations increased with age (p = 0.014 and 0.001, respectively; Kruskal–Wallis). The median level of IL-6 was the highest in meconium samples and increased again at six weeks (p < 0.0001; Kruskal–Wallis). IL-10 median concentrations did not vary with age (Figure 2 and Table 2).

Maternal antibiotic therapy and route of delivery did not significantly affect the meconium levels of cytokines, total IgE, tryptase, calprotectin, and EDN (Supplementary Table S1). However, analysis according to the development of atopic disease during the first year showed that meconium calprotectin levels were lower in neonates who subsequently developed asthma or CMA compared to those who did not (p = 0.02; Wilcoxon test) (Figure 2). Levels of other mediators and cytokines were not associated with the occurrence of an atopic disease (Table 3).

¥7. 111.	Allergic Condition		p.	Value		
variables	(APLV and Asthma)	Meconium	2 Weeks	4 Weeks	6 Weeks	
LaE .	Yes	0.27	0.06	0.12	0.02	
IgE	No	0.27	0.08	0.12	0.03	
Calmustastin	Yes	0.27	0.19	0.01	0.61	
Carprotectin	No	0.27	0.18	0.91	0.01	
EDN	Yes	0.50	0.10	0.41	0.87	
EDIN	No	0.39	0.19	0.41	0.87	
TGF-β –	Yes	0.00	0.19	0.7(	0.76	
	No	0.09	0.18	0.76	0.70	
II 10	Yes	0.27	1.00	0.28	0.01	
IL-IP	No	0.37	1.00	0.28	0.91	
Π 10	Yes	0.(2	1.00	0.90	0.12	
1L-10	No	0.62	1.00	0.89	0.13	
IL-6	Yes	0.61	0.28	0.37	0.75	

Table 3. Comparison of mediators and cytokines and the occurrence or absence of an atopic condition between years 0 and 1. Statistical test used: Wilcoxon test.

Comparing the different biomarkers according to the presence or absence of an atopic condition, we observed a significant difference at week six for IgE between the presence and absence of cow's milk allergy and asthma. No significant difference was observed for AD (Supplementary Table S2)

### 3.2.3. Correlation between Biomarkers

As an expected control, significant correlations were found between weight and height (R = 0.90; p < 0.0001), between gestational age and height (R = 0.75; p < 0.0001), and between gestational age and weight (R = 0.75; p < 0.0001).

Total IgE and tryptase levels were strongly correlated in samples taken at any age. IL-10 and IL-6 were correlated at all ages except at two weeks (Table 4).

Table 4. Result of the detection of methanogenic Archaea.

	Me	econium (n = 33)	Two	Weeks (n = 33)	Four W	eeks (n = 29)	Six V	Weeks (n = 26)	<i>p</i> -Value <i>p</i> -Va	p-Value (CT)
	n (%)	Median IQR	n (%)	Median IQR	n (%)	Median IQR	n (%)	Median IQR		
CT	30	26 74 (22 85 28 24)	27	37.20 (36.07-	22 (70.21	37.75 (36.13-	10 (72.02)	28 28 (27 27 20 06)	0.24	0.12
qPCR	(90.9)	30.74 (33.83-38.24)	(81.81)	38.33)	23 (79.31	38.50)	19 (73.03)	30.20 (37.27-39.96)	) 0.34	0.12

CT methanogenic Archaea are expressed as median and interquartile ranges (IQR). n (%): number of samples in which methanogenic Archaea were detected (relative frequency of detection). The

stool concentration factor and median and RDI were not included in our calculations, and the median and RDI were calculated by restricting the results above the lower LOQ (limit of quantitation) for each analyte. Statistical test: Kruskal–Wallis.

### 3.2.4. Meconium Samples

Tryptase levels were correlated to levels of IL-10 (R = 0.48, p = 0.001) and IL-6 (R = 0.46; p = 0.001). Tryptase levels were correlated to levels of IgE (R = 0.91, p = 0.0001), and strong correlations were observed between levels of calprotectin and IL-1 $\beta$  (R = 0.90; p < 0.0001). A negative correlation between total protein concentration and TGF- $\beta$  (R = -0.36; p = 0.01) was observed (Table 3).

### 3.2.5. Samples at Two Weeks

Strong correlations were observed between levels of calprotectin and IL-1 $\beta$  (R = 0.90; p < 0.0001), tryptase and IL-10 (R = 0.88; p < 0.0001), and total IgE and IL-10 (R = 0.85; p < 0.0001), while total protein concentration and IL-6 were negatively correlated (R = -0.61; p = 0.0002) (Table 3).

### 3.2.6. Samples at Four Weeks

Again, calprotectin and IL-1 $\beta$  were strongly correlated (R = 0.74; *p* < 0.0001). IgE and total protein were also correlated (R = 0.38; *p* < 0.04) (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Correlation figure of fecal immune biomarkers.

### 3.2.7. Samples at Six Weeks

TGF- $\beta$  was correlated with IL-1 $\beta$  (R = 0.49; p < 0.01) and with total proteins (R = 0.43; p < 0.03). Total proteins were correlated with IL-1 $\beta$  (R = 0.47; p < 0.02) and negatively with IL-6 (R = -0.68; p = 0.0003) (Figure 3).

### 3.3. Frequency of Detection of Methanogenic Archaea and Relationship with the Subsequent Development of Atopic Diseases

Using real-time PCR with 16S rRNA archaeal gene PCR primers, we detected methanogenic Archaea DNA in 30/33 (90%) meconium samples, 27/33 (81%) two-week-old samples, 23/29 (79%) four-week-old samples, and 19/24 (73%) six-week-old samples, respectively. We found no significant difference in the frequency of detection nor in CTs according to age at sampling (Table 4).

### 3.4. Unsupervised Analysis of Immunological Markers and Methanogenic Archaea Atthe Neonatal Period, and the Subsequent Occurrence of AD, Asthma and CMA during the First Year

We performed unsupervised analysis of the immunological data, CT of Archaea, and the clinical information of the occurrence of allergic events during the first year of life. Data were analyzed for each of the four sampling times.

For meconium, calprotectin, EDN, and IL-1 $\beta$  levels were negatively and significantly (p < 0.001) correlated (r = -0.64) with subsequent development of AD. Calprotectin, EDN and IL-1 $\beta$  had the largest and most significantly (p < 0.01) correlated positive correlation coefficients, which were 0.79, 0.53, and 0.51, respectively. No correlation was observed for the Archaea CT with the other parameters (Figure 4b(A)).





(b)

Figure 4. (a). Comparison of meconial calprotectin concentration according to the later occurrence of asthma or cow's milk allergy. (b). Principal component analysis of neonatal immune and archaeal biomarkers as a function of later occurrence of atopic conditions. (A) Negative and significant (p < 0.001) correlation (r = -0.64) between the occurrence of atopic dermatitis with calprotectin, EDN, and IL-1 $\beta$ . Strong positive and significant correlation (p < 0.01) between calprotectin (r = 0.79), EDN (0.53), and IL-1b (0.51). No correlation between Archaea TCs and other parameters. (B) Correlation between allergic events (asthma or cow's milk allergy) and atopic dermatitis. Strong positive and significant (p < 0.001) correlation between IL-1b (r = 0.88) and calprotectin (r = 0.82), positive correlation between IL-6 (r = 0.62) and EDN (r = 0.59), significant (p < 0.001). Low positive (r < 0.5) and significant correlation between Archaea TCs and biomarkers IL-1b, calprotectin, IL-6, and EDN. (C) Positive and significant correlation (p < 0.001) between atopic dermatitis, allergic events with the markers calprotectin (r = 0.61), IL-1b (r = 0.58), EDN (r = 0.57), and TGF- $\beta$  (r = 0.57). Negative correlation between IL-6 (r = -0.71) and IL-10 (r = -0.61) with atopic dermatitis and allergic events. Positive and significant correlation between Archaea TCs with calprotectin, IL-1b, IL-6, and EDN. Negative correlation between Archaea Ct and allergic events. (D) Negative correlation between IL-6 (r = -0.51) with other biomarkers and allergic events. Strong positive and significant correlation (p < 0.51) 0.001) between IL-1b (r = 0.68), IL-10 (r = 0.67), and atopic dermatitis (r = 0.58). Low correlation (r < 0.5) between Archaea TCs with IL-1β, calprotectin, IL-6, and EDN. Negative correlation between allergic events and TC of Archaea.

At two weeks, IL-1 $\beta$  (r= 0.88) and calprotectin (r = 0.82) had a strong positive correlation with each other, followed by IL-6 (r = 0.62) and EDN (r = 0.59). These biomarkers were significantly (p < 0.001) associated. Archaea CTs had a weak (r < 0.5) but positive and significant (p < 0.01) association with the biomarkers IL-1 $\beta$ , calprotectin, IL-6, and EDN (Figure 4b(B)).

At four weeks, later occurrence of AD, CMA, and asthma was positively correlated with calprotectin (r = 0.61), IL-1 $\beta$  (r = 0.58), EDN (r = 0.57), and TGF- $\beta$  (r = 0.57), and negatively correlated with IL-6 (r = -0.71) and IL-10 (r = -0.61). Calprotectin, IL-1 $\beta$ , and EDN were significantly associated with each other (p < 0.001). Archaea CTs were positively associated with calprotectin, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and EDN with a significant correlation (p < 0.001),

however, they were inversely correlated with allergic events, although the correlation coefficient was low (Figure 4b(C)).

At six weeks, only IL-6 correlated negatively (r = -0.51) with the other biomarkers and allergic events. IL-1 $\beta$  (r = 0.68), IL-10 (r = 0.67), and AD (r = 0.58) showed the strongest positive correlations, with AD significantly (p < 0.001) associated with IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-10. Archaea CTs were weakly correlated (r < 0.5) with IL-1 $\beta$ , calprotectin, IL-6, and EDN. However, allergic events were negatively associated with CT, and AD had almost no correlation (Figure 4b(D)).

### 4. Discussion

In this study, we describe a non-invasive screening method for profiling neonatal immunity and its validation in a preterm neonate cohort as a predictive tool for subsequent development of atopic diseases. The method was also applied to meconium samples, which reflect intrauterine processes and contain almost 1000 identified proteins with important functions [37]. The clinical endpoints of this study were evaluated at the age of one year, while the total duration of cohort follow-up will be three years.

Total IgE was detected in over 90% of the samples, at increasing concentrations with age. Transplacental delivery of allergens and preterm sensitization have long been recognized, possibly inducing sensitization and detectable meconial IgE [38,39]. Transplacental transport of maternal IgE able to sensitize fetal mast cells has been recently demonstrated [40], but its role in neonatal immune defenses or subsequent immune disorders is only speculative.

Addressing mast cell tryptase in meconium and later samples, we found that it was detectable only in a minority of meconium samples and during the first month of life, however, it became a common finding at the end of the neonatal period, represented by samples collected at six weeks. Fecal tryptase and IgE levels were strongly associated at each of the studied time points. These results suggest that gastrointestinal mast cells, as opposed to skin mast cells [40], are mostly recruited postnatally, and mature after birth with IgE levels exerting a positive effect. Conversely, maturity of gastrointestinal mast cell populations might be attained during late pregnancy. Tryptase is a serine protease able of autocrine activation of mast cells and induction of proinflammatory effects such as proteolytic cleavage and activation of PAR2 receptors and inactivation of VIP (Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide), associated with smooth muscle relaxation [41]. Through PAR-2 activation, luminal tryptase can contribute to the dysfunction of the gut epithelial barrier [42]. The presence of tryptase in stool samples has been associated with food allergic diseases, dietary exposure and/or mast cell stimulation or increased intestinal mast cell count [43,44]. In addition, fecal tryptase has also been shown to be associated with inflammatory bowel disease and irritable bowel syndrome [45,46].

Focusing on two secreted biomarkers of innate immune cells, neutrophil-derived calprotectin, and eosinophil-derived EDN, we found that fecal samples at all studied ages contained detectable and stable levels of both biomarkers. The levels measured in our preterm cohort were much lower than the reference values [47], but similar to those reported during the first postnatal month in another preterm cohort [48]. These results suggest that the preterm gut contains small numbers of granulocytes, or that such granulocytes are not activated. Indeed, lower neutrophils were reported in preterm infant cord blood [49]. An association between low levels of fecal calprotectin and adverse health conditions, including obesity and sepsis, by age two has been suggested [48].

Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines were detected in the meconium and later samples of preterm infants, with the notable exception of TNF- $\alpha$  which was not demonstrated in any sample. Different temporal patterns were demonstrated: IL-6 levels were higher in the meconium than in later samples, while IL-10 was seldom detected and TGF- $\beta$  and Il-1 $\beta$  displayed a progressive increase between birth and six weeks. Mostly undetectable IL-10 levels were also reported in a pilot study of fecal biomarkers in preterm infants [8]. Although we did not determine the cellular source of fecal cytokines, a shift in
immune cells lining the intestine has been demonstrated for macrophages, with resident fetal macrophages being replaced after birth by bone-marrow-derived macrophages [50]. Macrophage cytokine production, most notably of proinflammatory IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ , can be persistently altered by metabolic conditions [51]. The increase in TGF- $\beta$  levels from birth to six weeks might provide a counter-acting mechanism in a proinflammatory environment. Allergic events (asthma or cow's milk allergy) and atopic dermatitis were also positively correlated with EDN, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 at four and six weeks. The high

an indicator for later risk of allergic diseases. The neonatal period is paramount for the establishment of the intestinal microbiota. Intrauterine life is associated with low levels of maternal microbial translocation [52]. However, we have recently demonstrated the presence of the viable methanogenic Archaea Methanobrevibacter smithii in the meconium, suggesting intrauterine colonization of the fetus by this microorganism [26]. Here, we provided evidence for postnatal persistence of methanogenic Archaea in fecal samples and suggest a possible role in the orientation of intestinal immunity, supported by the negative association between Archaea abundance (inversely proportional to CT values) and the concentrations of EDN, IL-1β, and IL-6. We also found that Archaea abundance at four and six weeks was positively associated with later occurrence of allergic events. Archaea have been shown to produce SCFA which induce regulatory T cell differentiation, downregulate proinflammatory cytokines, and may protect against the occurrence of atopic conditions [19,53-57] However, in a cohort study, the protective effect of methanogenic Archaea was restricted to the species Methanobrevibacter stadtmanae [58]. A decrease in the load of beneficial methanogenic Archaea during the first years of life could therefore favor the occurrence of allergic events during the first years of life.

production of fecal EDN, IL-1β, and IL-10 during the first weeks of life may therefore be

A third line of contribution to protection or increased risk of developing atopic conditions is the genetic background. As an example, a del/del genotype (-2549 -2567 del18) of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) has been associated with asthma occurrence and irreversible bronchoconstriction [59].

The strengths of our study are methodological and medical:

- miniaturization and standardization, using small quantities of stool (1 g) and small volumes of extraction buffer (2 mL). The dilution of the samples was corrected by the freeze-drying process, as the lyophilizates were contained in 1 mL of buffer.
- (2) prevention, thanks to the use of protease inhibitors, of the risk of potential contamination of the handler.
- (3) suitability for a microarray platform yielding patterns of immune responses rather than individual measurements.
- (4) suitability for combined immune and microbiological assessment.
- (5) proof of concept of the immune profiling of fecal mediators in meconium and neonatal samples as predictors of later development of atopic disorders.
- (6) proof of concept for non-invasive investigation of the immune status of preterm neonates.

The main weakness of this study is the lack of microbiological data outside Archaea. Further studies are warranted for longitudinal immuno-microbiological profiling of meconium and neonatal samples, in preterm and at-term infants. Its validation as a non-invasive diagnostic method will be in line with the currently unmet needs in terms of noninvasive diagnosis of allergy.

### 5. Conclusions

This study allowed us to highlight the presence of mediators in the meconium and feces of preterm infants. We provide proof of concept of the feasibility and value of a standardized fecal mediator assay for non-invasive profiling of neonatal immunity. Such assays can be used for early characterization of the immune status of a newborn. Technical

optimization for a multiplex assay could facilitate the implementation of fecal immune profiling in clinical and research laboratories. We report evidence of a correlation between the meconial and neonatal load of methanogenic Archaea and selected fecal biomarkers, and later occurrence of atopic conditions in preterm children.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/jcm11102749/s1, Table S1: Comparison of biomarkers and CT of Archaea according to the presence or absence of maternal antibiotic therapy and according to the mode of delivery, Table S2: Comparison of median CT of Archaea in preterm infants according to the presence or absence of allergic events during the first year of life, Table S3: Comparison of median CTs of Archaea in preterm infants according to the presence or absence of atopic dermatitis during the first year of life.

Author Contributions: Y.S. developed the stool preparation method, performed the immunology experiments, analyzed the data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript N.M. and S.M. performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and proofread the manuscript Y.S., C.O.G., L.K. and G.G. performed the microbiology experiments and analyzed the data. T.M. analyzed the data. G.G. and T.M. proofread the manuscript. J.-L.M., T.A.T., P.C., A.F. and J.V. designed the study and supervised the experiments. T.A.T. and A.F. collected and analyzed the clinical data. A.F. included patients and performed clinical examination. T.A.T., P.C., A.F. and J.V. wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: Y.S. is supported by a "Fondation Méditerranée Infection" doctoral position. S.M. was first supported by a "Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale" postdoctoral fellowship (SPF2015124951) and then by a "Fondation Méditerranée infection" postdoctoral fellowship. This work was supported by the French Government under the "Investissements d'avenir" (Investments for the Future) program managed by the "Agence Nationale de la Recherche" (reference: Méditerranée Infection 10-IAHU-03), by the Région Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur and the European funding FEDER IHU PRIMMI, and the PHRC program for clinical research Primibiota.

Institutional Review Board Statement: This study was embedded in the Primibiota "Influence of Intestinal Microbiota Implantation in Preterm Infants on Microbiota and Immune Orientation at 3 Years" (NCT02738411, principal investigator AF), a population-based prospective cohort study from birth to the age of 3 years, enrolling children born preterm in the University Hospitals of Nimes and Montpellier, France. The ancillary study presented here was approved by a joint committee of the Clinical Research Departments of the University Hospitals of Nimes, France and the University Hospitals of Marseille, France (Research collaboration agreement 2018.1238).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from both parents at infants' birth.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We thank Michel Drancourt and Bernard La Scola for conceptual and methodological assistance; Patricia Blanchard, Céline Chartier, Robert Perrier, and Simon Pinchemel for technical assistance with the ImmunoCAP platform.

**Conflicts of Interest:** J.V. reports speaker and consultancy fees in the past five years from Astra Zeneca, Meda Pharma (Mylan), Novartis, Sanofi, Thermo Fisher Scientific, outside the submitted work. The other authors declare no competing interests in relation to this study.

#### Abbreviations

AD: atopic dermatitis; CMA, cow's milk allergy; CT, cycle threshold; IQR, interquartile range; SCFA, short chain fatty acid; EDN, eosinophil-derived neurotoxin

## References

- Crump, C.; Sundquist, J.; Winkleby, M.A.; Sundquist, K. Gestational age at birth and mortality from infancy into mid-adulthood: A national cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc. Health* 2019, 3, 408–417.
- Chawanpaiboon, S.; Vogel, J.P.; Moller, A.B.; Lumbiganon, P.; Petzold, M.; Hogan, D.; Landoulsi, S.; Jampathong, N.; Kongwattanakul, K.; Laopaiboon, M.; et al. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: A systematic review and modelling analysis. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2019, 7, e37–e46.
- 3. Goldenberg, R.L.; Culhane, J.F.; Iams, J.D.; Romero, R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 2008, 371, 75-84.
- Schuster, J.; Uzun, A.; Stablia, J.; Schorl, C.; Mori, M.; Padbury, J.F. Effect of prematurity on genome wide methylation in the placenta. BMC Med. Genet. 2019, 20, 116.

- Beck, S.; Wojdyla, D.; Say, L.; Betran, A.P.; Merialdi, M.; Requejo, J.H.; Rubens, C.; Menonf, M.; Look, V.F.P. The worldwide incidence of preterm birth: A systematic review of maternal mortality and morbidity. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 2010, 88, 31–38.
   Gagneur, A.; Pinquier, D.; Quach, C. Immunization of preterm infants. *Hum. Vaccines Immunoher.* 2015, 11, 2556–2563.
- Marshall, H.; Clarke, M.; Rasiah, K.; Richmond, P.; Buttery, J.; Reynolds, G.; Andrews, R.; Nissen, M.; Wood, N.; McIntyre, P. Predictors of Disease Severity in Children Hospitalized for Pertussis During an Epidemic. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 2015, 34, 339– 345.
- Gómez, M.; Moles, L.; Espinosa-Martos, I.; Bustos, G.; de Vos, W.; Fernández, L.; Rodríguez, M.J.; Fuentes, S.; Jiménez, E. Bacteriological and Immunological Profiling of Meconium and Fecal Samples from Preterm Infants: A Two-Year Follow-Up Study. *Nutrients* 2017, 9, 1293.
- Helmo, F.R.; Alves, E.A.R.; Moreira, R.A.D.A.; Severino, V.O.; Rocha, L.P.; Monteiro, M.L.G.D.R.; Marlene Antônia dos Reis, D.A.M.; Etchebehere, M.R.; Machado, R.J.; Corrêa, M.R.R. Intrauterine infection, immune system and premature birth. J. Matern.-Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018, 31, 1227–1233.
- Sonnenschein-van der Voort, A.M.; Arends, L.R.; de Jongste, J.C.; Annesi-Maesano, I.; Arshad, S.H.; Barros, H.; Basterrechea, M.; Bisgard, H.; Chatzi, L.; Corpeleijn, E.; et al. Preterm birth, infant weight gain, and childhood asthma risk: A meta-analysis of 147,000 European children. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2014, 133, 1317–1329.
- Wooldridge, A.L.; McMillan, M.; Kaur, M.; Giles, L.C.; Marshall, H.S.; Gatford, K.L. Relationship between birth weight or fetal growth rate and postnatal allergy: A systematic review. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2019, 144, 1703–1713.
- Mitselou, N.; Hallberg, J.; Stephansson, O.; Almqvist, C.; Melén, E.; Ludvigsson, J.F. Cesarean delivery, preterm birth, and risk of food allergy: Nationwide Swedish cohort study of more than 1 million children. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2018, 142, 1510– 1514.e2.
- Barbarot, S.; Gras-Leguen, C.; Colas, H.; Garrot, E.; Darmaun, D.; Larroque, B.; Roze, J.C.; Ancel. P. Lower risk of atopic dermatitis among infants born extremely preterm compared with higher gestational age. Br. J. Dermatol. 2013, 169, 1257–1264.
- 14. Al Nabhani, Z.; Eberl, G. Imprinting of the immune system by the microbiota early in life. Mucosal Immunol. 2020, 13, 183-189.
- Stokholm, J.; Blaser, M.J.; Thorsen, J.; Rasmussen, M.A.; Waage, J.; Vinding, R.K.; Schoos, M.A.; Kunøe, A.; Fink, R.N.; Chawes, C.B.; et al. Maturation of the gut microbiome and risk of asthma in childhood. *Nat. Commun.* 2018, *9*, 141. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02573-2.
- Gomez Perdiguero, E.; Klapproth, K.; Schulz, C.; Busch, K.; Azzoni, E.; Crozet, L.; Garner, H.; Trouillet, C.; Bruijn, D.F.M.; Geissmann, F.; et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. *Nature* 2015, 518, 547–551.
- Schirmer, M.; Smeekens, S.P.; Vlamakis, H.; Jaeger, M.; Oosting, M.; Franzosa, E.A.; Horst, T.R.; Jansen, A.; Jacobs, L.; Bonder, J.M.; et al. . Linking the Human Gut Microbiome to Inflammatory Cytokine Production Capacity. *Cell* 2016, 167, 1897.
- Martens, E.C.; Neumann, M.; Desai, M.S. Interactions of commensal and pathogenic microorganisms with the intestinal mucosal barrier. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2018, 16, 457–470.
- Sereme, Y.; Mezouar, S.; Grine, G.; Mege, J.L.; Drancourt, M.; Corbeau, P.; Vitte, J.L. Methanogenic Archaea: Emerging Partners in the Field of Allergic Diseases. *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.* 2019, 57, 456–466.
- Dridi, B.; Henry, M.; El Khéchine, A.; Raoult, D.; Drancourt, M. High prevalence of Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanosphaera stadtmanae detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol. *PLoS ONE* 2009, 4, e7063.
- Gaci, N.; Borrel, G.; Tottey, W.; O'Toole, P.W.; Brugère, J.F. Archaea and the human gut: New beginning of an old story. World J. Gastroenterol. 2014, 20, 16062–16078.
- Bang, C.; Weidenbach, K.; Gutsmann, T.; Heine, H.; Schmitz, R.A. The Intestinal Archaea Methanosphaera stadtmanae and Methanobrevibacter smithii Activate Human Dendritic Cells. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e99411.
- Vierbuchen, T.; Stein, K.; Heine, H. RNA is taking its Toll: Impact of RNA-specific Toll-like receptors on health and disease. Allergy 2019, 74, 223–235.
- Bernatchez, E.; Gold, M.J.; Langlois, A.; Blais-Lecours, P.; Boucher, M.; Duchaine, C.; Marsolais, D.; McNagny, M.K.; Blanchet, R.M. Methanosphaera stadtmanae induces a type IV hypersensitivity response in a mouse model of airway inflammation. *Physiol. Rep.* 2017, *5*, e13163.
- Grine, G.; Boualam, M.A.; Drancourt, M. Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 2017, 36, 2449–2455.
- Sereme, Y.; Guindo, C.O.; Filleron, A.; Corbeau, P.; Tran, T.A.; Drancourt, M.; Vitte, J.; Grine, G. Meconial Methanobrevibacter smithii suggests intrauterine methanogen colonization in preterm neonates. *Curr. Res. Microb. Sci.* 2021, 2, 100034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100034.
- Baumann, R.; Untersmayr, E.; Zissler, U.M.; Eyerich, S.; Adcock, I.M.; Brockow, K.; Biedermann, T.; Ollert, M.; Chaker, M.A.; Pfaar, O.; et al. Noninvasive and minimally invasive techniques for the diagnosis and management of allergic diseases. *Allergy* 2021, 76, 1010–1023.
- Bao, R.; Hesser, L.A.; He, Z.; Zhou, X.; Nadeau, K.C.; Nagler, C.R. Fecal microbiome and metabolome differ in healthy and foodallergic twins. J. Clin. Investig. 2021, 131, e141935.
- Sereme, Y.; Zarza, S.M.; Medkour, H.; Amona, I.; Fenollar, F.; Akiana, J.; Mezouar, S.; Orain, N.; Vitte, J.; Davout, D.; et al. Stool Serology: Development of a Non-Invasive Immunological Method for the Detection of Enterovirus-Specific Antibodies in Congo Gorilla Faeces. *Microorganisms* 2021, 9, 810.

- Lambert, C.; Sarrat, A.; Bienvenu, F.; Brabant, S.; Nicaise-Roland, P.; Alyanakian, M.-A.; Apoil, P.A.; Capron, C.; Couderc, R.; Evrard, B.; et al. The importance of EN ISO 15189 accreditation of allergen-specific IgE determination for reliable in vitro allergy diagnosis. *Allergy* 2015, 70, 180–186.
- Drancourt, M.; Djemai, K.; Gouriet, F.; Grine, G.; Loukil, A.; Bedotto, M.; Levasseur, A.; Lépidi, H.; Khalil, B.J.; Khelaifia, S.; et al. Methanobrevibacter smithii archaemia in febrile patients with bacteremia, including those with endocarditis. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2020, 73, e2571–e2579. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa998. Online ahead of print.
- Grine, G.; Terrer, E.; Boualam, M.A.; Aboudharam, G.; Chaudet, H.; Ruimy, R.; Drancourt, D. Tobacco-smoking-related prevalence of methanogens in the oral fluid microbiota. Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 9197.
- Nkamga, V.D.; Huynh, H.T.T.; Aboudharam, G.; Ruimy, R.; Drancourt, M. Diversity of human-associated Methanobrevibacter smithii isolates revealed by multispacer sequence typing. *Curr. Microbiol.* 2015, 70, 810–815.
- 34. Guindo, C.O.; Davoust, B.; Drancourt, M.; Grine, G. Diversity of Methanogens in Animals' Gut. Microorganisms 2020, 9, 13.
- Muraro, A.; Werfel, T.; Hoffmann-Sommergruber, K.; Roberts, G.; Beyer, K.; Bindslev-Jensen, C.; Bindslev-Jensen, C.; Cardona, V.; Dubois, A.; duToit, G.; et al. EAACI food allergy and anaphylaxis guidelines: Diagnosis and management of food allergy. *Allergy* 2014, 69, 1008–1025.
- Papadopoulos, N.G.; Arakawa, H.; Carlsen, K.H.; Custovic, A.; Gern, J.; Lemanske, R.; Le Souef, P.; Mäkelä, M.; Roberts, G.; Wong, G.; et al. International consensus on (ICON) pediatric asthma. *Allergy* 2012, 67, 976–997.
- Lisowska-Myjak, B.; Skarżyńska, E.; Wojdan, K.; Nasierowska-Guttmejer, A. Protein and peptide profiles in neonatal meconium: Classification of meconium proteins. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 2019, 45, 556–564.
- Kolmannskog, S.; Marhaug, G.; Haneberg, B. Fragments of IgE Antibodies in Human Feces. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 1985, 78, 358–363.
- Szépfalusi, Z.; Pichler, J.; Elsässer, S.; van Duren, K.; Ebner, C.; Bernaschek, G.; Urbanek, R. Transplacental priming of the human immune system with environmental allergens can occur early in gestation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2000, 106, 530–536.
- Msallam, R.; Balla, J.; Rathore, A.P.S.; Kared, H.; Malleret, B.; Saron, W.A.A.; Liu, Z.; Hang, W.J.; Dutertre, A.C.; Larbi, A.; et al. Fetal mast cells mediate postnatal allergic responses dependent on maternal IgE. *Science* 2020, 370, 941–950.
- Lyons, J.J.; Yi, T. Mast cell tryptases in allergic inflammation and immediate hypersensitivity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2021, 72, 94– 106.
- Edogawa, S.; Edwinson, A.L.; Peters, S.A.; Chikkamenahalli, L.L.; Sundt, W.; Graves, S.; Gurunathan, V.S.; Breen-Lyles, K.M.; Johnson, S.; Dyer, B.R.; et al. Serine proteases as luminal mediators of intestinal barrier dysfunction symptom severity in IBS. *Gut* 2020, 69, 62–73.
- Raithel, M.; Winterkamp, S.; Pacurar, A.; Ulrich, P.; Hochberger, J.; Hahn, E.G. Release of mast cell tryptase from human colorectal mucosa in inflammatory bowel disease. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 2001, 36, 174–179.
- Peterson, C.G.B.; Hansson, T.; Skott, A.; Bengtsson, U.; Ahlstedt, S.; Magnussons, J. Detection of local mast-cell activity in patients with food hypersensitivity. J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol. 2007, 17, 314–320.
- Carroccio, A.; Brusca, I.; Mansueto, P.; Soresi, M.; D'Alcamo, A.; Ambrosiano, G.; Pepe, I.; Iacono, G.; Lospalluti, L.M.; Chiusa, L.M.S.; et al. Fecal assays detect hypersensitivity to cow's milk protein and gluten in adults with irritable bowel syndrome. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 2011, 9, 965–971.e3.
- Lettesjö, H.; Hansson, T.; Peterson, C.; Ung, K.-A.; Ringström, G.; Abrahamsson, H.; Simrén, M. Detection of inflammatory markers in stools from patients with irritable bowel syndrome and collagenous colitis. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 2006, 41, 54–59.
- Roca, M.; Rodriguez Varela, A.; Donat, E.; Cano, F.; Hervas, D.; Armisen, A.; Vaya, J.M.; Sjölander, A.; Ribes-Koninckx, C. Fecal Calprotectin and Eosinophil-derived Neurotoxin in Healthy Children Between 0 and 12 Years. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 2017, 65, 394–398.
- Willers, M.; Ulas, T.; Völlger, L.; Vogl, T.; Heinemann, A.S.; Pirr, S.; Pagel, J.; Fehlhaber, B.; Halle, O.; Schöning, J.; et al. S100A8 and S100A9 Are Important for Postnatal Development of Gut Microbiota and Immune System in Mice and Infants. *Gastroenter*ology 2020, 159, 2130–2145.e5.
- Olin, A.; Henckel, E.; Chen, Y.; Lakshmikanth, T.; Pou, C.; Mikes, J.; Gustafsson, A.; Bernhardsson, K.A.; Zhang, C.; Bohlin, K.; et al. Stereotypic Immune System Development in Newborn Children. *Cell* 2018, 174, 1277–1292.e14.
- 50. Torow, N.; Marsland, B.J.; Hornef, M.W.; Gollwitzer, E.S. Neonatal mucosal immunology. Mucosal Immunol. 2017, 10, 5–17.
- Goretzki, A.; Lin, Y.J.; Schülke, S. Immune metabolism in allergies, does it matter?—A review of immune metabolic basics and adaptations associated with the activation of innate immune cells in allergy. *Allergy* 2021, 76, 3314–3331. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.14843.
- Macpherson, A.J.; de Agüero, M.G.; Ganal-Vonarburg, S.C. How nutrition and the maternal microbiota shape the neonatal immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2017, 17, 508–517.
- Singh, N.; Gurav, A.; Sivaprakasam, S.; Brady, E.; Padia, R.; Shi, H.; Thangaraju, M.; Prasad, D.P.; Manicassamy, S.; Munn, H.D.; et al. Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. *Immunity* 2014, 40, 128–139.
- Furusawa, Y.; Obata, Y.; Fukuda, S.; Endo, T.A.; Nakato, G.; Takahashi, D.; Nakanishi, Y.; Uetake, C.; Kato, K.; Kato, T.; et al. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. *Nature* 2013, 504, 446–450.
- Atarashi, K.; Tanoue, T.; Ando, M.; Kamada, N.; Nagano, Y.; Narushima, S.; Suda, W.; Imaoka, A.; Setoyama, H.; Nagamori, T.; et al. Th17 Cell Induction by Adhesion of Microbes to Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Cell* 2015, 163, 367–380.

- Vonk, M.M.; Blokhuis, B.R.J.; Diks, M.A.P.; Wagenaar, L.; Smit, J.J.; Pieters, R.H.H.; Garssen, J.; Knippels, J.M.L.; Esch, V.M.A.C.B. Butyrate Enhances Desensitization Induced by Oral Immunotherapy in Cow's Milk Allergic Mice. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2019, 2019, 9062537.
- Roduit, C.; Frei, R.; Ferstl, R.; Loeliger, S.; Westermann, P.; Rhyner, C.; Schiavi, E.; Barcik, W.; Rodriguez-Perez, N.; Wawrzyniak, N.; et al. High levels of butyrate and propionate in early life are associated with protection against atopy. *Allergy* 2019, 74, 799– 809.
- Barnett, D.J.M.; Mommers, M.; Penders, J.; Arts, I.C.W.; Thijs, C. Intestinal archaea inversely associated with childhood asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2019, 143, 2305–2307.
- Gomulka, K.; Liebhart, J.; Jaskula, E.; Lange, A.; Medrala, W. The –2549 –2567 del18 Polymorphism in VEGF and Irreversible Bronchoconstriction in Asthmatics. J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol. 2019, 29, 431–435.

# Bibliographie

- [1] V.D. Nkamga, B. Henrissat, M. Drancourt, Archaea: Essential inhabitants of the human digestive microbiota, Human Microbiome Journal. 3 (2017) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humic.2016.11.005.
- B. Dridi, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Archaea as emerging organisms in complex human microbiomes, Anaerobe. 17 (2011) 56–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2011.03.001.
- [3] J.-L. Garcia, B.K.C. Patel, B. Ollivier, Taxonomic, Phylogenetic, and Ecological Diversity of Methanogenic Archaea, Anaerobe. 6 (2000) 205–226. https://doi.org/10.1006/anae.2000.0345.
- [4] A. Ferrari, T. Brusa, A. Rutili, E. Canzi, B. Biavati, Isolation and characterization ofMethanobrevibacter oralis sp. nov., Current Microbiology. 29 (1994) 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01570184.
- [5] M. Drancourt, K. Djemai, F. Gouriet, G. Grine, A. Loukil, M. Bedotto, A. Levasseur, H. Lepidi, J. Bou-Khalil, S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, Methanobrevibacter smithii archaemia in febrile patients with bacteremia, including those with endocarditis, Clinical Infectious Diseases. (2020) ciaa998. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa998.
- [6] A.H. Togo, G. Grine, S. Khelaifia, C. des Robert, V. Brevaut, A. Caputo, E. Baptiste, M. Bonnet, A. Levasseur, M. Drancourt, M. Million, D. Raoult, Culture of Methanogenic Archaea from Human Colostrum and Milk, Sci Rep. 9 (2019) 18653. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54759-x.
- [7] G. Grine, H. Drouet, F. Fenollar, F. Bretelle, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Detection of Methanobrevibacter smithii in vaginal samples collected from women diagnosed with bacterial vaginosis, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 38 (2019) 1643–1649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03592-1.
- [8] G. Grine, R. Lotte, D. Chirio, A. Chevalier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Coculture of Methanobrevibacter smithii with enterobacteria during urinary infection, EBioMedicine. 43 (2019) 333–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.04.037.
- [9] F. Carbonero, A.C. Benefiel, H.R. Gaskins, Contributions of the microbial hydrogen economy to colonic homeostasis, Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 9 (2012) 504–518. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2012.85.
- [10] B.S. Samuel, E.E. Hansen, J.K. Manchester, P.M. Coutinho, B. Henrissat, R. Fulton, P. Latreille, K. Kim, R.K. Wilson, J.I. Gordon, Genomic and metabolic adaptations of Methanobrevibacter smithii to the human gut, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 104 (2007) 10643–10648. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704189104.
- [11] P.P. Chaudhary, P.L. Conway, J. Schlundt, Methanogens in humans: potentially beneficial or harmful for health, Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 102 (2018) 3095–3104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8871-2.

- E. Sogodogo, O. Doumbo, G. Aboudharam, B. Kouriba, O. Diawara, H. Koita, S. Togora, M. Drancourt, First characterization of methanogens in oral cavity in Malian patients with oral cavity pathologies, BMC Oral Health. 19 (2019) 232. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-019-0929-8.
- [13] T. Nguyen-Hieu, S. Khelaifia, G. Aboudharam, M. Drancourt, Methanogenic archaea in subgingival sites: a review, APMIS. 121 (2013) 467–477. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.12015.
- [14] M. Faveri, L.F.H. Gonçalves, M. Feres, L.C. Figueiredo, L.A. Gouveia, J.A. Shibli, M.P.A. Mayer, Prevalence and microbiological diversity of Archaea in peri-implantitis subjects by 16S ribosomal RNA clonal analysis: Archaea in peri-implantitis subjects, Journal of Periodontal Research. 46 (2011) 338–344. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0765.2011.01347.x.
- [15] S. Belkacemi, A. Mazel, D. Tardivo, P. Tavitian, G. Stephan, G. Bianca, E. Terrer, M. Drancourt, G. Aboudharam, Peri-implantitis-associated methanogens: a preliminary report, Sci Rep. 8 (2018) 9447. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27862-8.
- P.W. Lepp, M.M. Brinig, C.C. Ouverney, K. Palm, G.C. Armitage, D.A. Relman, Methanogenic Archaea and human periodontal disease, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 101 (2004) 6176–6181. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308766101.
- [17] M.E. Vianna, G. Conrads, B.P.F.A. Gomes, H.P. Horz, Identification and Quantification of Archaea Involved in Primary Endodontic Infections, Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 44 (2006) 1274–1282. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.44.4.1274-1282.2006.
- [18] E.M. Kulik, H. Sandmeier, K. Hinni, J. Meyer, Identification of archaeal rDNA from subgingival dental plaque by PCR amplification and sequence analysis, FEMS Microbiology Letters. 196 (2001) 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2001.tb10553.x.
- [19] E. Sogodogo, M. Fellag, A. Loukil, V.D. Nkamga, J. Michel, P. Dessi, P.-E. Fournier, M. Drancourt, Nine Cases of Methanogenic Archaea in Refractory Sinusitis, an Emerging Clinical Entity, Front. Public Health. 7 (2019) 38. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00038.
- [20] N. Belay, B. Mukhopadhyay, E. Conway de Macario, R. Galask, L. Daniels, Methanogenic bacteria in human vaginal samples, J Clin Microbiol. 28 (1990) 1666– 1668. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.28.7.1666-1668.1990.
- [21] M. Drancourt, V.D. Nkamga, N.A. Lakhe, J.-M. Régis, H. Dufour, P.-E. Fournier, Y. Bechah, W. Michael Scheld, D. Raoult, Evidence of Archaeal Methanogens in Brain Abscess, Clinical Infectious Diseases. 65 (2017) 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix286.
- [22] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, P.-M. Roger, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, Methanobrevibacter smithii and Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron cultivated from a chronic paravertebral muscle abscess, Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 22 (2016) 1008–1009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2016.09.007.

- [23] V.D. Nkamga, R. Lotte, D. Chirio, M. Lonjon, P.-M. Roger, M. Drancourt, R. Ruimy, oralis Methanobrevibacter detected along with Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans in a series of community-acquired brain abscesses, Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 24 (2018)207-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2017.08.021.
- [24] K. Djemai, F. Gouriet, J.-N. Argenson, P. Seng, A. Stein, M. Drancourt, First Detection of Methanogens in Orthopedic Prosthesis Infection: A Four-Case Founding Series, Prosthesis. 4 (2022) 38–47. https://doi.org/10.3390/prosthesis4010005.
- [25] S. Khelaifia, A. Caputo, F. Djossou, D. Raoult, Draft genome sequence of a humanassociated isolate of Haloferax alexandrinus strain Arc-hr, an extremely halophilic archaea, New Microbes and New Infections. 15 (2017) 44–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmni.2016.11.012.
- [26] S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, Haloferax massiliensis sp. nov., the first human-associated halophilic archaea, New Microbes and New Infections. 12 (2016) 96–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmni.2016.05.007.
- [27] E. Sogodogo, M. Drancourt, G. Grine, Methanogens as emerging pathogens in anaerobic abscesses, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 38 (2019) 811–818. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03510-5.
- [28] P.M. Nottingham, R.E. Hungate, Isolation of methanogenic bacteria from feces of man, J Bacteriol. 96 (1968) 2178–2179. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.96.6.2178-2179.1968.
- [29] C. Bang, R.A. Schmitz, Archaea: forgotten players in the microbiome, Emerging Topics in Life Sciences. 2 (2018) 459–468. https://doi.org/10.1042/ETLS20180035.
- [30] A. Ruaud, S. Esquivel-Elizondo, J. de la Cuesta-Zuluaga, J.L. Waters, L.T. Angenent, N.D. Youngblut, R.E. Ley, Syntrophy via Interspecies H₂ Transfer between *Christensenella* and *Methanobrevibacter* Underlies Their Global Cooccurrence in the Human Gut, MBio. 11 (2020) e03235-19, /mbio/11/1/mBio.03235-19.atom. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.03235-19.
- [31] M. Coutinho, H.C. Gerstein, Y. Wang, S. Yusuf, The relationship between glucose and incident cardiovascular events. A metaregression analysis of published data from 20 studies of 95,783 individuals followed for 12.4 years, Diabetes Care. 22 (1999) 233–240. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.22.2.233.
- [32] Z. Lyu, N. Shao, T. Akinyemi, W.B. Whitman, Methanogenesis, Curr. Biol. 28 (2018) R727–R732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.021.
- [33] Y. Sereme, S. Mezouar, G. Grine, J.L. Mege, M. Drancourt, P. Corbeau, J. Vitte, Methanogenic Archaea: Emerging Partners in the Field of Allergic Diseases, Clinic Rev Allerg Immunol. 57 (2019) 456–466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-019-08766-5.
- [34] M. Million, M. Tidjani Alou, S. Khelaifia, D. Bachar, J.-C. Lagier, N. Dione, S. Brah, P. Hugon, V. Lombard, F. Armougom, J. Fromonot, C. Robert, C. Michelle, A. Diallo, A. Fabre, R. Guieu, C. Sokhna, B. Henrissat, P. Parola, D. Raoult, Increased Gut Redox

and Depletion of Anaerobic and Methanogenic Prokaryotes in Severe Acute Malnutrition, Sci Rep. 6 (2016) 26051. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26051.

- [35] P.D. Scanlan, F. Shanahan, J.R. Marchesi, Human methanogen diversity and incidence in healthy and diseased colonic groups using mcrA gene analysis, BMC Microbiol. 8 (2008) 79. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-79.
- [36] L.F. McKay, M.A. Eastwood, W.G. Brydon, Methane excretion in man--a study of breath, flatus, and faeces., Gut. 26 (1985) 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.26.1.69.
- [37] A. Attaluri, M. Jackson, J. Valestin, S.S. Rao, Methanogenic Flora Is Associated With Altered Colonic Transit but Not Stool Characteristics in Constipation Without IBS:, American Journal of Gastroenterology. 105 (2010) 1407–1411. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2009.655.
- [38] G.A. Weaver, J.A. Krause, T.L. Miller, M.J. Wolin, Incidence of methanogenic bacteria in a sigmoidoscopy population: an association of methanogenic bacteria and diverticulosis., Gut. 27 (1986) 698–704. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.27.6.698.
- [39] F. Sc, P. Cl, C. Hb, Breath methane production in children with constipation and encopresis., J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 10 (1990) 473-477. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005176-199005000-00010.
- [40]K. Triantafyllou, C. Chang, M. Pimentel, Methanogens, Methane and Gastrointestinal<br/>Motility, J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 20 (2014) 31–40.<br/>https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm.2014.20.1.31.
- [41] S. Chatterjee, S. Park, K. Low, Y. Kong, M. Pimentel, The Degree of Breath Methane Production in IBS Correlates With the Severity of Constipation, Am J Gastroenterology. 102 (2007) 837–841. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01072.x.
- [42] H. Zhang, J.K. DiBaise, A. Zuccolo, D. Kudrna, M. Braidotti, Y. Yu, P. Parameswaran, M.D. Crowell, R. Wing, B.E. Rittmann, R. Krajmalnik-Brown, Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 106 (2009) 2365–2370. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812600106.
- [43] M. Pimentel, Normalization of lactulose breath testing correlates with symptom improvement in irritable bowel syndrome a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study, The American Journal of Gastroenterology. 98 (2003) 412–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9270(02)05902-6.
- [44] C. Yazici, D.C. Arslan, R. Abraham, K. Cushing, A. Keshavarzian, E.A. Mutlu, Breath Methane Levels Are Increased Among Patients with Diverticulosis, Dig Dis Sci. 61 (2016) 2648–2654. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-016-4174-6.
- [45] J.M. Piqué, M. Pallarés, E. Cusó, J. Vilar-Bonet, M.A. Gassull, Methane production and colon cancer, Gastroenterology. 87 (1984) 601–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(84)90532-8.
- [46] K.-M. Lee, C.-N. Paik, W.C. Chung, J.-M. Yang, M.-G. Choi, Breath methane positivity is more common and higher in patients with objectively proven delayed transit constipation:, European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 25 (2013) 726– 732. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0b013e32835eb916.

- [47] P. Blais Lecours, D. Marsolais, Y. Cormier, M. Berberi, C. Haché, R. Bourdages, C. Duchaine, Increased Prevalence of Methanosphaera stadtmanae in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, PLoS ONE. 9 (2014) e87734. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087734.
- [48] C.A. Mbakwa, J. Penders, P.H. Savelkoul, C. Thijs, P.C. Dagnelie, M. Mommers, I.C.W. Arts, Gut colonization with *methanobrevibacter smithii* is associated with childhood weight development: Gut Archaea and Weight Development in Children, Obesity. 23 (2015) 2508–2516. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21266.
- [49] G. Kim, F. Deepinder, W. Morales, L. Hwang, S. Weitsman, C. Chang, R. Gunsalus, M. Pimentel, Methanobrevibacter smithii Is the Predominant Methanogen in Patients with Constipation-Predominant IBS and Methane on Breath, Dig Dis Sci. 57 (2012) 3213–3218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-012-2197-1.
- [50] D. Vandeputte, G. Falony, S. Vieira-Silva, R.Y. Tito, M. Joossens, J. Raes, Stool consistency is strongly associated with gut microbiota richness and composition, enterotypes and bacterial growth rates, Gut. 65 (2016) 57–62. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309618.
- [51] U.C. Ghoshal, D. Srivastava, A. Verma, A. Misra, Slow Transit Constipation Associated With Excess Methane Production and Its Improvement Following Rifaximin Therapy: A Case Report, J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 17 (2011) 185–188. https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm.2011.17.2.185.
- [52] M. Pimentel, A.G. Mayer, S. Park, E.J. Chow, A. Hasan, Y. Kong, Methane production during lactulose breath test is associated with gastrointestinal disease presentation, Dig Dis Sci. 48 (2003) 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021738515885.
- [53] J.-F. Brugère, G. Borrel, N. Gaci, W. Tottey, P.W. O'Toole, C. Malpuech-Brugère, Archaebiotics: Proposed therapeutic use of archaea to prevent trimethylaminuria and cardiovascular disease, Gut Microbes. 5 (2014) 5–10. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.26749.
- [54] S. Khelaifia, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, A Versatile Medium for Cultivating Methanogenic Archaea, PLoS ONE. 8 (2013) e61563. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061563.
- [55] S. Khelaifia, J.-C. Lagier, V.D. Nkamga, E. Guilhot, M. Drancourt, D. Raoult, Aerobic culture of methanogenic archaea without an external source of hydrogen, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 35 (2016) 985–991. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2627-7.
- [56] S.I. Traore, S. Khelaifia, N. Armstrong, J.C. Lagier, D. Raoult, Isolation and culture of Methanobrevibacter smithii by co-culture with hydrogen-producing bacteria on agar plates, Clin Microbiol Infect. 25 (2019) 1561.e1-1561.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2019.04.008.
- [57] C. Bearfield, E.S. Davenport, V. Sivapathasundaram, R.P. Allaker, Possible association between amniotic fluid micro-organism infection and microflora in the mouth, BJOG. 109 (2002) 527–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2002.01349.x.

- [58] J. Hitti, D.E. Riley, M.A. Krohn, S.L. Hillier, K.J. Agnew, J.N. Krieger, D.A. Eschenbach, Broad-Spectrum Bacterial rDNA Polymerase Chain Reaction Assay for Detecting Amniotic Fluid Infection Among Women in Premature Labor, CLIN INFECT DIS. 24 (1997) 1228–1232. https://doi.org/10.1086/513669.
- [59] K.J. Oh, S.E. Lee, H. Jung, G. Kim, R. Romero, B.H. Yoon, Detection of ureaplasmas by the polymerase chain reaction in the amniotic fluid of patients with cervical insufficiency, Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 38 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1515/jpm.2010.040.
- [60] E. Jiménez, L. Fernández, M.L. Marín, R. Martín, J.M. Odriozola, C. Nueno-Palop, A. Narbad, M. Olivares, J. Xaus, J.M. Rodríguez, Isolation of Commensal Bacteria from Umbilical Cord Blood of Healthy Neonates Born by Cesarean Section, Curr Microbiol. 51 (2005) 270–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-005-0020-3.
- [61] A.N. Ardissone, D.M. de la Cruz, A.G. Davis-Richardson, K.T. Rechcigl, N. Li, J.C. Drew, R. Murgas-Torrazza, R. Sharma, M.L. Hudak, E.W. Triplett, J. Neu, Meconium Microbiome Analysis Identifies Bacteria Correlated with Premature Birth, PLoS ONE. 9 (2014) e90784. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090784.
- [62] M.G. Dominguez-Bello, E.K. Costello, M. Contreras, M. Magris, G. Hidalgo, N. Fierer, R. Knight, Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 107 (2010) 11971–11975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1002601107.
- [63] M.J. Gosalbes, S. Llop, Y. Vallès, A. Moya, F. Ballester, M.P. Francino, Meconium microbiota types dominated by lactic acid or enteric bacteria are differentially associated with maternal eczema and respiratory problems in infants, Clin Exp Allergy. 43 (2013) 198–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.12063.
- [64] J. Hu, Y. Nomura, A. Bashir, H. Fernandez-Hernandez, S. Itzkowitz, Z. Pei, J. Stone, H. Loudon, I. Peter, Diversified Microbiota of Meconium Is Affected by Maternal Diabetes Status, PLoS ONE. 8 (2013) e78257. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078257.
- [65] E. Jiménez, M.L. Marín, R. Martín, J.M. Odriozola, M. Olivares, J. Xaus, L. Fernández,
  J.M. Rodríguez, Is meconium from healthy newborns actually sterile?, Research in
  Microbiology. 159 (2008) 187–193.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2007.12.007.
- [66] J.C. Madan, R.C. Salari, D. Saxena, L. Davidson, G.A. O'Toole, J.H. Moore, M.L. Sogin, J.A. Foster, W.H. Edwards, P. Palumbo, P.L. Hibberd, Gut microbial colonisation in premature neonates predicts neonatal sepsis, Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 97 (2012) F456–F462. https://doi.org/10.1136/fetalneonatal-2011-301373.
- [67] L. Moles, M. Gómez, H. Heilig, G. Bustos, S. Fuentes, W. de Vos, L. Fernández, J.M. Rodríguez, E. Jiménez, Bacterial Diversity in Meconium of Preterm Neonates and Evolution of Their Fecal Microbiota during the First Month of Life, PLoS ONE. 8 (2013) e66986. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066986.
- [68] M. Mshvildadze, J. Neu, J. Shuster, D. Theriaque, N. Li, V. Mai, Intestinal Microbial Ecology in Premature Infants Assessed with Non–Culture-Based Techniques, The

Journal of Pediatrics. 156 (2010) 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.06.063.

- [69] K. Aagaard, J. Ma, K.M. Antony, R. Ganu, J. Petrosino, J. Versalovic, The Placenta Harbors a Unique Microbiome, Science Translational Medicine. 6 (2014) 237ra65-237ra65. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3008599.
- [70] R. Satokari, T. Grönroos, K. Laitinen, S. Salminen, E. Isolauri, *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* DNA in the human placenta, Letters in Applied Microbiology. 48 (2009) 8–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2008.02475.x.
- [71] M.J. Stout, B. Conlon, M. Landeau, I. Lee, C. Bower, Q. Zhao, K.A. Roehl, D.M. Nelson, G.A. Macones, I.U. Mysorekar, Identification of intracellular bacteria in the basal plate of the human placenta in term and preterm gestations, American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 208 (2013) 226.e1-226.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2013.01.018.
- [72] S. Rautava, M.C. Collado, S. Salminen, E. Isolauri, Probiotics Modulate Host-Microbe Interaction in the Placenta and Fetal Gut: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial, Neonatology. 102 (2012) 178–184. https://doi.org/10.1159/000339182.
- [73] J.H. Steel, S. Malatos, N. Kennea, A.D. Edwards, L. Miles, P. Duggan, P.R. Reynolds, R.G. Feldman, M.H.F. Sullivan, Bacteria and Inflammatory Cells in Fetal Membranes Do Not Always Cause Preterm Labor, Pediatr Res. 57 (2005) 404–411. https://doi.org/10.1203/01.PDR.0000153869.96337.90.
- P.H. Janssen, M. Kirs, Structure of the Archaeal Community of the Rumen, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 3619–3625. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02812-07.
- [75] G.N. Jarvis, C. Strömpl, D.M. Burgess, L.C. Skillman, E.R.B. Moore, K.N. Joblin, Isolation and Identification of Ruminal Methanogens from Grazing Cattle, Current Microbiology. 40 (2000) 327–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002849910065.
- [76] T.L. Miller, M.J. Wolin, Methanogens in human and animal intestinal Tracts, Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 7 (1986) 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0723-2020(86)80010-8.
- [77] T.L. Miller, M.J. Wolin, H.X. Zhao, M.P. Bryant, Characteristics of methanogens isolated from bovine rumen., Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 51 (1986) 201–202. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.51.1.201-202.1986.
- [78] L.C. Skillman, P.N. Evans, C. Strömpl, K.N. Joblin, 16S rDNA directed PCR primers and detection of methanogens in the bovine rumen, Letters in Applied Microbiology. 42 (2006) 222–228. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01833.x.
- [79] Y. Luo, Y. Su, A.-D.G. Wright, L. Zhang, H. Smidt, W. Zhu, Lean Breed Landrace Pigs Harbor Fecal Methanogens at Higher Diversity and Density than Obese Breed Erhualian Pigs, Archaea. 2012 (2012) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/605289.
- [80] E. Hernandez-Sanabria, L.A. Goonewardene, Z. Wang, M. Zhou, S.S. Moore, L.L. Guan, Influence of Sire Breed on the Interplay among Rumen Microbial Populations

Inhabiting the Rumen Liquid of the Progeny in Beef Cattle, PLoS ONE. 8 (2013) e58461. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058461.

- [81] S. Rea, J.P. Bowman, S. Popovski, C. Pimm, A.-D.G. Wright, Methanobrevibacter millerae sp. nov. and Methanobrevibacter olleyae sp. nov., methanogens from the ovine and bovine rumen that can utilize formate for growth, International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 57 (2007) 450–456. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63984-0.
- [82] A.-D.G. Wright, A.J. Williams, B. Winder, C.T. Christophersen, S.L. Rodgers, K.D. Smith, Molecular Diversity of Rumen Methanogens from Sheep in Western Australia, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70 (2004) 1263–1270. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.3.1263-1270.2004.
- [83] J.-H. Lee, S. Kumar, G.-H. Lee, D.-H. Chang, M.-S. Rhee, M.-H. Yoon, B.-C. Kim, Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani sp. nov., isolated from the rumen of Korean native cattle, INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY MICROBIOLOGY. 63 (2013) 4196–4201. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.054056-0.
- [84] H.M. Tun, M.S. Brar, N. Khin, L. Jun, R.K.-H. Hui, S.E. Dowd, F.C.-C. Leung, Gene-centric metagenomics analysis of feline intestinal microbiome using 454 junior pyrosequencing, Journal of Microbiological Methods. 88 (2012) 369–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2012.01.001.
- [85] K.A. Beauchemin, E.M. Ungerfeld, R.J. Eckard, M. Wang, Review: Fifty years of research on rumen methanogenesis: lessons learned and future challenges for mitigation, Animal. 14 (2020) s2–s16. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731119003100.
- [86] H. Qin, H. Lang, H. Yang, Characterization of the methanogen community in a household anaerobic digester fed with swine manure in China, Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 97 (2013) 8163–8171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-4957-z.
- [87] S. Saengkerdsub, S.C. Ricke, Ecology and characteristics of methanogenic archaea in animals and humans, Critical Reviews in Microbiology. 40 (2014) 97–116. https://doi.org/10.3109/1040841X.2013.763220.
- [88] M.F. Whitford, R.M. Teather, R.J. Forster, Phylogenetic analysis of methanogens from the bovine rumen, BMC Microbiol. 1 (2001) 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-1-5.
- [89] P. Mukumba, Department of Physics, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa, G. Makaka, Department of Physics, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa, S. Mamphweli, Fort Hare Institute of Technology, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa, Anaerobic digestion of donkey dung for biogas production, S. Afr. J. Sci. Volume 112 (2016). https://doi.org/10.17159/sajs.2016/20160013.
- [90] J.A.A. van de Pol, N. van Best, C.A. Mbakwa, C. Thijs, P.H. Savelkoul, I.C.W. Arts, M.W. Hornef, M. Mommers, J. Penders, Gut Colonization by Methanogenic Archaea Is Associated with Organic Dairy Consumption in Children, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00355.
- [91] B. Dridi, M.-L. Fardeau, B. Ollivier, D. Raoult, M. Drancourt, Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from human

faeces, INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY MICROBIOLOGY. 62 (2012) 1902–1907. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.033712-0.

- [92] G. Grine, M.A. Boualam, M. Drancourt, Methanobrevibacter smithii, a methanogen consistently colonising the newborn stomach, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 36 (2017) 2449–2455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-017-3084-7.
- [93] A. Camara, S. Konate, M. Tidjani Alou, A. Kodio, A. Togo, S. Cortaredona, B. Henrissat, M. Thera, O. Doumbo, D. Raoult, M. Million, Clinical evidence of the role of Methanobrevibacter smithii in severe acute malnutrition, Scientific Reports. 11 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84641-8.
- [94] B.H. Chun, D.M. Han, K.H. Kim, S.E. Jeong, D. Park, C.O. Jeon, Genomic and metabolic features of Tetragenococcus halophilus as revealed by pan-genome and transcriptome analyses, Food Microbiology. 83 (2019) 36–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2019.04.009.
- [95] A. Justé, S. Van Trappen, C. Verreth, I. Cleenwerck, P. De Vos, B. Lievens, K.A. Willems, Characterization of Tetragenococcus strains from sugar thick juice reveals a novel species, Tetragenococcus osmophilus sp. nov., and divides Tetragenococcus halophilus into two subspecies, T. halophilus subsp. halophilus subsp. nov. and T. halophilus subsp. flandriensis subsp. nov., International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 62 (2012) 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.029157-0.
- [96]L. Guan, K.H. Cho, J.-H. Lee, Analysis of the cultivable bacterial community in jeotgal,<br/>a Korean salted and fermented seafood, and identification of its dominant bacteria,<br/>FoodFoodMicrobiology.28(2011)101–113.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2010.09.001.
- [97] S.H. Lee, J.Y. Jung, C.O. Jeon, Bacterial community dynamics and metabolite changes in myeolchi-aekjeot, a Korean traditional fermented fish sauce, during fermentation, International Journal of Food Microbiology. 203 (2015) 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.02.031.
- [98] N. Udomsil, S. Rodtong, S. Tanasupawat, J. Yongsawatdigul, Proteinase-producing halophilic lactic acid bacteria isolated from fish sauce fermentation and their ability to produce volatile compounds, International Journal of Food Microbiology. 141 (2010) 186–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.05.016.
- [99] D.-W. Jeong, S. Heo, J.-H. Lee, Safety assessment of Tetragenococcus halophilus isolates from doenjang, a Korean high-salt-fermented soybean paste, Food Microbiology. 62 (2017) 92–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.10.012.
- [100] J.Y. Jung, H.J. Lee, B.H. Chun, C.O. Jeon, Effects of Temperature on Bacterial Communities and Metabolites during Fermentation of Myeolchi-Aekjeot, a Traditional Korean Fermented Anchovy Sauce, PLOS ONE. 11 (2016) e0151351. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151351.
- [101] W.Y. Jung, J.Y. Jung, H.J. Lee, C.O. Jeon, Functional Characterization of Bacterial Communities Responsible for Fermentation of Doenjang: A Traditional Korean Fermented Soybean Paste, Frontiers in Microbiology. 7 (2016) 827. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00827.

- [102] S. Masuda, H. Yamaguchi, T. Kurokawa, T. Shirakami, R.F. Tsuji, I. Nishimura, Immunomodulatory effect of halophilic lactic acid bacterium Tetragenococcus halophilus Th221 from soy sauce moromi grown in high-salt medium, International Journal of Food Microbiology. 121 (2008) 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2007.10.011.
- [103] E. Ohata, S. Yoshida, T. Masuda, M. Kitagawa, T. Nakazawa, K. Yamazaki, H. Yasui, *Tetragenococcus halophilus* MN45 Ameliorates Development of Atopic Dermatitis in Atopic Dermatitis Model NC/Nga Mice, Food Science and Technology Research. 17 (2011) 537–544. https://doi.org/10.3136/fstr.17.537.
- [104] S. Chawanpaiboon, J.P. Vogel, A.-B. Moller, P. Lumbiganon, M. Petzold, D. Hogan, S. Landoulsi, N. Jampathong, K. Kongwattanakul, M. Laopaiboon, C. Lewis, S. Rattanakanokchai, D.N. Teng, J. Thinkhamrop, K. Watananirun, J. Zhang, W. Zhou, A.M. Gülmezoglu, Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis, The Lancet Global Health. 7 (2019) e37–e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30451-0.
- [105] C. Bang, K. Weidenbach, T. Gutsmann, H. Heine, R.A. Schmitz, The Intestinal Archaea Methanosphaera stadtmanae and Methanobrevibacter smithii Activate Human Dendritic Cells, PLoS ONE. 9 (2014) e99411. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099411.
- [106] E. Bernatchez, M.J. Gold, A. Langlois, P. Blais-Lecours, M. Boucher, C. Duchaine, D. Marsolais, K.M. McNagny, M.-R. Blanchet, *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* induces a type IV hypersensitivity response in a mouse model of airway inflammation, Physiol Rep. 5 (2017) e13163. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13163.

# Résumé

Les archaea méthanogènes (appelées méthanogènes dans ce document) sont les plus prévalentes parmi les archaea des microbiotes oral et digestif humains. Dans le microbiote digestif humain, les archaea méthanogènes ressortissent des genres *Methanobrevibacter* et *Methanomassiliicoccus*. Ces microorganismes consomment l'hydrogène issu des fermentations bactériennes anaérobies pour la production du méthane comme produit métabolique, d'où leur nom.

Les archaea méthanogènes sont présentes dans le microbiote humain dès la naissance avec une diversification au fil des années. Cependant, le répertoire complet, les sources et les dynamiques des méthanogènes restent méconnus chez l'Homme. Dans le cadre de cette Thèse, nous nous sommes intéressés à l'étude des sources et de la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes chez l'Homme. Dans une première partie, nous avons revu la littérature décrivant l'ensemble des rôles physiologiques des méthanogènes associés au microbiote humain. Notre revue a mis en évidence l'énorme déficit de connaissances et des informations partiellement contradictoires concernant les méthanogènes humains, ainsi que la nécessité d'étudier la dynamique des populations de méthanogènes et leur rôle exact au sein du microbiote humain. Dans la seconde partie de nos travaux de Thèse, nous avons optimisé et développé de nouveaux protocoles pour l'identification et la culture en routine des méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique dans le laboratoire de microbiologie clinique. Nos travaux expérimentaux ont eu pour résultat de réduire le temps d'isolement par culture et de sous-culture de Methanobrevibacter smithii et de Methanobrevibacter oralis, d'isoler par culture une nouvelle espèce de méthanogène que nous avons nommée Methanomassilia massiliensis à partir du fluide buccal et enfin, d'identifier les méthanogènes d'intérêt clinique par spectrométrie de masse MALDI-TOF- MS. Concernant la dynamique des méthanogènes chez l'Homme, nous avons montré par une approche polyphasique incluant la PCR-séquençage et les microscopies, que la période intra-utérine constitue le premier moment d'acquisition de Methanobrevibacter smithii avec la détection sans précédent de ce méthanogène dans le méconium de nouveau-nés prématurés. Également, nous avons ouvert la possibilité de transmission zoonotique des méthanogènes en montrant que les contacts étroits avec des animaux domestiques ainsi que la consommation du lait et des produits laitiers de certains animaux sont associés à la diversification des méthanogènes chez l'Homme.

Les résultats de notre Thèse constituent des avancées majeures dans la compréhension des sources et de la dynamique d'acquisition des méthanogènes du microbiote humain et invitent à développer un milieu biphasique standard pour l'isolement et la culture rapide des méthanogènes directement à partir des échantillons cliniques, permettant de poursuivre des investigations pour isoler par culture les méthanogènes détectés dans le méconium et dans les produits laitiers.

**Mots-clés**: Archaea, méthanogènes, Sources des méthanogènes, dynamique des méthanogènes, *Methanobrevibacter* smithii, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanomassilia massiliensis, microbiote humain, liquide buccal, méconium, produits laitiers, animaux domestiques, *Tetragenococcus halophilus*.

## Abstract

Methanogenic archaea (referred to as methanogens in this document) are the most prevalent archaea in human oral and digestive microbiota. In the human digestive microbiota, the methanogenic archaea belong to the genera *Methanobrevibacter* and *Methanomassiliicoccus*. These microorganisms consume hydrogen from anaerobic bacterial fermentations to produce methane as a metabolic product, hence their name.

Methanogenic archaea are present in the human microbiota from birth with diversification over the years. However, the complete repertoire, sources and dynamics of methanogens remain unknown in humans. In the framework of this thesis, we are interested in the study of the sources and the dynamics of methanogen acquisition in humans. In the first part, we reviewed the literature describing the physiological roles of methanogens associated with the human microbiota. Our review highlighted the huge knowledge gap and partially conflicting information regarding human methanogens, as well as the need to study the population dynamics of methanogens and their exact role within the human microbiota. In the second part of our thesis work, we optimized and developed new protocols for the routine identification and culture of methanogens of clinical interest in the clinical microbiology laboratory. Our experimental work resulted in reducing the time of isolation by culture and subculture of Methanobrevibacter smithii and Methanobrevibacter oralis, isolation by culture a new species of methanogen that we have named Methanomassilia massiliensis from oral fluid and finally, to identify methanogens of clinical interest by MALDI-TOF-MS mass spectrometry. Concerning the dynamics of methanogens in humans, we have shown by a polyphasic approach including PCR-sequencing and microscopies, that the intrauterine period constitutes the first moment of acquisition of Methanobrevibacter smithii with the unprecedented detection of this methanogen in the meconium of preterm newborns. Also, we opened the possibility of zoonotic transmission of methanogens by showing that close contact with domestic animals as well as the consumption of milk and dairy products from certain animals are associated with the diversification of methanogens in humans.

The results of our thesis constitute major advances in the understanding of the sources and the dynamics of methanogen acquisition in the human microbiota and invite the development of a standard biphasic medium for the isolation and rapid culture of methanogens directly from clinical samples, allowing further investigations to isolate by culture the methanogens detected in meconium and in dairy products.

**Keywords:** Archaea, methanogens, methanogen sources, methanogen dynamics, *Methanobrevibacter smithii, Methanobrevibacter oralis, Methanomassiliia massiliensis,* human microbiota, oral fluid, meconium, dairy products, domestic animals, *Tetragenococcushalophilus.*